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LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
2019 was a year of fundamental importance for our Group and marks the starting point in the creation 
of a unique platform in the food sector, which promises to be hugely exciting for those who want to join 
this ambitious project.

In addition to successfully completing the insti-
tutional placement on the STAR segment of the 
Mercato Telematico Azionario exchange managed 
by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. in October, and delivering 
exceptional results in Italy and Germany, last year 
saw the foundations for future growth being laid.

Encouraged by its results, the Group has commit-
ted to future acquisitions that – in the short to 
medium term – will further strengthen the busi-
ness in the years to come.

The Group currently has an organic growth of 
around 1-2% and an annual turnover – up sharply 
compared with the previous year, mainly due to 
the acquisition of Delverde Industrie Alimentari 
S.p.A. in April 2019 - of approximately €321 mil-
lion, of which 53% was generated by the Italian 
market and 29% by the German market. 

EBIT was €14.1 million, an increase of 44% on the 
previous year, and the EBITDA margin was 8.8%, 
versus 7.9% in 2018.

The pasta and milk businesses accounted for 63% of the Group’s total turnover, while the bakery, dairy 
and special products segments delivered an EBITDA margin of over 10%, which is also an improvement 
on the previous year’s figure.

These excellent operating results allowed the Company to achieve a pre-tax profit of €12.7 million and 
generated cash flows that made it possible to record a positive net financial position of €66 million at 
31 December 2019, excluding the effect of lease liabilities, which improved compared with situation at 
the half-year.

Finally, there was also a positive contribution from the mergers by incorporation of Centrale del Latte 
di Salerno S.p.A. and Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A., which reduced fixed overheads and made the 
structure of the Group and the Company more streamlined and more flexible with a view to facilitating 
future acquisitions

Angelo Mastrolia - Executive Chairman Newlat Food SpA
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INTRODUCTION TO THE REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
During 2019, Newlat Food SpA (hereinafter also the “Company” or “Newlat” or, together with the subsi-
diaries, the “Group” or the “Newlat Group”) successfully concluded the operation to list its own shares 
on the STAR segment of the Mercato Telematico Azionario (“MTA”) organised and managed by Borsa 
Italiana. Financial disclosure to the public was provided during the aforementioned listing process con-
sidering Newlat Food as an “issuer with a complex financial history”, pursuant to article 18 of Commission 
Delegated Regulation 2019/980.

Therefore, in order to represent the assets and liabilities, results and cash flows for the periods under 
review in this Report on Operations, it was necessary to include aggregated financial information.

In this document, in order to provide a link with the aggregated accounting data for 2016, 2017 and 
2018 and for the first half of 2019 reported in the Registration Document, the aggregated consolidated 
data (reflecting 12 months of operations of the German subsidiary Newlat GmbH, acquired on 29 Octo-
ber 2019 and therefore consolidated only for the last two months in the consolidated income statement 
at 31 December 2019) and the proforma data (reflecting 12 months of operations of the subsidiary 
Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A., acquired on 9 April 2019 and therefore consolidated only for the 
last nine months in the income statements of the separate and consolidated financial statements at 
31 December 2019) have also been prepared and attached to the Report on Operations. The Combined 
Consolidated Financial Statements therefore derive from:

(i)	 the consolidated financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Re-
porting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and endor-
sed by the European Union, of Newlat Food S.p.A. for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, 
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. ;

(ii)	 the Newlat GmbH (hereinafter “Newlat GmbH Deutschland”) accounting data prepared according 
to IFRSs for the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018 and audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
GmbH for the year ending 31 December 2019 and by PKF GmbH for the year ending 31 December 2018.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
Below is a graphical representation of the companies belonging to the Newlat Group at 31 December 
2019:

The structure of the Group at 31 December 2019 differs from that at 31 December 2018 due to the mergers 
that took place during the year of the wholly owned subsidiaries Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. (he-
reinafter also referred to as “Centrale del Latte”) and Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. (hereinafter also 
referred to as “Delverde”) and due to the purchase of 100% of the stake in Newlat GmbH, previously held 
by Newlat Group SA, on 29 October 2019 following the admission to trading on the MTA STAR segment, 
as described in more detail under “Significant events of the year”. In particular, on 6 September 2019, the 
administrative bodies of Newlat Food, Delverde and Centrale del Latte approved, respectively, the proposed 
merger by incorporation of Delverde and Centrale del Latte into Newlat Food S.p.A. pursuant to Article 2505 
(merger of a wholly owned subsidiary) of the Italian Civil Code (the “Mergers”). Extraordinary meetings of 
shareholders of Delverde, Centrale del Latte and Newlat Food S.p.A. were held on 17 September 2019, ap-
proving the aforementioned Mergers.

The primary reasons for these Mergers were to reduce overheads and make the structure of the Group and 
the Company more streamlined and more flexible with a view to facilitating future acquisitions. The accoun-
ting and tax effects of the merger by incorporation of Centrale del Latte start from 1 January 2019, while 
those of Delverde start from 9 April 2019.

In addition, the Group’s structure at 31 December 2019 differs from that contained in the Registration Docu-
ment only because of the merger operations described above.

The table below shows the main information regarding the Subsidiaries of Newlat:

100%
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A table summarising the carrying amount of each subsidiary recorded in the Company’s separate finan-
cial statements at 31 December 2019 and the equity and profit/loss data for each subsidiary is also 
provided below:

The subsidiary’s financial statements and those of the merged companies have been audited.

Below is a brief description of the activity carried out by the Parent Company’s subsidiary and by the 
merged companies:

• Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A.: a company specialising in the production and sale of fresh 
and UHT milk, fresh and UHT cream, yoghurt and different types of butter and cheese.

• Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A.: a company active in the production and sale of pasta, in-
cluding organic pasta, wholemeal pasta, long and short pasta, pasta nests and premium lasagne.

• Newlat GmbH Deutschland: a company active in the production and sale in Germany of tra-
ditional forms of German pasta such as spätzle and flavoured pasta, instant cups and sauces.
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COMPANY BODIES
Pursuant to article 12 of the new articles of association, Newlat Food S.p.A. is managed by a Board of 
Directors with no fewer than 3 members and no more than 15. The Shareholders’ Meeting shall deter-
mine the number of Board members from time to time, before their appointment. The directors remain 
in office for the period set by the shareholders’ appointment resolution, up to a maximum of three fi-
nancial years, and are eligible for re-election. Their term shall expire on the date of the Shareholders’ 
Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the last financial year of their term, unless there 
are grounds for termination and forfeiture as provided for by law and by the new articles of association.

On 8 July 2019, the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting resolved:

(i) to appoint a Board of Directors consisting of:
	 a. four members in office with immediate effect; and
	 b. 3 three members, who fulfil the independence requirements, in office from the trading start 
date (29 October 2019).

The following table displays the composition of the Board of Directors:
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The members of the Board of Statutory Auditors are as follows:

Control and Risks Committee

Remuneration and Appointments Committee

Related Party Transactions Committee
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Organismo di Vigilanza ex D. Lgs. 231/01

Rocco Sergi is the Financial Reporting Officer.

PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. is the independent auditor appointed for the years 2019-2027.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Corporate governance is the set of rules, systems and mechanisms designed to effectively implement 
the organisation’s decision-making processes in the interest of all Group stakeholders. The parent com-
pany Newlat Food S.p.A. complies with the Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies, which was 
last updated in July 2018. A traditional governance system is in place which includes three structures: 
the Shareholders’ Meeting, the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is the body charged with administering the company using the powers allocated 
to it by law and by the Articles of Association. It is structured and operates to ensure that its functions 
are performed efficiently and effectively. Directors act and make decisions to create value for sharehol-
ders, and they report on operations during the Shareholders’ Meeting. With regard to appointing and re-
placing the entire Board of Directors and/or some of its members, the Company’s Articles of Association 
require board members to be elected on the basis of candidate lists in accordance with the methods 
outlined in more detail in the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership Structure (attached to 
this document) and in compliance with existing legislation on gender representation. On 8 July 2019, 
the Shareholders’ Meeting appointed a four-person Board of Directors, increased to seven when the 
Company’s shares began trading on the MTA, which will remain in office until the 2021 financial state-
ments are approved.

Board of Directors committees

The Board of Directors has no internal committees other than those required by the Corporate Gover-
nance Code, with the exception of the Related Party Transactions Committee, in order to comply with 
the provisions of the Related Parties Regulation.
The Company has not set up any committees that carry out the functions of two or more of the commit-
tees set out in the Corporate Governance Code, nor has it reserved these functions for the entire Board 
of Directors, under the coordination of the Chairman, or divided them differently to the way set out in 
the Corporate Governance Code.
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The Board of Directors’ internal committees are as follows:
• The Control and Risks Committee helps the Board of Directors to assess and make decisions 
regarding the Internal Control and Risk Management System, the approval of annual and hal-
f-year financial statements and relations between the Company and the independent auditor, 
where support is provided in the form of an adequate investigative phase. For this purpose, the 
Committee has three members with sufficient financial and accounting experience: Valentina 
Montanari, as Chairman, Emanuela Paola Banfi and Eric Sandrin, all of whom are non-executive 
and independent directors.

• The Remuneration and Appointments Committee plays an advisory and recommendatory role, 
with investigative functions, in the assessments and decisions relating to the composition of 
the Board of Directors and to the remuneration of directors and managers with strategic re-
sponsibilities, overseeing their application and making general recommendations on the matter. 
The Remuneration Committee is composed of three members, all of whom are non-executive 
and independent directors. All members have suitable financial and accounting experience and 
knowledge. With regard to determining remuneration for board members, the Shareholders’ 
Meeting allots a salary for the duration of the mandate which may consist of a fixed portion 
and a variable portion commensurate with the achievement of certain targets and/or with the 
Company’s financial results. To be able to list on the STAR segment, exchange regulations re-
quire the Remuneration Committee to ensure that a significant share of the pay for executive 
directors and senior managers be incentive-linked.
Please see the report on remuneration published in accordance with article 123-ter of the 
Consolidated Law on Finance (TUF) for information on the general remuneration policy and the 
remuneration of executive directors, managers with strategic responsibilities and non-executi-
ve directors. For this purpose, the Committee has three members with sufficient financial and 
accounting experience: Eric Sandrin, as Chairman, Emanuela Paola Banfi and Valentina Monta-
nari, all of whom are non-executive and independent directors.

• The Related Party Transactions Committee (hereinafter also the “RPT Committee”) is respon-
sible for ensuring the integrity of transactions with related parties by giving an opinion on the 
Company’s interest in completing a specific transaction, as well as on the suitability and fair-
ness of the corresponding conditions. This Committee is composed of the three non-executive 
and independent Directors: Emanuela Paola Banfi, as Chairman, Valentina Montanari and Eric 
Sandrin.

Board of Statutory Auditors

Members of the Board of Auditors are selected on the basis of their ability to meet requirements of pro-
fessionalism, independence and integrity in accordance with legislation and regulations. The Company’s 
Board of Statutory Auditors was appointed during the Shareholders’ Meeting on 8 July 2019 and will 
remain in office until the approval of the 2021 financial statements.

Internal Control and Risk Management System

The Internal Control and Risk Management System (ICRMS) is the set of rules, procedures and organisa-
tional structures designed to enable the Company to conduct its business correctly and in line with set 
objectives, using a suitable process for identifying, measuring, managing and monitoring the main risks. 
The Board of Directors identified the nature and level of risk compatible with the Company’s strategic 
objectives when it drew up its strategic, industrial and financial plans. This assessment included all and 
any risks that may become significant in terms of sustaining the Company’s activities in the medium to 
long term. In support of the ICRMS and the Control and Risks Committee, on 8 July 2019 the Board of 
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Directors appointed Angelo Mastrolia as the director responsible for the ICRMS who will perform the 
functions listed in point 7.C.4. of the Corporate Governance Code. With the help of the Control and Risks 
Committee, the Board of Directors has also drawn up guidelines for the ICRMS, identifying the system 
itself as a cross-sectional process integral to all business activities and based on the international prin-
ciples of Enterprise Risk Management (ERM).
The purpose of the ICRMS is to help the Group achieve its performance and profit objectives, obtain 
reliable economic and financial information and ensure compliance with existing laws and regulations, 
while shielding the Company from reputational damage and financial loss. In this process, particular 
importance is given to identifying corporate objectives and classifying and controlling related risks by 
implementing specific containment actions.
There are various types of potential business risks - strategic, operational (related to the effectiveness 
and efficiency of business operations), reporting (related to the reliability of economic/financial infor-
mation), compliance (related to compliance with existing legislation and regulations to avoid damage 
to the company’s reputation and/or financial losses). In view of this, the Internal Audit Department ve-
rifies the suitability of the ICRMS through an audit schedule that is approved by the Board of Directors 
and makes provision for regular reports containing sufficient information on the performance of its 
activities, as well as timely reports on events of particular importance.
The Board of Directors annually assesses the effectiveness of the ICRMS and its suitability in view of 
the characteristics of the business based on information and evidence received with the support of the 
investigative activities performed by the Control and Risks Committee, the Head of Internal Audit and 
the Supervisory Board pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001.

The Board of Directors annually assesses the effectiveness of the ICRMS and its suitability in view of 
the characteristics of the business based on information and evidence received with the support of the 
investigative activities performed by the Control and Risks Committee, the Head of Internal Audit and 
the Supervisory Board pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001.

Model 231, Code of Ethics and Anti-Corruption

The Newlat Food S.p.A. Board of Directors approved its “Organisation, Management and Control Model” 
pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001 (hereinafter also “Model 231”) on 30 March 2016, updating 
it most recently on 9 August 2019. The Model was drawn up on the basis of guidelines issued by Con-
findustria (the Italian industry confederation) in accordance with the relevant legislation, and sets out 
standards for behaviour, procedures and control activities, in addition to powers and mandates designed 
to prevent the offences outlined in Legislative Decree 231/2001.
The Model 231 was published and communicated to all personnel, third-party contractors, customers, 
suppliers and partners.
No reports of non-compliant behaviour or violations of the Code of Ethics were received during the year.
In order to ensure that the Model is correctly implemented, a Supervisory Board (SB) has been establi-
shed, currently comprising Massimo Carlomagno, as Chairman, and Ester Sammartino.
The SB sends the Board of Directors a written report every six months on how the Model 231 is being 
implemented and disseminated within each Company department. The implementation of adequate 
regular and/or sporadic information flows to the SB is another important tool helping it to fulfil its legal 
monitoring responsibilities and ensuring that the Model serves its purpose of preventing liability.
No breaches of the Model or irregularities have emerged after examining the information received from 
managers of the various areas of the Company, and no acts or conduct have come to light that constitute 
an infringement of the provisions of Legislative Decree 231/2001.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR

Significant events during the year under review are illustrated below:

• On 9 April 2019, Newlat entered into a contract with Molinos del Plata S.L.U. and Molinos Rio 
de la Plata S.A. to buy and sell shares representing the entire share capital of Delverde Indu-
strie Alimentari S.p.A.;

• On 27 June 2019, the Shareholders’ Meeting of Newlat Food SpA resolved to approve the 
separate financial statements, to examine the 2018 consolidated financial statements and to 
allocate the €3,113,716 profit for the year to the Statutory Reserve (5%) and to the Extraordi-
nary Reserve (95%);

• On 6 September 2019, the administrative bodies of Newlat Food, Delverde and Centrale del 
Latte approved, respectively, the proposed merger by incorporation of Delverde and Centrale 
del Latte into Newlat Food S.p.A. pursuant to article 2505 (merger of a wholly owned subsidiary) 
of the Italian Civil Code (the “Mergers”);

• Extraordinary meetings of shareholders of Delverde, Centrale del Latte and Newlat Food 
S.p.A. were held on 17 September 2019, approving the aforementioned Mergers;

• On 25 October 2019, Borsa Italiana confirmed that the Shares were sufficiently distributed 
and arranged that they commence trading on the STAR segment of the MTA on Tuesday, 29 
October 2019;

• The Company successfully completed the institutional placement of 12,700,000 shares on 28 
October 2019 and was admitted to trading on the STAR segment of the MTA on 29 October;

• On 29 October 2019, the transfer of shares in Newlat GmbH Deutschland from the parent com-
pany Newlat Group SA to Newlat Food S.p.A. was completed. The provisional fee was €55,000 
thousand. The price adjustment was fixed within 50 days of the date of admission to trading on 
the STAR segment of the MTA;

• On 28 November 2019, the so-called “greenshoe option” for 1,080,482 newly subscribed sha-
res was partially exercised by shareholders;

• On 2 December 2019, in application and under the terms of the contractual agreements, the 
parties established the additional price for the transfer of Newlat GmbH shares at €13,324 
thousand.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND FINANCIAL MARKETS
The Newlat Group maintains a constant dialogue with its shareholders through responsible and tran-
sparent communication carried out by the Investor Relations department, with the aim of facilitating 
an understanding of the Company’s situation, outlook, Group strategies and the prospects for the refe-
rence market. This department is also tasked with organising presentations, events and roadshows that 
enable a direct relationship to be established between the financial community and the Group’s senior 
management. For further information, and to consult the economic and financial data, corporate presen-
tations, periodic publications, official press releases and updates on the share price, visit the Investor 
Relations section of www.newlat.com.

The following is a graphical representation of the performance of Newlat Food stock over the period 29 
October 2019 – 31 December 2019:

During the period in question, the official Newlat Food share price increased by 4.13% from €5.80 to 
€6.04.

The market capitalisation at 31 December 2019 was €246,314,111.

All shares issued were fully paid up.

REPORT ON OPERATIONS
The Newlat Group is an important player in the Italian and European agri-food sector. In particular, the 
Group has a strong position in its domestic market and a significant presence in the German market.

The Newlat Group is mainly active in the pasta, dairy and baked goods sectors, as well in special pro-
ducts such as health & wellness, gluten free and baby food. The Newlat Group’s product range is divided 
into the following business units:
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• Pasta;

• Milk Products;

• Dairy Products;

• Bakery Products;

• Special Products; and

• Other Products

The Milk Products and Dairy Products market

The previous year’s decline in the consumption of milk and milk-based products continued in 2019, 
particularly in the more traditional segments of pasteurised and UHT milk. The butter market recovered 
from the previous period, mainly due to the gradual change in consumer habits. The mascarpone market 
also suffered a slight decline.

The Pasta and Bakery Products market

Against a background of increasing global consumption of pasta, the pasta market in Italy showed a 
moderate decrease during the period under review, in relation to both dry pasta and fresh pasta. The 
bakery market also declined slightly, particularly rusks.
The already strong German market grew in 2018 by 1.8% in sales volumes and 2.0% in value.

Commodity prices

Manufacturing the Group’s products requires a large number and variety of raw and semi-finished ma-
terials including, but not limited to, milk, durum wheat semolina, common wheat flour, eggs and packa-
ging materials.

The raw materials costs for milk and cream varied over the course of the year, with an overall decrease 
compared with the previous year.

The price of common wheat and durum wheat was broadly stable, as in recent years, registering a ne-
gligible increase.

Costs for purchases of raw materials and finished products decreased by €422 thousand from €154,626 
thousand for the year ended 31 December 2018 to €154,204 thousand for the year ended 31 December 
2019, despite the contribution of the acquired company Delverde. Costs for purchases of raw materials 
and finished products amounted to 48.1% and 50.6% of revenues respectively for the years ended 31 
December 2019 and 2018, contributing in part to the greater margin recorded in 2019 than in the pre-
vious year. The following table contains the income statement of the Group’s combined consolidated 
financial statements:
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The following is a brief commentary on the most significant changes to the main income statement 
items that occurred in the years under review.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers contains the contractual fees to which the Group is entitled 
in exchange for the transfer of the promised goods or services to customers. The contractual fees may 
include fixed or variable amounts or both and are recognised net of rebates, discounts and promo-
tions, such as contributions to the mass distribution channel. In particular, in the context of existing 
contractual relations with mass distribution operators, Newlat is expected to recognise contributions 
as year-end bonuses linked to the achievement of certain turnover volumes or amounts related to the 
positioning of products.
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SEGMENT REPORTING

The following table provides a breakdown of revenue from contracts with customers by business unit 
as monitored by management.

Revenues relating to the Pasta segment increased in the periods under review due to the contribution 
of Delverde, net of which they would have broadly the same as the previous year.

Revenues relating to the Milk Products segment declined as a result of a decrease in the average sales 
price thanks to an improved procurement policy.

Revenues relating to the Bakery Products segment were broadly unchanged during the periods under 
review.

Revenues from the Dairy Products segment increased as a result of a rise in sales volumes.

Revenues related to the Special Products segment increased mainly due to the renegotiation of price 
lists with Kraft-Heinz, as well as to the acquisition of new customers.

Revenues relating to the Other Products segment were broadly unchanged during the periods under 
review.

The following table provides a breakdown of revenue from contracts with customers by distribution 
channels as monitored by management.
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Revenues related to the Mass Distribution channel increased in the periods under review due to the 
contribution of Delverde, net of which they would have broadly the same as the previous year.

Revenues related to the B2B partners channel increased due to the combined effect of lower Pasta 
segment sales and higher Special Products segment sales. The B2B partners channel’s contribution to 
revenues remains substantially unchanged.

Revenues related to the Normal trade channel increased mainly due to the contribution of Delverde.

Revenues related to the Private label channel increased as a result of higher sales volumes.

Revenues related to the Food services channel increased as a result of Delverde’s contribution.

The following table provides a breakdown of revenue from contracts with customers by geographical 
area as monitored by management.

Revenues from Italy have increased mainly due to Delverde’s contribution.

Revenues from Germany increased as a result of higher volumes in the Dairy sector.

Revenues from other countries were broadly in line during the periods under review, with the increase 
in absolute values due to Delverde’s contribution.

Gross operating result and operating result

The increase in gross operating profit in the periods under review was attributable to higher revenues 
from contracts with customers that would have occurred at constant structure, although the effect of 
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lower raw materials costs was greater.

The increase in ROS (return on sales) was attributable to an increase in operating profit, due mainly to 
an improvement in the procurement process.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the ROS for the periods under review:

ROI (return on investment) increased mainly (i) as a result of a substantial improvement in operating 
profit (EBIT) and (ii) as a result of a lower net working capital due to the collection in 2019 of €10,000 
thousand of receivables from the associate New Property.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the ROI for the periods under review.

EBITDA

The following table provides a reconciliation of EBITDA, the EBITDA margin and cash conversion at 31 
December 2019 and 2018:



22
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

To assess performance, the Company’s management monitors, among other things, EBITDA by business 
unit as shown in the following table:

EBITDA from the Pasta segment was broadly in line with the previous year.

EBITDA from the Milk Products segment increased mainly as a result of a marked improvement in the 
supply chain.

EBITDA from the Bakery Products segment increased mainly due to the combination of (i) the increase 
in sales volumes with higher margins and (ii) the reduction in the cost of purchasing raw materials.

EBITDA from the Dairy Products segment increased mainly due to the increase in sales volumes with 
higher margins, particularly mascarpone.

EBITDA from the Special Products segment increased mainly due to the increase in sales volumes and 
the renegotiation of some existing contracts.

EBITDA from the Other Products segment was broadly in line with the previous year.

Standardised EBITDA

The Group’s management monitors performance through, among other things, the Standardised EBIT-
DA, defined as the EBITDA of the period adjusted for income and expenses that, by their nature, are rea-
sonably expected not to recur in future periods. In this regard, it should be noted that the Standardised 
EBITDA has not been adjusted for prior-year releases of a previous risk provision relating to the Ozzano 
Taro plant.
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The Group’s Standardised EBITDA increased by €3,832 thousand (+15.4%). This change is attributable, in 
addition to the EBITDA trend, to the €265,000 decrease in non-recurring charges.

The following table provides standardised EBITDA by business unit at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Net profit/loss

The table below provides a reconciliation of the ROE at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The significant increase in ROE related mainly to the increase in net profit (+73.2%).

Report on the performance and results of the Group’s activities

To assess the Group’s performance, management monitors, among other things, the alternative perfor-
mance indicators pertaining to assets and liabilities, results and cash flows, which are summarised in 
the following tables and explained further in the paragraphs below.:
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The following table shows the reclassified statement for “Sources and uses” of the combined consolida-
ted statement of financial position and statement of cash flows at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

The decrease in the Group’s net invested capital recorded at 31 December 2019 compared with 31 De-
cember 2018, amounting to €6,967 thousand, was attributable to a combination of greater net non-cur-
rent assets (€1,452 thousand), deriving mainly from the consolidation of Delverde following the ac-
quisition, which was more than offset by a €8,419 thousand reduction in net working capital, mainly 
attributable to the collection of a €10,000 thousand receivable from New Property S.p.A. as an adjust-
ment resulting from the real estate spin-off operation in 2017.
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The changes that affected shareholders’ equity for the year ended 31 December 2019 related to the 
following effects:

• the distribution of shareholders’ equity in favour of the shareholder Newlat Group S.A., resul-
ting from the payment of €58,324 thousand for the acquisition of Newlat GmbH, against the 
consolidation of the company from 1 January 2019 as part of the preparation of the combined 
consolidated financial statements, consistent with the accounting treatment of transactions 
between related parties under common control;

• the fee for the institutional placement of the shares net of the costs of listing and the related 
tax benefit for a total amount of €76,265 thousand;

• the recognition of the total net profit for the period, in the amount of €10,311 thousand;

• other minor changes in the amount of €249 thousand.

Net financial debt

The following is a detailed statement of the Group’s net financial debt at 31 December 2019 and 31 
December 2018 determined in accordance with CONSOB Communication DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006 
and in compliance with Recommendations ESMA/2013/319:
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The change in net financial debt at 31 December 2019 compared with 31 December 2018, totalling 
€34,972 thousand, is mainly due to: (i) the reduction of €58,324 thousand in the Group’s liquidity, 
caused by the payment of the remaining portion of the fee due to Newlat Group for the acquisition 
of Newlat Deutschland GmbH, (ii) the acquisition of Delverde for €3,775 thousand, (iii) the increase in 
liquidity caused by the institutional placement operation for a total of €74,494, and (iv) the generation 
of cash from operating activities.

At 31 December 2019, without considering lease liabilities, net financial debt was as follows:

The following table shows some of the Group’s solvency indicators at 31 December 2019 and 2018:
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INVESTMENTS
The following table provides a breakdown of the Group’s investments in property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets in the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018:

During the reporting period, the Group made investments totalling €4,659 thousand.

The Group’s investment policy is aimed at innovation and diversification in terms of product supply. In 
particular, the Group attaches importance to the development of new products, with the aim of conti-
nuously improving customer satisfaction.

Investments in property, plant and equipment relate mainly to purchases of plant and machinery, mostly 
in connection with projects for updating and renovating production and packaging lines.

Investments in intangible assets relate mainly to the purchase and updating of software.

The following table provides a breakdown by business unit of the Group’s investments in property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets at 31 December 2019 and 2018.:
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Investments in the Milk Products business unit mainly relate to the efficiency of production facilities at 
the Reggio Emilia plant.

Investments in the Special Products business unit relate mainly to new software and packaging systems.

Investments in the Pasta business unit relate mainly to the new packaging facility for pasta products, 
located at the Sansepolcro (AR) plant.

Investments in the Bakery Products business unit mainly relate to the new packaging facility for baked 
products, located at the Sansepolcro (AR) plant.

OTHER INFORMATION

Policy for analysing and managing risks connected with the activities of the Group

This section provides information on exposure to risks connected with the activities of the Group as well 
as the objectives, policies and processes for managing such risks and the methods used to asses and to 
mitigate them. The guidelines for the Group’s ICRMS, defined by the Board of Directors, identify the inter-
nal control system as a cross-sectional process integral to all business activities. The purpose of the ICRMS 
is to help the Group achieve its performance and profit objectives, obtain reliable economic and financial 
information and ensure compliance with existing laws and regulations, while shielding the Company 
from reputational damage and financial loss. In this process, particular importance is given to identi-
fying corporate objectives, classifying (based on combined assessments regarding the probability and the 
potential impact) and controlling related risks by implementing specific containment actions. There are 
various types of potential business risks: strategic, operational (related to the effectiveness and efficiency 
of business operations), reporting (related to the reliability of economic-financial information), compliance 
(related to the observance of the laws and regulations in force, to avoid the company suffering damage to 
its image or and/or economic losses) and, lastly, financial. Those in charge of the various company depart-
ments identify and assess the risks within their jurisdiction, whether these originate within or outside the 
Group, and identify actions to limit and reduce them (so-called “first-line control”).

On top of this come the activities of the Financial Reporting Officer and their staff (so-called “second-level 
control”) and of the Head of Internal Audit (so-called “third-level control”), who continually monitors the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the ICRMS through risk assessment, audit and follow-up activities.

The results of the risk identification procedures are reported and discussed to and discussed by the Group’s 
senior management so that they can be covered and insured and the residual risk can be evaluated.

The following paragraphs describe the risks considered to be significant and connected with the activities 
of the Group (the order in which they are listed does not imply any classification, in terms of either proba-
bility of occurrence or possible impact):
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STRATEGIC RISKS

Risks relating to the macroeconomic and sector situation

The activity of the Group is influenced by the general conditions of the economy in the various markets 
where it operates. A period of economic crisis, with a consequent slow-down in consumption, can have a 
negative impact on the sales trends of the Group. The current macroeconomic context causes significant 
uncertainty regarding forecasts, with the resulting risk that reduced performance could impact margins 
in the short term. The Group pursues its aim of increasing its industrial efficiency and improving its 
production capacity while reducing overheads.

Risks connected with the external growth strategy

The Group has so far based its growth strategy on acquisitions of other companies, businesses or bu-
siness units, and the plan is to continue this external growth strategy. The Group is therefore exposed 
to the risk of not being able to identify suitable companies or businesses in the future in order to feed 
its external growth strategy, or of not having the financial resources necessary to acquire the identi-
fied entities. The Group is also exposed to the risk that its past or future acquisitions will bring about 
unexpected costs and/or liabilities that prevent it from achieving its objectives.

OPERATING RISKS

Risks related to the high level of competitiveness of the sector

The food & beverage market in which the Group operates is characterised by a particularly significant 
level of competition, competitiveness and dynamism. This market is characterised in particular by (i) 
increasing competitiveness of companies that produce so-called private label products with prices lower 
than those charged by the Group; (ii) increasing prevalence of online sales (where the Group is starting 
to have a presence) resulting in a decrease in product prices, especially in the mass distribution channel, 
through which the Group generates a significant percentage of its revenues, namely 62.5% on an aggre-
gate basis at 31 December 2019; (iii) frequent promotional campaigns over time and with significant 
discounts; (iv) consolidation of existing operators (through M&As), especially in the mass distribution 
channel. The Group pursues its aim of increasing its industrial efficiency and improving its production 
capacity while reducing overheads and being competitive in its reference markets. Moreover, thanks to 
the presence of some “unique” products, the Group is able to face any level of competition.

FINANCIAL RISKS

Management of financial risks

The main business risks identified, monitored and, as specified below, actively managed by the Group 
are as follows:

• market risk, arising from the fluctuation of interest rates and of exchange rates between the 
euro and the other currencies in which the Group operates;

• credit risk, arising from the possibility of counterparty default;
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• liquidity risk, arising from a lack of financial resources to meet commitments.

The Group’s objective is to manage its financial exposure over time so that liabilities are balanced with 
assets on the statement of financial position and that the necessary operational flexibility is in place by 
using bank loans and the cash generated by current operating activities.

The ability to generate liquidity from core operations, together with the ability to borrow, allows the 
Group to adequately meet its operational, working capital financing and investment needs, as well as 
to comply with its financial obligations. The Group’s financial policy and the management of the related 
financial risks are centrally guided and monitored. In particular, the central finance function is respon-
sible for assessing and approving forecast financial requirements, monitoring performance and taking 
corrective action where necessary.

Exchange risk

Exposure to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations derives from the Group’s commercial activities con-
ducted in currencies other than the euro. Revenues and costs denominated in foreign currency can be 
influenced by fluctuations in the exchange rate, bringing about an impact on trade margins (economic 
risk), and trade and financial payables and receivables denominated in foreign currency can be im-
pacted by the conversion rates used, with a knock-on effect on the profit or loss (transaction risk). Final-
ly, fluctuations in exchange rates are also reflected in consolidated results and equity.

The main exchange rates to which the Group is exposed are:

• Euro/USD, in relation to transactions carried out in US dollars;

• Euro/GBP, in relation to transactions carried out in pound sterling.

The Group does not adopt specific policies to hedge exchange rate fluctuations because management 
does not believe that this risk can significantly harm the Group’s results, since the amount of inflows 
and outflows of foreign currency is not only insignificant, but also fairly similar in terms of volumes and 
timing.

A hypothetical positive or negative change of 100 bps in the exchange rates relating to the currencies 
in which the Group operates would not have a significant impact on the net result and shareholders’ 
equity of the years under review.

Interest rate risk

The Group uses external financial resources in the form of debt and uses the liquidity available in mar-
ket instruments. Changes in interest rate levels affect the cost and return of the various forms of funding 
and use, thus affecting consolidated net financial expense. Exposure to interest rate risk is constantly 
monitored according to the trend of the Euribor curve, in order to assess possible interventions to con-
tain the risk of a potential rise in market interest rates. At the reference dates, there were no hedges 
carried out by trading in derivatives.

With reference to interest rate risk, a sensitivity analysis was carried out to determine the effect on 
the consolidated income statement and consolidated shareholders’ equity that would result from a 
hypothetical positive and negative change of 50 bps in interest rates compared with those actually 
recorded in each period. The analysis was carried out mainly with regard to the following items: (i) cash 
and cash equivalents and (ii) short- and medium-/long-term financial liabilities. With regard to cash and 
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cash equivalents, reference was made to the average inventory and the average rate of return for the 
period , while for short- and medium-/long-term financial liabilities, the precise impact was calculated.

The table below shows the results of the analysis carried out:

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to the credit risk inherent in the possibility of its customers becoming insolvent 
and/or less creditworthy, so it monitors the situation continually.

Credit risk derives essentially from the Group’s commercial activity, where its counterparties are predo-
minantly mass and retail distribution operators. Retail receivables are extremely fragmented, while the 
mass distribution segment is characterised by a larger exposure to a single client.

The following table provides a breakdown of trade receivables (from consolidated financial statements) 
at 31 December 2019 and 2018 grouped by maturity, net of the provision for bad debts:

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that, due to the inability to find new funds or to liquidate assets on the market, 
the Group will not be able to meet its payment obligations, resulting in a negative impact on results if 
it is forced to incur additional costs to meet its obligations or an insolvency situation.

The liquidity risk to which the Group may be subject comprises the failure to find sufficient financial re-
sources for its operations, as well as for the development of its industrial and commercial activities. The 
two main factors that determine the Group’s liquidity situation are the resources generated or absorbed 
by operating and investment activities, and the maturity and renewal status of payables or the liquidity 
of financial commitments and market conditions. In particular, the main factor affecting the Group’s 
liquidity is the resources absorbed by operating activities: the sector in which the Group operates has 
seasonal sales phenomena, with peak liquidity requirements in the third quarter caused by a higher 
volume of trade receivables compared with the rest of the year. The Group’s commercial and finance 
teams work together to manage the changing liquidity requirements, which involves carefully planning 
financial requirements related to sales, drafting the budget at the beginning of the year and carefully 
monitoring requirements throughout the year. 
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Since they are also subject to seasonal phenomena, liquidity requirements linked to inventory dynamics 
are subject to analysis as well: planning purchases of raw materials for the inventory is managed in ac-
cordance with established practices, with the Chairman involved in decisions that could have an impact 
on the Group’s financial equilibrium.

Based on established practices inspired by prudence and stakeholder protection, the Group’s finan-
cing activity involves negotiating credit lines with the banking system and continually monitoring the 
Group’s cash flows.

The table below provides a breakdown of the Group’s financial requirements by contractual maturity:

Positions or transactions deriving from atypical and/or unusual transactions

Pursuant to CONSOB Communication no. 6064293 of 28 July 2006, it is hereby disclosed that, during 
2019, no atypical and/or unusual transactions occurred outside the Company’s normal business that 
could give rise to doubts regarding the accuracy and completeness of the information in the financial 
statements, conflicts of interest, protection of assets and the safeguarding of minority shareholders. The 
accounting and financial effects of extraordinary transactions occurring in 2019 have been illustrated 
above.

Treasury shares and shares of parent companies

In compliance with the provisions of article 2428 of the Italian Civil Code, it is confirmed that during 
2019 the Parent Company did not trade in any treasury shares or shares of parent companies and does 
not, at 31 December 2019 and at present, hold any treasury shares or shares of parent companies. The 
subsidiaries do not hold any shares of the Parent Company.

Sub-offices

No sub-offices were established.

Corporate governance

Information on corporate governance is provided in a separate report that is an integral part of the 
financial statements, annexed to this Report.
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The transactions entered into by the Group with Related Parties (hereinafter the “Related Party 
Transactions”), identified on the basis of criteria defined by IAS 24 – “Related Party Disclosures”, are 
primarily of a commercial and financial nature and are carried out at arm’s length conditions. On 6 
September 2019, the Board of Directors approved the text of and resolved to adopt the Procedure for 
Transactions with Related Parties with effect from the trading start date and subject to the favourable 
opinion of the Related Party Transactions Committee, also taking into account the guidelines provided 
by the Related Party Regulations. The RPT Committee expressed this favourable opinion at its meeting 
of 13 November 2019.

The explanatory notes to the consolidated and separate financial statements report on the income 
statement and statement of financial position items pertaining to related party transactions at 31 
December 2019 and 2018. This information has been extracted from the consolidated and separate 
financial statements and from calculations carried out by the Company based on the outcome of ge-
neral and operational accounting work.

The Group did not carry out Related Party Transactions that were unusual in terms of characteristics, 
or significant in terms of amount, other than those of an ongoing nature or which have already been 
illustrated.

For information on the remuneration of members of corporate bodies and senior managers, see the 
explanatory notes to the separate and consolidated financial statements.

The Group deals with the following related parties:

• direct or indirect parent company (“Parent Company”);

• subsidiaries of the direct parent company or indirect parent companies other than its own 
subsidiaries and associates (“Companies controlled by the parent companies”);

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE YEAR AND OPERA-
TIONAL OUTLOOK

In January 2020, following the spread of the virus called SARS-CoV-2 and its respiratory disease called 
COVID-19 (commonly known as the ‘Coronavirus’), the Chinese and other foreign governments took 
some restrictive measures to contain the potential spread of the epidemic. Among these, the most 
significant have involved the isolation of the region where the epidemic originated, restrictions and 
controls on travel to, from and within China, restrictions on the movement of the local population and 
the closure of offices and production facilities throughout the country.

Between the last week of February 2020 and the date of preparation of these financial statements (19 
March 2020), the aforementioned virus spread rapidly in Italy and in various other countries, with signi-
ficant negative effects for the health of many people, for commercial activities and for the economies 
of the countries involved.

At the date of preparation of these financial statements, it is not possible to predict when the spread 
of the epidemic will be halted and whether the national governments, in Italy and in the other coun-
tries where the Company and the Newlat Group operate, will adopt any further restrictive measures 
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affecting production and commercial activities and the movement of people.

Due to the above, the Company - at the date of preparation of these financial statements - cannot predi-
ct the extent to which the aforementioned events may have significant repercussions on the prospects 
of the Company and the Newlat Group in 2020. Finally, with reference to the accounting principles and 
estimates used to prepare the consolidated and separate financial statements, and based on the infor-
mation available at the date of preparation of the following financial statements, the Directors believe 
they reasonably exclude impacts attributable to COVID-19.

La Direzione della Società, dopo un attento monitoraggio degli eventi accaduti, ha prontamente imAfter 
careful monitoring of events, the Company’s management has promptly implemented the strategic de-
cisions and appropriate actions in this situation and highlights the following important characteristics 
of its business structure, which are supported by the exceptional data on revenues from sales made in 
the first two and a half months of 2020:

• full production capacity: all the establishments of the Company and the Group continue their activi-
ties, in full compliance with the health standards prescribed by the authorities;

• sourcing and logistics: in view of the primarily local (linked to geographical sales areas) structure for 
sourcing raw materials, and also considering current availability, we do not believe that the current 
COVID-19 emergency can have material impacts on the supply chain. Similarly, there are no problems 
in the logistics services used;

• distribution channels: Newlat Food generates 73% of its turnover (63% from its own brands and 
10% from private labels) through the mass distribution channel, 12% through the B2B channel (baby 
food) via long-term contracts with multinationals, and 11% through small shops, located mainly in the 
centre and south of Italy. Revenues from sales related to the HoReCa segment, which were particularly 
impacted in March 2020 by the large decrease in footfall, both from tourists and locals, are less than 
5% of the total revenues of the Company.

• Current Trading 2020: in the first two months of the year, generally characterised by a lower contri-
bution to total annual turnover, Newlat Food saw its organic turnover grow by 2% in Italy and 3% in 
Germany. In the first two weeks of March 2020, there was an average year-on-year increase of 35% in 
total turnover across all production divisions, compared to the same period in 2019.
On account of these positive foundations, although there remains considerable uncertainty about what 
path the Coronavirus will take, Newlat Food’s management remains fully confident in the continuation 
of its organic growth plans.
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ANNEX A - COMBINED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Combined consolidated statement of financial position
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Combined consolidated income statement

Combined statement of other comprehensive income
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Combined statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
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Combined statement of cash flows
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ANNEX B - PROFORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Proforma Consolidated Statements have been prepared in order to represent the main effects on the 
Group’s combined statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 of the acquisitions that took place 
during 2019, in line with the financial information provided during the aforementioned listing process. In parti-
cular, the proforma statements include the acquisition of Delverde from 1 January 2019 (instead of 9 April 2019, 
i.e. the date of actual purchase by Newlat Food S.p.A.).

The proforma consolidated statement of financial position and income statement at 31 December 2019 are 
shown below:

Proforma consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 and 2018
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Proforma consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018

Below is some financial information from the proforma consolidated statements. In particular: profor-
ma revenue from contracts with customers broken down by business unit, distribution channel and 
geographical area; and some alternative performance indicators identified by the Directors in order to 
facilitate an understanding of the Group’s assets and liabilities, results and cash flows, calculated on the 
basis of proforma financial information.

Proforma revenue from contracts with customers

The following table displays proforma revenue from contracts with customers broken down by business 
unit, distribution channel and geographical area, compared with the previous year:
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Alternative performance indicators related to proforma data

The table below shows the proforma income statement alternative performance indicators:



CONSOLIDATED NON-FINANCIAL STATEMENT

Consolidated Non-Financial Statement
at 31 December 2019

pursuant to Legislative Decree 254/2016
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I. Introduction

1.1 Methodological note

[GRI 102-50]; [GRI 102-52]; [GRI 102-53]; [GRI 102-56]

This document is intended as the first consolidated non-financial statement (hereinafter also “NFS” or 
“Statement”) of Newlat Group (hereinafter also “Group”) in compliance with the provisions of Legislative 
Decree no. 254 of 30 December 2016, as amended.

Following the successfully completed listing procedure in October 2019, 2019 is the first year in which 
Newlat Group meets the minimum mandatory requirements imposed by Legislative Decree 254/16. As 
this is the first year of preparation of the NFS, the indicators reported refer to the reporting year that 
runs from 1 January to 31 December 2019. Where possible and for the best comparison, the data and 
information for the 2018 financial year have also been reported.

With reference to the changes to the Group structure during this two-year period, it is noted that as of 
31.12.2018 the company Newlat Food Spa uses the full consolidation method only for the company 
Centrale del Latte di Salerno Spa. In 2019, Newlat Food Spa acquired Delverde Industrie Alimentari Spa, 
then merged by incorporation together with Centrale del Latte di Salerno Spa into the parent company 
Newlat Food Spa. Starting from 2019, the group also includes Newlat GmbH Deutschland.

The scope of reporting of non-financial information at 31.12.2019 is therefore Newlat Food Spa (herei-
nafter also “Newlat”) and the subsidiary Newlat GmbH Deutschland, consolidated according to the full 
method in the Consolidated Financial Statements at 31 December 2019.

The following table shows the plants that fall within the scope of reporting at 31.12.2019 and 31.12.2018.

Table 1 - Scope of Consolidation
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This consolidated non-financial statement takes as reference the “Sustainability Reporting Standards” publi-
shed in October 2016 by the GRI (Global Reporting Initiative) and uses the “GRI-Referenced” approach. Note 
that, with reference to GRI 303-3 and 403-9, the GRI standards published in June 2018 were considered. The 
following GRI reporting principles required for the definition of the content and quality of the document 
were taken into consideration for the preparation of the Statement: Stakeholder Inclusiveness, Sustainability 
Context, Materiality, Completeness, Balance, Comparability, Accuracy, Timeliness, Clarity and Reliability, as reported 
in GRI Standard 101: Foundation 2018.

For greater clarity, references to the GRI Standards are given within the text highlighted with the symbol 
[GRI No.].

This Statement reports the non-financial information related to the topics considered material for the Group, 
the stakeholder analysis and business model, which were defined and worked on by an internal Working 
Group coordinated by the Administration, Finance and Management Control Department and the key represen-
tatives of the various business functions involved who manage relations with the main stakeholders.

In order to provide an accurate representation of the sustainability performance achieved, the inclusion of 
dimensions that are directly measurable was prioritised, avoiding where possible reference to estimates, 
which, where required, are based on the best possible methods available or on sample surveys, and their use 
is indicated within the individual indicators.

Please note that the data provided for the 2018 financial year have not been audited by an external firm.
In relation to the collection of data and information to be reported, the Group prepared data collection forms 
that were sent to the relevant contact persons involved in the various areas, both of the parent company 
(Newlat Food SpA) and of the subsidiary company.

The Statement was approved by the Newlat Food SpA Board of Directors on 19/03/2020.

The independent audit of the non-financial statement was entrusted to PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. and 
was completed with the issue of the “Independent auditor’s report on the consolidated non-financial state-
ment pursuant to art. 3 (10), Legislative Decree no. 254/2016 and art. 5 of the CONSOB regulation adopted 
with resolution no. 20267 of January 2018”. The Report is available on page 112 of this document.
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1.2 Business Model
[GRI 102-2]; [GRI 102-50]; [GRI 102-6]

Newlat Group was founded in 2004 in Reggio Emilia, where its registered office is still located today. 
The sectors of the agri-food market in which the Group operates are mainly those related to food 
and beverages, where, in part due to growth based on targeted acquisitions of some historical brands, 
Newlat Food has become a major player.

Specifically, the Group is mainly present on the Italian market, where it has a certain importance, and 
on the European market through its subsidiary located in Germany.

The Group has pursued and is pursuing continuous growth, thanks also to the implementation of a po-
licy focused on the acquisition of both nationally and internationally recognized companies and brands.
The history of Newlat Group begins with the first acquisition of the Guacci brand in 2004, then con-
tinues the following year with the acquisition first of the Pezzullo brand and then of the entire plant 
located in Eboli (now owned by Nestlé). 

In the following years (from 2008), the Group expanded its product portfolio by acquiring Giglio, again 
from Nestlé, a company specialising in the milk and dairy sector.

There were more acquisitions in 2008, first, with the purchase of one of the plants belonging to Buitoni 
and subsequently the obtaining of the license to use the related brand.

Below is a list of the Trademarks and Companies involved in the acquisitions, reporting the year in whi-
ch the transaction was concluded.

Table 2 - Summary of Main Acquisitions
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On 29.10.2019, the company reached its goal of listing on the Star segment of the Italian Stock Exchan-
ge (Borsa Italiana), and this has contributed to improving its reputation on the market.
 
As can be seen in the table above reporting the scope of the reporting, the Group operates through 
eleven production plants, ten of which are in Italy and one in Germany, divided as follows, by business 
area (World):

• 4 pasta and bakery plants;

• 4 milk processing plants;

• 2 mills;

• 1 plant for gluten-free, protein-free and baby food products.

The Group employs more than 1,000 people, mainly employed at the production sites in Italy.

1.3 Corporate Governance Model and Sustainability Management

[GRI 102-18]

Newlat Food has structured a Corporate Governance Model based on the recommendations of the Borsa 
Italiana Corporate Governance Code, including those introduced in July 2018, which are being imple-
mented by top management in the Newlat Food Code of Conduct, through which the interests of all its 
stakeholders can be met effectively.

The Group is focusing on the adaptation of its corporate structure to international best practices, on the 
updating of its relevant Codes, and on the implementation of both its operational and sustainability risk 
management processes.

Newlat Food S.p.A. has adopted a traditional form of administration and control. Therefore, corporate 
management is assigned to the Board of Directors, the supervisory functions to the Board of Statutory 
Auditors, and the statutory audit, as well as the financial audit, to the Independent Auditors appointed 
by the Shareholders’ Meeting.
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Eric Sandrin 

Emanuela Banfi 

Valentina Montanari

Control and Risks Committee

Valentina Montanari

Emanuela Banfi

Eric Sandrin

Related Party Transactions Committee

Emanuela Banfi

Valentina Montanari

Eric Sandrin

Officer in charge
Rocco Sergi

Independent Auditing Firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A.

Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and Director
(Executive Director)

Co-Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Executive Director)

Co-Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Executive Director)

Director (Non-Executive Director)

Director (1)

Director (1)

Director (1) - Lead Independent Director

Chairman

Standing Auditor

Standing Auditor

Alternate Auditor

Alternate Auditor

Chairman

Member

Member

Chairperson

Member

Member

Chairperson

Member

Member

1 Independent director pursuant to article 148 of the Consolidated Law on Finance (TUF) and article 3 of the Corporate Governan-
ce Code, entered into office from the Trading Start Date. Member of the Control and Risk Committee, member of the Remuneration 
and Appointments Committee, and member of the Related Party Transactions Committee

BOARDS AND OFFICERS
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Shareholders’ Meeting

This is the Body in which the company interests are expressed which are then implemented by the Bo-
ard of Directors. It comprises the Newlat shareholders, who meet periodically to discuss in the manner 
and on the matters defined by the provisions of the Law and the Company Articles of Association. Among 
the most important tasks of the Shareholders’ Meeting are the selection of the members of the Board 
of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors, as well as the approval of the Financial Statements.

Board of Directors (BoD)

This is the Administrative Body that guides the Group and is responsible for the management of the 
Company, without prejudice to the functions performed by the Shareholders’ Meeting. The BoD is re-
sponsible for the Company and Group strategic and organisational policies, verification of the adequacy 
of the organisational structure, as well as the adequacy of the controls required to monitor Company 
and Group performance.

The Board of Directors is required, among other activities in accordance with statutory laws and refe-
rence legislation, to ensure sustainable growth in the medium to long term through an adequate risk 
control and management system, including for those risks that have an impact on sustainability, and to 
ensure maximum transparency with regard to the market and investors, paying particular attention to 
significant changes in business prospects as well as the risk situations to which the Company is exposed.

The Remuneration Policy, in line with company values and consistent with the standards and expecta-
tions of stakeholders, is defined in such a way as to design a remuneration system that is based on the 
principles of ethics, quality, proactiveness, belonging and optimisation.

The current Board of Directors, appointed during the Shareholders’ Meeting of 8 July 2019, consists of 7 
members and will remain in office for the period 2019-2021.

The Chairman, appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting, is vested with the powers conferred by the Ar-
ticles of Association and the legal representation of the Company.

The Board has set up three committees with advisory and recommendation functions in relation to the 
Board itself: the Control and Risk Committee, the Related Party Transactions Committee and the Remu-
neration and Appointments Committee.

It should be noted that with specific reference to sustainability issues, the parent company has not yet 
appointed a Sustainability Committee, assigning the roles, powers and responsibilities related to this 
area directly to the Board of Directors which, among other activities, identifies the risks and policies 
related to the areas indicated by the decree and in any case considered significant for the reference 
stakeholders.

Furthermore, at the moment, the Group has not drawn up a Sustainability Plan, which will be taken into 
consideration by the Company in the coming years.

Board of Statutory Auditors

This is the independent Body responsible for supervising compliance with the law and the Articles of 
Association, compliance with the principles of correct administration, and the adequacy of the organi-
sational, administrative and accounting structure adopted by the Company.
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II. Stakeholder Engagement
[GRI 102-13]; [GRI 102-40]; [GRI 102-42]; [GRI 102-43]

Newlat Group, actively operating in the reference context, constantly interacts with different types of 
subjects, which generate interests and expectations in relation to the Group. These subjects can the-
refore be defined as stakeholders and can refer to subjects either within the Group structure, such as 
Partners and Shareholders as well as employees, or outside the Group, as is the case with suppliers, 
customers, certification bodies or local communities.

Each type of stakeholder corresponds to a different and specific type of relationship. This diversity is a 
direct consequence of the substantial difference between their interests and expectations.

It follows that the Group, in its desire to pay increasing attention to the dialogue with these subjects, 
will have to address them differently, through a carefully and precisely targeted dialogue.

Indeed, the importance of this dialogue is mainly due to the fact that it allows the Group to achieve 
the objectives of improving and enhancing the knowledge of its network, enabling, on the one hand, 
an increase in the positive impacts generated and, on the other, to mitigate the negative impacts of 
business activities on the environment and society. The dialogue allows the Group to gather important 
information on the context in which it operates and thus to receive constant feedback on its work. 
In order to achieve this objective, the Group is aware that, over the next three years, it will have to pay 
increasing attention to the needs expressed both directly and indirectly by the relevant stakeholders, so 
as to intercept all the necessary information in a timely manner for the sustainable development of its 
business and the reference context.

For these reasons, the identification of the main stakeholders and the subsequent definition of their 
expectations are aspects of crucial importance for the Group. 

The Newlat Group stakeholders mentioned in the previous point are represented in schematic form in 
Figure 1, which shows, among other things, that the Group wants to give its stakeholders equal, albeit 
specific, importance.

In addition, a brief description of each stakeholder and the relevant aspects is given below:

• Identification of stakeholders;

• Identification of specific interests for each stakeholder;

• Type of relationship and dialogue objectives;

• Importance and attention given by the Group, including with reference to the significant areas.
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2.1 Partners and shareholders

It should be remembered that as of 29.10.2019, the Company that drafts the Newlat Group Consolidated 
Statements, Newlat Food S.p.A., had completed its listing process on the Star segment of the Mercato 
Telematico Azionario (MTA) of Borsa Italiana S.p.A.

As of 31.12.2019, the share capital subscribed and paid-up was EUR 40,780,482.00 divided into 
40,780,482 shares.

In light of the results of the “Shareholder Register”, the share structure updated at 31 December 2019 
is presented in Figure 2.

Figure SEQ Figura \* ARABIC 1 - Newlat Stakeholders

Figure 2 - Distribution of Newlat Food SpA Shares
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In addition to the standard forms of communication of a binding nature, Newlat Food wants to focus 
on partners and shareholders, through this document and through an internal report that is truthful, 
usable and prompt.

In order to ensure commitment to this objective, the Group has established specific figures, such as 
Investor Relators (for communications to partners and shareholders) and the Reporting Officer, as well 
as the usual internal and external control bodies (to ensure that the data reported to management is 
true).

2.2Employees

Newlat Food has always considered its staff as one of its most important assets and therefore one of the 
areas where the Group wants to invest in order to achieve some of the main goals it has set, including:

• protection of the working environment and health & safety;
• professional growth;
• personnel engagement.

Newlat Food “people” are valued and placed at the centre of the organisation to ensure the competitive 
advantage that has guaranteed the Group its current success and growth.

Newlat Food employees are guaranteed a safe and sustainable work environment, the provision of 
training courses, internal company communications, and the distribution of regulations, procedures and 
protocols, aimed at sharing the company’s values and mission.

2.3 Suppliers

In order to make its products, Newlat Food uses suppliers that guarantee the achievement of the busi-
ness and sustainable development objectives outlined in this document. In particular, more closely lin-
ked to the production chain, the Group wants high quality standards to be guaranteed for its products, 
minimising the cost of raw materials, in order to maintain a competitive advantage at the level of sales 
prices applied.

For this reason too, Newlat Food aims to develop long-term partnerships and collaborations. In this way, 
the Group wants to establish virtuous supply circles, oriented towards trust and future growth.

2.4 Customers

The Group’s sales network consists mainly of agents with whom Newlat Food has established solid col-
laborative relationships over time, in order to efficiently and effectively reach its customers.

Although most Newlat Food customers belong to the large-scale retailing segment, the Group has 
always kept the smallest distribution channels open, trying to reach the end consumer more directly.

Another significant aspect for the Group is the diversification of the business lines in which it operates, 
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also referred to as “Worlds”. Indeed, thanks to the continuous expansion that has allowed it to obtain 
a significant brand portfolio, Newlat Group can subdivide its business into the following macro-areas:

• Milk;

• Pasta;

• Special Products;

• Bakery Products;

• Dairy products.

The Group believes that the key success factors can be summarised as follows:

• Wide range of offers;

• Diversification of its reference markets;

• Development and creation of a platform to acquire important brands in the sector;

• Development of brand licensing and acquisition.

Finally, the Group carries out promotional and marketing activities in order to establish a direct dialo-
gue with its customers. However, there is an awareness that the strongest tool for dialogue is Newlat’s 
focus on the level of quality and food safety of its products.

For this reason, the Group, wanted to implement a system of specific safeguards throughout all phases 
of the production cycle, including through obtaining various certifications.

2.5 Local community

The Group aims to establish a clear and well-defined presence within the context in which it operates. 
In this regard, the context is understood as the geographical area in which the Group operates, but also 
as the set of elements that make up these areas. Among these elements, we would like to refer in parti-
cular to the local community and to the initiatives that Newlat Food plans and implements in terms of 
local community support, so far realised through several charitable initiatives and sponsorships. For the 
next three years, the Group intends to study and promote new support projects to be provided mainly 
to local community institutions.

It is also worth mentioning the contribution to the local supply chain that Newlat Food, as a succes-
sfully operating business on the market, provides across a large part of the country. For this purpose, 
reference is made both to the employment that Newlat Food guarantees its workers and to the data 
relating to the supply chain, reported in subsequent sections.
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2.6 Certifying bodies

As mentioned above, the Group wanted to implement a production management system over time that 
would enable full compliance with current regulations, as well as compliance with industry best practi-
ces. 

In order to adapt sufficiently to these aspects, the Group has invested in some of the most important 
certifications related to the sector, focusing on ensuring high quality in its products and standards ap-
plied to production processes.

It should be said that one of the causes of the fragmented acquisition of the various brands and plants 
by the Group, as mentioned above, is that it has not been able to guarantee, from the outset, the full 
applicability of the certifications obtained to all plants. However, this has not, in any case, stopped the 
same management model being respected in all plants, where this model has been suitably designed 
to comply with the reference certifications.

In addition, the Group is considering implementing a further adjustment plan in order to pursue an 
objective of integration and unification of the management methods applied. An objective that was 
declared through the recently concluded merger process.

The certifications obtained by the Group are shown below in Table 3 in order to clearly outline their 
application, as well as clearly showing the areas of interest of the Group itself.
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Table 3 - Certifications Obtained
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In order to obtain details on the applicability of the certifications by plant, please refer to Annex 1 at 
the end of this document.

The following table shows the main tools through which Newlat Food Group involves its stakeholders 
as well as their expectations.

Table 4 - Stakeholders: Engagement and Expectations
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III. Material topics

[GRI 102-47]

The identification of material topics is the result of the process of identifying, evaluating and classi-
fying, in order of priority, the sustainability aspects relevant to Newlat Group.

The concept of “significance” is also closely related, among other aspects, to the ability of these topics 
to affect the Group’s capacity to create value not just in the short term, but also in the medium and long 
term.

Newlat Group has therefore assessed the potential material topics with the aim of identifying those 
relevant to the organisation in the non-financial field, which could help stakeholders decide whether or 
not to invest in the company, thus creating value for the latter.

It should also be noted that the determination of material topics is the result of an assessment carried 
out internally without the involvement of external stakeholders.

The process has therefore required the involvement of internal figures considered key to the reporting 
of this NFS. Therefore, these subjects correspond to the figures identified as owners of the policies 
adopted by the Group.

Each owner has therefore carried out, for each area of Legislative Decree 254/2016 within his or her 
area of responsibility, an analysis of the topics relevant to the Group and for each of them has expressed 
an evaluation, by assigning a score from 0 to 5.

In order to represent all the subjects involved, the score was assigned by the owners by adopting two 
different guidelines:

• internal Group guidance, which refers to the attention paid by Newlat to the material topics;

• external guidance, which evaluates, on the other hand, the attention paid by the stakeholders 
identified in the previous sections to the material topics.

The result of the materiality assessment process described above consists, therefore, of a list of topics 
considered material and approved by the Board of Directors.

The results of the analysis are shown in Figures 3.
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Figure 3 - Materiality Assessment Chart

The table below also shows the relationship between the issues required by Legislative Decree 254/16 
and the material aspects identified by the Group, which will be specifically reported later.
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Table 5 - Relationship between Significant Areas and Material Topics for Newlat
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IV. Policies and risks

Newlat Group has identified the risks to which it believes it is exposed in all its areas of activity and 
reclassified them in relation to the areas indicated by Legislative Decree 254/2016. This is represented 
in the table below.

In particular, it should be noted that within the table, the management methods adopted by the Group 
have also been identified, as well as the policies implemented by the Group, in order to monitor and 
mitigate, albeit partially, the risks identified, and, therefore, in order to ensure business continuity on the 
one hand and the achievement of the company’s objectives on the other.
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Table 6 - Identified risks, management procedures and policies
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V. Results obtained

The following is a breakdown of the results obtained by the Group during the 2019 financial year, fol-
lowing the implementation of the practices adopted in relation to the risks identified in the previous 
point.

5.1 Environmental Aspects 
In relation to the risks identified in Table 6 above and specifically related to environmental aspects, the 
Group has made environmental protection one of its objectives.

Awareness that any production may have an impact on the local area makes it necessary to pursue 
strategies to protect and safeguard, or in some cases, to reduce environmental impacts. Production acti-
vities are, in fact, those that can have the highest environmental impact.

In order to ensure a better representation of the Group’s data, it is necessary to consolidate the infor-
mation originating from the plants mentioned in Table 1 above, differentiating between the individual 
entities to which the different production plants and/or warehouses belong.

In order to achieve the objective of environmental protection, the main areas of analysis of the Group’s 
environmental impact concern:

• Consumption of materials for production and packaging;

• Monitoring of energy consumption and emissions;

• Monitoring of water and waste consumption and discharges.

All consumption and emissions are systematically monitored, both to ensure a high level of effective-
ness of the actions and to determine their status. In this way, the Group intends to verify the continuous 
compliance with the law in order to prevent potential environmental risks.

5.1.1 Energy Efficiency

5.1.1.1 Energy consumed within the organization

[302-1]

The main energy sources used by the Group are both renewable and non-renewable. In particular, they 
consist of natural gas, diesel and electricity and, with reference to the reported sources, are mainly used 
for:

• feeding production plants,

• lighting and air-conditioning in workspaces (i.e. offices, warehouses, stores, plants, data cen-
tre, etc.).

The Group also uses diesel in the production plants to provide continuous power to the refrigeration 
cells in case of emergency, by means of generators.
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For the purposes of reporting actual consumption, only properties owned by the Group or that are in any 
case under the direct control of the latter have been taken into account.

Energy consumption from renewable and non-renewable sources has also been reported separately. 
This makes it possible to assess the environmental impact in more detail.

Another aspect to consider is the system implemented by the Group designed to ensure the self-pro-
duction of energy, intended in part for internal consumption and the remaining part for sale to autho-
rised third parties.

In order to ensure comparability of the data and to use a uniform assessment measure, the value has 
been converted to Gigajoules.

It should be noted that part of the changes between 2018 and 2019 is attributable to the change to the 
scope of consolidation as explained earlier.

Energy consumed within the organisation, divided into renewable and non-renewable sources

2 Value regarding Steam generated at 16 bar and 200°C by the district heating system.
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The monitoring of consumption, which the Group has always paid particular attention to, is conducted 
through continuous meter reading.

The increase in volumes of natural gas and energy consumed can be directly linked to the change in the 
scope of consolidation and an increase in production activity at some of the Group’s production sites 
and in particular the Lodi and Sansepolcro sites for the part dedicated to bakery products.

5.1.1.2 Energy intensity

[GRI 302-3]

Newlat Group considered the number of workers as a representative unit of the energy intensity consu-
med, resulting in an average energy consumption ratio per employee. The figure is expressed in GJ per 
person.

This indicator has long been used by the Group to monitor the energy consumption at each plant.

For reporting purposes, only the energy consumption reported above has been considered, and therefo-
re only the consumption generated within the organisation is considered, i.e. the Group.

3 Data on purchased energy from renewable sources is calculated using the national energy mix of Italy (source: GSE) and Germany 
(AG Energiebilanzen) for the relevant years.
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Again, it should be noted that part of the changes between 2018 and 2019 is attributable to the change 
to the scope of consolidation as explained earlier.

Net of the aforementioned change in scope of consolidation, there were no significant changes.

5.1.2 Environmental impacts

5.1.2.1 Materials used by weight and volume 

[GRI 301-1]

Following the various acquisitions made at a Group level, Newlat has been able to expand the portfolio 
of finished products offered on the market. The indirect consequence relates to the diversification and 
expansion of the raw materials and materials used by the Group in the production process.

In relation to what is required by the reference GRI, the data considered relevant for the company and 
having a significant impact are those relating to raw materials and packaging materials. However, it 
should be noted that the data reported for this indicator relate only to materials used for the packaging 
of finished products and therefore raw material data are not represented. The decision for this exclusion 
is mainly that the raw materials used refer mostly to the agri-food area (i.e. semolina, milk and deriva-
tives, and flour), which therefore have the characteristic of being renewable.

The materials reported have been classified as renewable and non-renewable.

The data reported are those extracted from the information systems used by the company to indicate 
the purchase of materials.

In the next three years, however, it is intended to launch a process to ensure the highest level of control 
and transparency over the consumption of materials used for production.
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Some of the variations between the values for materials between 2018 and 2019 can also be explai-
ned by the change to the scope of consolidation. In particular, the scope of consolidation of the Italian 
company changed in 2018. Following the acquisition by Newlat Food Spa of Delverde Industrie Alimen-
tari SpA and Newlat GmbH, the Group took ownership of the Fara San Martino and Mannheim plants, 
respectively.

Net of the aforementioned change to the scope of consolidation, there were no significant changes in 
production waste.

5.1.2.2 Direct and indirect GHG emissions 

[GRI 305-1; GRI 305-2]

With this indicator, the Group intends to report the performance achieved so far in terms of emissions 
of highly harmful agents into the atmosphere which have a high negative environmental impact.

The data below illustrate the amount of ozone-depleting emissions produced by the Group, both direct-
ly and indirectly, in the course of carrying out its production activities, but considering them net of any 
emissions trading with third parties or purchases of certificates.

4 Consumables such as labels and toners for industrial printers.

Consumption of materials divided by renewable and non-renewable sources
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5 The conversion factors used to calculate the value of CO2e for Italian sites are those listed in the “Table of national standard parame-
ters for GHG monitoring and declaration pursuant to Decree Law 30/2013” provided by ISPRA (Italian Institute for Environmental 
Protection and Research) as updated in 2018. The estimate of CO2 emissions released into the atmosphere by the electricity suppliers 
of the Group’s plants, both in Italy and Germany, was based on the Terna Group’s international comparison table. The conversion pa-
rameters of the DEFRA’s “Environmental reporting guidelines” were used to calculate the district heating emissions for the German 
plant in Mannheim.

Emissions into the atmosphere produced by the Group are closely linked to electricity consumption, the 
consumption of natural gas and the use of fossil fuels.

In addition to information regarding the change to the scope of consolidation in 2019, it is to be noticed 
that total emissions are in line with the general production figure.

5.1.2.3 Water management

[GRI 303-3]

Given the nature of its products (i.e. dairy products, dried pasta and derivatives), the production process 
requires the use of large amounts of water.

Aware of this and with the intention of limiting waste as much as possible and managing its production 
system to optimise water usage, Newlat Group has put in place a monitoring system for the responsible 
management of this resource.

The Group pays careful attention to the disposal of wastewater to avoid, in particular, the occurrence of 
runoff and damage to the environment caused by the incorrect performance of this activity. 

The main sources used by Newlat Group are listed in the following table, with an indication of annual 
consumption in m3. The table shows that, although water withdrawal is mainly from groundwater, the 
Group also uses resources from public waterworks or water supplied by water companies.

With reference to water supplied by public waterworks, this is used to ensure the proper functioning 
of toilets and for cleaning, as well as for some of the more delicate production processes, such as the 
washing of certain dairy products to ensure maximum safety for the consumer.
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As mentioned, part of the changes between 2018 and 2019 is attributable to the change to the scope 
of consolidation as explained earlier.

In 2019, thanks to the Group’s careful management of water resources and wells used in its production 
processes, no sanctions were received as a result of environmental damage in areas adjacent to the 
production plants, such as due to runoff or pollution of aquifers.

Net of the change to the scope of consolidation, it should be noted that 2019 marked a production 
growth for the Group, with the consequent need to use more water.

Although Newlat Group plants are connected to the public sewerage system, most of the wastewater 
resulting from the production process is discharged in ways other than discharge into the sewerage 
system. 

The difference in treatment is due in particular to the different management of the various plants and 
to the difference in the processing activities performed at each of them.

The plants make use of the integrated water service provided in the area they operate in. In addition, 
some plants have access to special treatment systems, which perform initial water treatment prior to 
discharge into the public sewer. Only a small part is subject to evaporation.

With reference to the division of water withdrawal between fresh water (≤1,000 mg/l of total dissolved 
solids) and other types of water (>1,000 mg/l of total dissolved solids), the Group monitors and analyses 
water from both surface water and groundwater sources, carried out by third party analytical laborato-
ries.

The Group, in compliance with national regulatory standards for the food industry, uses fresh potable 
water. Therefore, the withdrawals shown in the table refer only to water with ≤1,000 mg/l of total dis-
solved solids.

Withdrawals from areas with water stress are not available. The Group will endeavour to report these 
data over the next two years.
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5.1.2.4 Waste by type and disposal method 

[GRI 306-2]

Newlat Group’s commitment is aimed in two directions: on the one hand, to reduce the amount of waste 
produced and, on the other hand, to increase waste recycling. The aim is to optimise the recovery of 
waste produced.

Specifically, waste derives mainly from production activities or from those relating to administrative 
or office areas. Waste management is based on specific procedures, developed through experience, in 
accordance with legal provisions.

In addition, transport and end disposal are strictly controlled and monitored by specialist companies 
with the necessary authorisations. In fact, the waste produced by the Group is handled by companies 
who, according to current regulations, are authorised to carry out collection and disposal activities.

Over time, the Group has implemented a system of continuous and timely monitoring through the use 
of internal reports.

In 2018, 31,656 tonnes of waste were produced, mostly non-hazardous waste (31,602 tonnes). In 2019, 
208,292 tonnes of waste were produced, including 207,966 tonnes of non-hazardous waste.

The 2019 figure can be explained by the increase in production and the introduction of the Fara San 
Martino plant into the scope of consolidation, which in 2019 produced 62,126 tonnes of waste, of which 
22,641 tonnes were waste subject to recycling.

As mentioned, part of the changes between 2018 and 2019 is attributable to the change to the scope 
of consolidation as explained earlier.
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5.2 Social aspects
Newlat Group aims to ensure both a high quality level of its products and the containment of related 
costs within certain levels of competitiveness.

For this reason, the Group itself has defined specific procedures and controls that involve the entire 
supply chain: from the supply of raw materials to the distribution of finished products. 

To this end, the Group undertakes to require its suppliers and external contractors to comply with the 
principles of conduct adopted by the Group itself. For this reason, each supplier, business partner or ex-
ternal contractor is notified of the existence of the Code of Ethics, the Organisational Model pursuant to 
Legislative Decree 231/01, the Code of Conduct and the regulatory principles adopted by Newlat Group.
In selecting its suppliers, the Group takes into account certain elements, including:

• professionalism and experience;

• value for money that can meet the high standards that the Group undertakes to maintain;

• project capabilities and resources.

The Group has achieved an adequate awareness of both direct and indirect risks related to serious da-
mage which its activities (together with that of the various players involved) may entail.

The Group, aware of these risks, which are reported in the “Policies and Risks” section, strives to mitiga-
te them through monitoring procedures, some mandatory according to the reference standards, others 
implemented by the management systems as a result of the certifications that the Group has obtained 
over time.

5.2.1 Responsibilities in the supply chain

5.2.1.1 Supply chain

[GRI 102-9]

The Group has always wanted to be synonymous with quality and food safety, characteristics guarante-
ed by the selection of the most appropriate raw materials and by the checks carried out on the product 
during all phases of the production cycle.

To maintain this line of action, the Group is committed to certifying the quality and provenance of its 
products. For this reason, together with the reasons required by the specific nature of the business, it is 
established practice to use suppliers operating in Italy or in any case in the European context.

For reporting purposes, not all types of supply have been specified, but only those strictly related to 
production. As such, the data refer to the following categories:

• Raw materials

• Finished products

• Packaging
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• Utilities

• Maintenance and spare parts

• Transport

The following table shows the nature of the Group’s production. In fact, most of the costs derive from 
the supply of goods rather than services.

The increase in the number of suppliers is directly linked to the change to the scope of consolidation. 
Net of this change, there are no significant changes in the supply chain of goods and services in the 
periods under analysis.
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6 The data refer only to the categories of suppliers indicated in the previous section (5.2.1 – Responsibilities in the supply chain)

5.2.1.2 Proportion of spending on local suppliers

[GRI 204-1]

As mentioned, due to the nature of the business and practices, the Group prefers purchasing from 
suppliers operating in Italy or in any case in the European context. The high quality standards that the 
Group wants to guarantee to its customers are achieved by sourcing more than 80% from Italian sup-
pliers. In addition, considering the high rate of deterioration of some raw materials, the Group needs to 
implement its production processes close to suppliers. For this reason, most suppliers of raw materials 
operate at a national level.

The first table reports the share of the total Group purchases made in Italy by Newlat Food Spa and in 
Germany by Newlat GMBH, respectively. The subsequent tables represent the share of purchases made 
by the two group companies in their respective countries of operation.



77
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Local suppliers for Germany were assessed on the basis of origin, and therefore all suppliers with their 
headquarters in Germany were considered to be local suppliers.

Likewise, all those based in Italy are considered local suppliers for Italy.

5.2.2 Product quality and consumer safety

5.2.2.1 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health and safety impacts
of products and services

[GRI 416-2]

The Group has always been very vigilant regarding incidents involving the non-compliance with regula-
tions and self-regulation codes concerning the health and safety impacts of products and services. This 
can be seen from the low number of incidents that occurred in 2019.

In fact, for the entire Group, during this period, only five incidents were recorded of non-compliance 
concerning the health and safety impacts on the product categories offered: two at the Salerno plant 
and three at the German plant. Specifically, these refer to incidents of non-compliance with regulations 
involving a recall. However, these have not yet resulted in sanctions.

In 2018, however, there were no cases of non-compliance.

The Group is constantly committed to the adaptation and improvement of all tools and protocols to 
always ensure high standards and compliance with current regulations. Appropriate measures have 
been taken as a result of the incidents to prevent similar situations from occurring in the future.

The data were reported on the basis of the findings indicated in the Register of Non-Conformities, kept 
at the plants, as recommended by the ISO 9001:2015 standard.

7 Ibid.
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5.2.3 Social development

5.2.3.1 Operations with local community engagement, impact assessments,
and development programs

[GRI 413-1]

The Group is committed to the development of the areas it operates in and all the areas surrounding 
its plants, especially with regard to Italy. The commitment to social development has been divided into 
numerous activities in different areas of action. In particular, charitable activities have been carried out 
at charity and sporting events, and other activities have been carried out with a view to safeguarding 
the areas in which the Group carries out its production activities.

A number of initiatives have been promoted to stimulate the growth of the local area and economic 
development, both directly and indirectly, and plants try to recruit new staff from local communities.

5.2.3.2 New suppliers that were screened using environmental and social criteria

[GRI 308-1] [GRI 414-1]

Newlat Food SpA has not yet implemented a structured supplier selection process and, for now, the 
choice is mainly based on:

• possession of certain technical criteria,

• compliance with food requirements,

• financial-logistical reasons.

In 2019, as in 2018, there were no Newlat suppliers selected according to social and environmental 
criteria. Sometimes, the Group’s decision to rely mainly on local suppliers results in a reduced distance 
from Newlat’s plants, with the resulting benefits of the reduced environmental impact in terms of tran-
sportation.

Over the next three years, the Group will consider investing time in structuring and standardising a for-
malised process for the selection of suppliers that, in addition to the above parameters, also takes into 
account social and environmental criteria.

5.3 Personnel aspects
Newlat Group is aware that its strengths include Human Capital, made up of all Group employees and 
collaborators. Aware of the strategic importance of people, the Group is therefore committed to stimu-
lating the development of its employees, including engaging them in the “corporate spirit”.

Care, protection and development are parameters underlying the growth of Newlat Group. In the Code 
of Ethics, the Group recognizes the central role of human resources, considering the professional con-
tribution of people, offered within a framework of loyalty and mutual trust, an important success factor. 
For these reasons, the Group pays particular attention from the initial stages of recruitment and, subse-
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quently, in the career development phases of its staff. In particular, the Group focuses on finding the best 
match between the profiles required by the position and the candidates proposed during recruitment.

Furthermore, in the course of career development, especially for managers, considerations are made on 
the basis of the work carried out by existing personnel, although communication of these assessments 
does not always take place in a direct and formalized way, there not being a structured process in this 
area.

As a further aspect, the Group is committed to ensuring the growth of its staff, organising the training 
courses considered necessary for this purpose and encouraging staff at all levels to participate.

Attention is also paid to safeguarding and protecting the health and safety of its staff in the workplace. 
For this reason, the continuous monitoring and updating of the controls for these issues is carried out 
for each plant. The purpose is to ensure, among other aspects, full compliance with the law, the certifi-
cations obtained by the Group and the regulatory principles adopted by the latter.

Based on the data below, it can be seen that the Group seeks to provide fair treatment to workers, wi-
thout gender discrimination, aimed at promoting the professional growth of employees, based on the 
specific skills of the individual, professional profile, technical skills and aptitudes.

The Group aims to comply with legal standards and provisions on rights and the protection of diversity, 
and industrial relations and trade union relations are based on compliance with the provisions of laws 
and contracts.

5.3.1 In-depth look at COVID-19
Following the situation that emerged at the start of 2020 and the impact that the spread of SARS-CoV-2 
has had and is still having on a global scale, the Group, on a voluntary basis, considered it appropriate to 
report on the measures taken with specific reference to the management of its employees in this area.

In particular, the measures implemented by the parties responsible for ensuring the health and safety 
of workers include the following aspects:

• Timely updating of the Risk Assessment document in order to add the assessment of the risks 
associated with the evolution of the Covid-19 pandemic.

• Initial limitation of travel to the “Red” zones (Lodi and Corte dei Frati) and subsequent prohi-
bition following the issue of subsequent decrees.

• Communication to all personnel of good hygiene practices and the guidelines to be followed 
in the case of contact with people infected by SARS-CoV-2.

• Implementation of protocols for interaction with external parties (e.g. carriers, couriers, etc.) 
authorised to access the Group’s facilities, to ensure business continuity.

• Restriction of access in order to maintain safety distances in enclosed spaces and shared are-
as such as toilets and canteens;

• Activation of organisational protocols such as access to smart working, where possible, and 
alternating holidays.
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It should be noted, however, that the abovementioned measures are currently those considered to be 
the minimum and principal measures. They are, however, constantly being updated. The executive bo-
dies responsible for employee health and safety are aimed at the continuous monitoring of the evolu-
tion of events, in order to implement the responses considered most appropriate to the management 
of this crisis situation.

5.3.2 Human Resources Development

5.3.2.1 Information on employees and other workers 

[GRI 102-8]

The Group’s workforce did not vary significantly in the two-year period 2018-2019. Specifically, there is 
an increase in fixed-term contracts from 39 to 71. Likewise, there was a decrease in permanent workers 
from 922 units in 2018 to 896 in 2019.
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The Group’s activities are growing year on year, and likewise, full-time contracts have also increased 
from 838 units to 1,038, while part-time contracts remain more or less stable.

Some of the variations between the figures for personnel between 2018 and 2019 can also be explai-
ned by the change to the scope of consolidation. In particular, the scope of consolidation of the Italian 
company changed in 2018. Following the acquisition by Newlat Food Spa of Delverde and Newlat 
GmbH, the Group took ownership of the Fara San Martino and Mannheim plants, respectively.

5.3.2.2 Collective Bargaining Agreements

[GRI 102-41]

The Group pays attention to the protection of its employees and is committed to strictly complying with 
the regulations in force.

As can be seen from the data contained in the table below and referring to Newlat Food SpA, 100% of 
employees in the two-year period 2018-2019 are covered by contracts regulated by collective agree-
ments (hereinafter also referred to as “CBA”). 

As regards Newlat GmbH Deutschland, however, it is clear that not all employees are covered by such 
agreements.

Furthermore, the distinction indicated in the table between “Food Industry” CBA and “Industry Executi-
ves” CBA applies only to Italy.

Staff are contractually divided between those covered by contracts referring to national collective bar-
gaining agreements for the food industry and those covered by the contract for industry executives.
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5.3.2.3 New employee hires and employee turnover

[GRI 401-1]

The tables below show the data regarding resignations and recruitment during 2018 and 2019.

The relationship between new hires and turnover is stable, demonstrating that there have been no 
major changes to the workforce, above all net of the considerations to be made with specific reference 
to the change to the scope of consolidation.

In particular, it can be seen that the turnover and recruitment process is decreasing the average age of 
the workforce. In fact, for almost every employee over 50 who resigned, a young person under 30 was 
hired. The staff renewal process is one of the pillars for growth and the maintenance of competitive ad-
vantage. This process is ongoing and an attempt is being made to maintain the right balance between 
experience and innovation, thus ensuring that new resources can join the workforce.
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5.3.2.4 Average hours of training per year per employee 

[GRI 404-1]

The Group also places importance on the training of its employees, guaranteeing a continuous training 
process starting from recruitment.

The hours of training provided relate to both occupational health and safety courses and technical 
training, aimed at maintaining as well as expanding the know-how gained over time by the Group, thus 
guaranteeing the desired professional growth standards.

During the two-year period, there was an increase in the hours spent on staff training, mainly concen-
trated among manual workers, in particular linked to the new hires in 2019.

The effect is always to be considered net of changes to the scope of consolidation.

5.3.2.5 Percentage of employees receiving regular performance
and career development reviews

[GRI 404-3]

To date, the Group has not adopted a structured staff appraisal process for the Italian business. However, 
appropriate career development and professional growth programmes are guaranteed to staff. These 
aspects are achieved through the recognition of the skills and abilities of staff. 
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The data relating to Newlat GmbH Deutschland only are reported below.

5.3.2.6 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 

[GRI 405-1]

The Group considers the Board of Directors as its governance body, the composition of which is shown 
in the table below.
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The composition of employees shows that there is a process of generational turnaround between wor-
kers who are now close to retirement and younger workers. As previously indicated, this process is of 
particular interest for the future growth of the Group.
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5.3.2.7 Women to men ratio of basic salary and remuneration

[GRI 405-2]

For comparison purposes, the figure was considered in percentage terms and not in absolute terms.

As can be seen from the trend, there has been a gradual adjustment between the remuneration paid to 
both genders, especially with regard to manual workers who, in 2019, reached a ratio of 1 to 1.

In any case, the pay gap is narrowing, including with reference to managers and office personnel in 
2019.

9 The decimal places in the percentages have been reported for presentation purposes only, so as not to have a given percentage 
equal to zero.
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5.3.3 Occupational health and safety

5.3.3.1 Work-related injuries

[GRI 403-9]

Health and safety in the workplace is a subject treated with particular care, sensitivity and attention by 
the Group, which aims to ensure a safe workplace for all employees or third parties who have to operate 
within the Group’s premises.

The Group regularly monitors all accidents occurring in the workplace or while commuting between 
work and home. The personnel office, together with the HSO and the persons specifically delegated to 
deal with health and safety issues, continuously work to ensure the compliance of the plants with cur-
rent regulations and the standards required by the certifications obtained.

In this context, it should be remembered that the Group places particular importance on SMETA certi-
fication.

With reference to non-employees of the Group but still under the control of the organisation, a system 
for monitoring hours has not yet been established. Such workers mainly correspond to: cleaning, porte-
rage and concierge staff or any workers belonging to external companies. There are also some agency 
workers in some of the plants.

The data derive from the extraction of the final data from the information system used for payroll pro-
cessing.

The calculation of the rates took place considering a base of 200,000 hours worked.

At the moment, there are no data available regarding any accidents related to persons under the control 
of the organisation, but who are not directly employed. The Group will endeavour to report this infor-
mation over the next two years.
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5.4 Respect for human rights

5.4.1 Respect for human rights

5.4.1.1 Incidents of discrimination and corrective actions taken

[GRI 406-1]

In order to identify any cases of discrimination, the Group has appointed the task of carrying out specific 
audits to the control bodies involved in ensuring compliance with the adaptation of its model to specific 
reference regulations for these areas (i.e. Organisational Model as per Italian Legislative Decree 231/01, 
and Law 262/05).

In relation to the Organisational Model pursuant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/01, mechanisms have 
been adopted for reporting to the control bodies (Supervisory Board), which then takes charge of any 
complaints.

Following the activities carried out by the Supervisory Board for 2019 and following the investigations 
carried out by the company departments involved, it was found that there were no incidents.

Since there were no incidents of discrimination during the reference period, no corrective actions were 
necessary.

5.4.1.2 Operations that have been subject to human rights reviews
or impact assessments

[GRI 412-1]

The Group does not carry out operations that have been subject to human rights reviews or impact as-
sessments that its activities generate in respect for and protection of human rights.

However, the commitment to observe the principles contained in the following documents remains:

• Universal Declaration of Human Rights;

• National and International Reference Laws;

• Group Code of Ethics.

With regard to the activities and operations carried out by its suppliers, at the time of signing any 
agreements or contracts, the Group communicates and circulates its Organisational Model pursuant to 
Legislative Decree no. 231/01 and its Code of Ethics to them.

As mentioned in these documents, they contain the principles and regulations that the Group intends to 
apply to the protection of human rights. The contracts that the Group enters into with its suppliers also 
require compliance with the principle of fairness and good faith imposed by law.
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5.5 Fighting active and passive corruption

5.5.1 Ethics and Anti-Corruption

The Group agrees to maintain ethical behaviour towards its stakeholders through the dissemination of 
its Code of Ethics. 

The Code of Ethics includes, among other things, the Mission, ethical principles and rules of conduct, 
which, with specific reference to the fight against corruption, call for correct and transparent conduct, 
which includes aspects such as acting in the interest of the Group, always bringing the existence of 
potential conflicts of interest to the attention of management figures, and avoiding potential corruption. 
For this purpose, it is specified that corruption means, for example, promising, receiving or accepting 
money, gifts or other kinds of compensation in a personal capacity from third parties.

The Group is also committed to ensuring maximum transparency and traceability of all transactions and 
activities.

Each employee must act with the aim of protecting the Group’s value (meaning the set of reference 
stakeholders) and contribute to the performance of the internal control system, in compliance with the 
law and company regulations.

Each employee of the Group must ensure that decisions taken during the course of their activities are 
taken in the interests of the Group, in order to avoid potentially dangerous situations concerning an-
ti-corruption issues, such as acts of business courtesy – gifts – or unjustified forms of hospitality, and 
that occur in breach of internal company regulations and procedures.

All these measures are contained in the Code of Ethics and the Organisational Model pursuant to Legi-
slative Decree 231/01, which was updated during the 2019 reporting year.

The Group constantly seeks to improve its transparency in order to improve the effectiveness of the 
fight against corruption, including through compliance with the regulations and procedures required for 
issuers listed on the STAR segment of the Italian Stock Exchange. By adopting this Code on a voluntary 
basis, the Group is working towards improving its Corporate Governance mechanisms for greater tran-
sparency. Likewise, in 2020 the Group appointed an Officer in Charge as required by Law 262/2005 to 
further strengthen its systems to protect the interests of the Group and all its Stakeholders.

5.5.1.1 Communication and training about anti-corruption policies and procedures

[GRI 205-2]

The Code of Ethics and governance models are currently being updated, mainly due to the succession 
of acquisitions and extraordinary transactions that occurred in 2019. These changes have meant that 
members of the governance bodies have been provided with a communication of the anti-corruption 
procedures and policies adopted, but that no real training has yet been provided in this area. Following 
its listing on the STAR segment of the Italian Stock Exchange, the Group has established adequate 
control bodies and verification mechanisms for anti-corruption issues. In 2020, the Group will adopt an 
updated Organisational Model pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/01.
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In addition, someone has already been appointed to cover the position of Officer in Charge, as required 
by Law 262/2005.

Employees have been informed of the anti-corruption procedures and policies implemented by the 
Group, however specific training designed to disseminate knowledge of this aspect has not yet been 
provided.

5.5.1.2 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken

[GRI 205-3]

For reporting purposes, this aspect is accompanied by what is indicated for discrimination incidents. 
Therefore, for further details, please refer to what is indicated in the specific section mentioned above 
(5.4.1.1).

However, it should be noted that, following the verifications and investigations carried out by the bodies 
designated to monitor compliance with the law as well as internal company procedures, it is concluded 
that there were no confirmed corruption incidents during the reference period. Again, therefore, no cor-
rective actions were taken.
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VI. Table of Correlation to Legislative Decree 254/16
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VII. Annexes
Certifications held by the company
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VIII. Independent Auditing Firm’s Report

[GRI 102-56: External Assurance]



98
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



99
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

VIII. REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

[GRI 102-56: Assurance esterna]



REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND 
OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

in accordance with article 123-bis of the TUF
(traditional administration and control model)

Issuer: Newlat Food S.p.A. 
Website: www.newlat.it
Year to which the Report re-
fers: 2019 
Date of approval of the 
report: 19 March 2020
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GLOSSARY

Borsa Italiana: Borsa Italiana SpA

Code/Corporate Governance Code: the Code of Corporate Governance for Listed Companies approved 
in July 2018 by the Corporate Governance Committee and promoted by Borsa Italiana S.p.A., ABI, Ania, 
Assogestioni, Assonime and Confindustria, accessible to the public on the Corporate Governance Com-
mittee’s website at http://www.borsaitaliana.it/comitato-corporate-governance/codice/codice.htm.

Civil Code: the Italian Civil Code.

Board: the Issuer’s Board of Directors.

Board of Statutory Auditors: the Issuer’s Board of Statutory Auditors.

Issuer/Newlat/Company: the issuer of transferable securities to which the Report refers.

Year: the financial year to which the Report refers, i.e. the year ended 31 December 2019.

Newlat Group or Group: jointly the Issuer and the companies directly and/or indirectly controlled by it 
pursuant to article 2359 of the Civil Code and article 93 of the TUF.

Instructions to the Stock Exchange Regulation: the instructions to the Italian Stock Exchange Regula-
tion.

Consob Issuers Regulation: the Regulation issued by Consob with Resolution no. 11971 of 1999 (as sub-
sequently amended) on issuers.

Consob Markets Regulation: the Regulation issued by Consob with Resolution no. 20249 of 2017 on 
markets.

Consob Related Parties Regulation: the Regulation issued by Consob with Resolution no.17221 of 12 
March 2010 (as subsequently amended) on related party transactions.

Report: the report on corporate governance and ownership structure that companies are required to 
draw up pursuant to article 123-bis of the Consolidated Law on Finance.

Consolidated Law on Finance/TUF: Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998 (Consolidated Law on 
Finance), as subsequently amended.
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ISSUER PROFILE

Issuer’s corporate mission

The Issuer is at the head of the Newlat Group, an important player in the Italian and European agri-food 
sector, with a strong position in its domestic market and a significant presence in the German market. 
The Newlat Group is mainly active in the pasta, dairy and baked goods sectors, as well in special pro-
ducts such as health & wellness, gluten free and baby food. The Group’s products are marketed through 
numerous trademarks, many of which are known nationally and internationally. 

The Newlat Group has grown over the years thanks to the implementation of organic growth policies, 
but, above all, thanks to external growth, having perfected over the last 10 years multiple acquisitions 
from leading national and international counterparties in the agri-food sector.

The Newlat Group uses 11 production plants, of which 10 are located in Italy and one in Germany.

The Newlat Group’s product range is divided into the following business units: (i) Pasta; (ii) Milk Pro-
ducts; (iii) Dairy Products; (iv) Bakery Products; (v) Special Products (gluten-free products, low-protein pro-
ducts and products for infants and children up to three years); and (vi) Other Products (such as sauces, 
instant cups, salads and cured meats). In addition to products marketed under its own brands, Newlat 
produces for third parties and for the private label market.

The Newlat Group’s mission is to pursue the well-being of the consumer by producing healthy, high-qua-
lity products at affordable prices, promoting the best of Italian tradition and leveraging an international 
production and trade platform.

The Newlat Group’s vision is to purvey “Made in Italy” brands that are representative of healthy food 
and that we have worldwide distribution, and to act as a consolidating player in the agri-food sector. 
The activity of the Newlat Group also relies on the following reference values: healthy foods and solid 
business.

On 29 October 2019 (the “Trading Start Date”), the Issuer was admitted to trading on the STAR segment 
of the MTA with the ticker NWL.

Adopted corporate governance system

The Issuer’s corporate governance system reflects the bylaws approved on 8 July 2019 by the Company’s 
Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting (the “New Bylaws”) in order to adapt the Issuer’s corporate gover-
nance system downstream of the shares starting to be traded on the STAR segment of the MTA. 

The Company’s corporate governance system, downstream of the listing, is in line with the principles 
contained in the Corporate Governance Code and with the applicable legal and regulatory provisions.

The Company is organised according to the traditional model featuring the Shareholders’ Meeting, Bo-
ard of Directors and Board of Statutory Auditors. The characteristics of these bodies are provided below 
in the dedicated parts of the Report.

On 8 July 2019, the Issuer’s Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting awarded the audit firm PricewaterhouseCo-
opers S.p.A. (“PwC”), the assignment of independently auditing (including checking that books are being 
properly kept and operating events are being properly entered into accounting ledgers) the Issuer’s 
financial statements and the consolidated financial statements of the Newlat Group for the years 2019-



104
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

2027. Also by resolution of 8 July 2019, the Issuer’s Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting appointed PwC to 
carry out a limited audit of the Newlat Group’s condensed consolidated half-year financial statements 
for the six-month periods ending on 30 June 2020 - 2027.

As defined in article 2497 et seq. of the Civil Code, the Issuer is subject to the management and control 
of Newlat Group S.A. For more information on this management and control activity, please refer to 
paragraph 2 (l) of the Report.

Nature of SMEs

According to article 1, paragraph 1, letter w-quater 1) of the TUF, “SMEs” are taken to mean: “without 
prejudice to what is contemplated by other provisions of law, listed small and medium enterprises, whose 
sales also prior to the admission of their own shares for trading, have a sales volume of less than Euro 300 
million, or which have a market capitalisation of below Euro 500 million. Issuers of listed shares which have 
exceeded both the aforesaid limits for three consecutive years are not considered SMEs.” 

In view of its capitalisation values and aggregate turnover, the Issuer believes that from the Trading 
Start Date it can be qualified as an “SME”.

10 The aggregate turnover at 31 December 2019 was €321 million, and the capitalisation was €246 million.
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11 Qualified investors as defined in article 34-ter, paragraph 1, letter b) of the Issuers Regulation and foreign institutional investors 
within the meaning of  Regulation S of the United States Securities Act of 1933, as subsequently amended, with the exception of in-
vestors in the United States of America, Australia, Canada, Japan and any other country in which the offer of financial instruments 
is not permitted without authorisation by the competent authorities.

INFORMATION ON PROPRIETARY ASSETS (pursuant to article 123-
bis, paragraph 1 of the TUF) as at 19 March 2020

Structure of share capital

At the date of the Report, the share capital was subscribed and paid in for €40,780,482.00 (forty million 
seven hundred and eighty thousand four hundred and eighty-two/00), divided into 40,780,482 ordinary 
shares, without par value.

It should be noted that on 8 July 2019, the Issuer’s Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting approved a paid 
capital increase entailing a share split, excluding the option rights, pursuant to and for the purposes of 
article 2441, paragraph five, of the Civil Code, to be executed in one or more tranches, before 31 De-
cember 2020, for a maximum amount of €200,000,000, including any premium, by issuing a maximum 
number of 23,000,000 ordinary shares without par value, a maximum number set by the Board of Direc-
tors according to their issue price, to be offered as part of the private placement of the shares deriving 
from this capital increase, reserved for institutional investors11, essential to the Listing.

The capital increase described above was carried out in the amount of €13,780,482 by issuance of 
13,780,482 shares, as per the declarations pursuant to article 2444 of the Civil Code, filed with the Reg-
gio Emilia Register of Companies on 29 October 2019 and 29 November 2019 respectively.

Restrictions on the transfer of securities (pursuant to article 123- bis, paragraph 1, letter b) of the TUF)

There is no restriction on the free transfer of the Issuer’s shares nor any limitation on their possession, 
nor are there any approval clauses for access to Newlat’s ownership structure, pursuant to the law or 
the New Bylaws.

Within the framework of the agreements entered into for the Institutional Placement and, in particular, 
with the signing of the Institutional Contract on 24 October 2019, lock-up commitments were made to 
the Offer Coordinators (such as Equita SIM, HSBC France and Société Générale), starting from the date 
of signing the aforementioned contract until 180 days from the start of trading by the Company (the 
“Company Lock-Up Agreement”), and until 360 days from the start of trading by the shareholder Newlat 
Group S.A. (“Newlat Group”), directly and indirectly (the “Newlat Group Lock-Up Agreement”).

These agreements provide that the Company and Newlat Group, for the respective periods of time re-
ferred to above, subject to the prior written consent of the Offer Coordinators: (i) will not carry out sales 
transactions, disposals and/or any transactions that have as their object and/or effect the allocation 
and/or transfer to third parties, for any reason and in any form, directly or indirectly, of the Issuer’s sha-
res, including transactions as a result of which option rights or collateral on the same shares are created 
and/or transferred; (ii) will not approve and/or carry out derivative transactions which have the same 
effects, even if only on results, as the transactions referred to above; and (iii) will not publicly announce 
that they intend to carry out any of the acts referred to in letters (i) and (ii) above.
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Significant shareholdings (pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 1, letter c) of the TUF

On the basis of the information available at the date of this Report, shareholders that hold stakes equal 
to or greater than 5% of the voting capital, directly and/or indirectly, including through intermediaries, 
trustees and subsidiaries, are shown in the following table:

Securities conferring special rights
(pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 1, letter d) of the TUF)

At the date of the Report there are no securities conferring special rights of control.

Under article 6 of the New Bylaws, by way of derogation from the rule that each share entitles its holder 
to one vote, a shareholder is entitled to a double vote per share (and therefore to two votes per share) 
if both the following conditions are met: (a) the voting right resides with said shareholder by virtue of a 
legitimating real right (full ownership with voting rights, bare ownership with voting rights or usufruct 
with voting rights) (the “Legitimating Real Right”) for a continuous period of at least 36 months from 
a date coinciding with or after the Trading Start Date and also taking into account, if applicable, the 
period prior to the Trading Start Date; (b) the conditions under (a) are verified: (i) by continuous registra-
tion, for a period of at least 36 months, in the special list created and regulated by article 6 of the New 
Bylaws (the”Special List”), and by special notice attesting to the ownership of the shares on the date 
of expiry of the continuous period, issued by the intermediary with which the shares are deposited in 
accordance with current legislation. The conditions for the allocation of the increased vote are assessed 
by the Board of Directors in the person of the Chairman or of directors delegated for this purpose, assi-
sted where necessary by specially appointed colleagues.

The Company shall register and update the List on a quarterly basis or whenever dictated by sector re-
gulations and, in any case, by the record date for the Shareholders’ Meeting, provided that the allotment 
conditions of the previous paragraph have occurred before said record date. 

The increase of voting rights is also calculated for the purposes of determining constituent and delibe-
rative quorums that refer to portions of share capital, but it does not affect the non-voting rights due 
by virtue of the possession of certain portions of share capital.

12 Under the Co-Packing Agreement, “change of control” means where control of the Company, defined as the power to direct the 
management and policies of an entity, be it through the possession of voting rights, a contract or some other basis, is obtained, 
directly or indirectly, by a person other than the one who controls the Company at the date of the Co-Packing Agreement.
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Employee ownership: mechanism for exercising voting rights (pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 1, 
letter e) of the TUF)

The New Bylaws make no special provision for the exercise of employees’ voting rights.

Restrictions on voting rights (pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 1, letter f) of the TUF)

There are no special provisions in the New Bylaws that restrict or limit voting rights or separate the 
financial rights attached to securities from their ownership.

Shareholder agreements (pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 1, letter g) of the TUF)

At the date of the Report, the Issuer is not aware of any shareholder agreements pertaining to the Sha-
res within the meaning of article 122 of the TUF.

Change of control clauses (pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 1, letter h) of the TUF) and Bylaws 
provisions on takeover bids (pursuant to articles 104, paragraph 1-ter and 104-bis, paragraph 1)

On 5 October 2015, Heinz Italia S.p.A., as a customer, the Issuer, as a supplier, and Newlat Group S.A., as 
guarantor, entered into a production and supply contract, subsequently amended on 4 November 2015, 
27 January 2016, 28 April 2016, 24 October 2016, 4 April 2017 and 27 November 2017 (the “Co-Packing 
Agreement”), governing the terms and conditions of the production, packaging and supply by the Com-
pany of certain products (including, but not limited to, biscuits, pasta, powdered milk, liquid milk, lyophi-
lisates, cereals, flour, etc.) to Heinz Italia S.p.A.

Under the Co-Packing Agreement, Heinz Italia S.p.A. has the right to terminate the contract, subject to 
prior written notice of between 60 and 90 days, in certain cases, including a change of control of the 
Company12.

The New Bylaws do not derogate from the passivity rule provisions referred to in article 104, paragraph 
1 and 1-bis of the TUF, nor do they make provision for application of the neutralisation rules referred to 
in article 104-bis, paragraphs 2 and 3, of the TUF.

Powers to increase the share capital and authorisations to purchase treasury shares (pursuant to article 
123-bis, paragraph 1, letter m) of the TUF)

Pursuant to the New Bylaws, the Shareholders’ Meeting, by means of a special resolution adopted in an 
extraordinary session, may grant the Board of Directors the power, pursuant to article 2443 of the Civil 
Code, to increase the capital on one or more occasions up to a specified amount and for a maximum 
period of five years from the date of the resolution, also excluding the option right. The capital increase 
resolution adopted by the Board of Directors in execution of this delegation of power must be recorded 
in the minutes drawn up by the Notary.

Without prejudice to the other cases of exclusion or limitation of the option right provided for by appli-
cable laws and regulations, in paid capital increase resolutions, the option right may be excluded up to 
a maximum of 10% (ten per cent) of the existing share capital, provided that the issue price corresponds 
to the market value of the shares and this is confirmed in a special report by an independent auditor or 
an external audit firm pursuant to article 2441, paragraph 4 of the Civil Code.

The New Bylaws provide that the Company may issue equity instruments, in compliance with the pro-
visions of law.

At the date of the Report, the Board of Directors was delegated neither to increase the share capital 
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pursuant to article 2443 of the Civil Code nor to issue equity instruments.

At the date of the Report, the Shareholders’ Meeting had not authorised the purchase of treasury shares 
pursuant to articles 2357 et seq. of the Civil Code.

Management and control activities (pursuant to articles 2497 et seq. of the Civil Code)

The Issuer is subject to management and control activities by Newlat Group S.A. pursuant to article 
2497 et seq. of the Civil Code.

* * *

It should also be noted that the information required by article 123-bis, paragraph 1, letter l) of the TUF 
(“the rules applicable to the appointment and replacement of directors, as well as to the amendment of 
the articles of association, if different from laws and regulations applicable in a supplementary man-
ner”) is illustrated in the section of this Report dedicated to the Board of Directors (Section 4.1).
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COMPLIANCE

The Issuer intends to adhere to the main recommendations of the Code of Corporate Governance for 
Listed Companies promoted by Borsa Italiana S.p.A., as last amended in July 2018 (hereinafter the 
“Corporate Governance Code”) and accessible to the public on the Borsa Italiana website (https://www.
borsaitaliana.it/comitato-corporate-governance/codice/codice.htm).

In accordance with the “comply or explain” principle underlying the Corporate Governance Code and in 
line with Recommendation (EU) No 208/2014, this Report acknowledges the recommendations that the 
Company has not, at present, decided to adapt (whether partially or in full).

Neither the Issuer nor its subsidiaries are subject to non-Italian legal provisions that influence the Is-
suer’s corporate governance structure.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

APPOINTMENTS AND REPLACEMENTS
(pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 1, letter l) of the TUF)

Appointments

The New Bylaws, in compliance with the provisions of article 147-ter of the TUF, provide for the list 
voting mechanism to be used for appointing directors.

The Company is administered by a Board of Directors with no fewer than 3 (three) members and no 
more than 15 (fifteen).

The appointment of the Board of Directors is resolved by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on the 
basis of lists submitted by shareholders, in accordance with the procedure described below, without 
prejudice to other mandatory laws and regulations.

Shareholders who, at the time, hold – either individually or together with other submitting sharehol-
ders – a stake at least equal to the share determined by Consob pursuant to the applicable laws and 
regulations, are entitled to submit the lists. Ownership of the minimum stake is determined in relation 
to shares that are registered to the shareholder on the day when the list is submitted to the Company, it 
being understood that the relevant certification may be produced between submission and the deadline 
for publication of the list.

Each shareholder, the shareholders adhering to a shareholders’ agreement pursuant to article 122 of 
the TUF, the parent company, subsidiaries, joint ventures and the other entities between which there is 
a direct or indirect link, pursuant to applicable laws and regulations, may submit - or contribute to the 
submission, even through an intermediary or trust company - and vote for only one list.

Each candidate may appear on only one list under penalty of ineligibility.

Each list shall bear the names, marked with a sequential number, of no more than 15 (fifteen) candida-
tes.

Each list must include at least some candidates - in accordance with the provisions of applicable legi-
slation - who meet the independence requirements prescribed by applicable laws or regulations (in-
cluding the market regulations of Borsa Italiana S.p.A.), indicating them separately and placing one of 
them at the top of the list.

For the period of application of applicable laws and regulations on gender balance, each list that pre-
sents a number of candidates equal to or greater than 3 (three) must include candidates of both gen-
ders, at least in the minimum proportion required by applicable laws and regulations, as specified in the 
notice of convocation of the Shareholders’ Meeting. 

The following must be filed when the lists are submitted:

a) information on the shareholders who have submitted the list, including their stake;
b) a declaration by shareholders other than those who hold, even jointly, a controlling interest 
or a relative majority, certifying the absence of any direct or indirect link, within the meaning 
of applicable laws and regulations, with the latter;
c) the curriculum vitae of the candidates and a statement in which each candidate declares, un-
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der his or her own responsibility, that there are no grounds for ineligibility and incompatibility 
and that he or she fulfils the conditions for appointment;

d) information on candidates and indication of any eligibility to qualify as an independent 
director in accordance with applicable legislation and with the codes of conduct on corporate 
governance adopted by the Company;

e) a declaration from each candidate accepting their candidacy;

f) any other additional or different declaration, information and/or document required by ap-
plicable laws and regulations.

The lists are filed with the Company within the deadlines set out in applicable laws and regulations, as 
indicated in the notice of convocation at the Company’s registered office or also communicated remo-
tely, and made available to the public under the terms and conditions set out in applicable laws and 
regulations.

Any list that fails to comply with the above provisions shall be deemed not to have been submitted.

Each person entitled to vote may vote for only one list. Each shareholder votes for a particular list and 
therefore all the candidates indicated therein, without the possibility of variations or exclusions.

Candidates will be appointed from the lists that have obtained the highest number of votes according 
to the following criteria:

a) the list that obtained the highest number of votes (“Majority List”) provides all but one of the 
directors to be elected, drawn in the sequential order in which they were listed;

b) the list that obtained the second highest number of votes and which is not connected even 
indirectly with the shareholders who have submitted or voted for the Majority List (“Minority 
List”) provides one director, that being the candidate who appears first on said list.

If votes are tied between lists, the Shareholders’ Meeting, using the majorities specified in law, will vote 
again solely on the tied lists, with the list obtaining the highest number of votes during this second 
vote prevailing.

If the above methods fail to produce a Board of Directors that complies with provisions on independence 
requirements, the following procedure is followed: the candidate who does not meet the independent 
director requirements established by applicable laws and regulations and was elected last sequentially 
from the Majority List will be replaced by the first candidate sequentially from the same list who does 
meet said requirements. If this procedure should also fail to ensure the necessary number of directors 
who meet the independence requirements established by applicable laws and regulations, candidates 
who do meet said requirements will be presented and the Shareholders’ Meeting shall choose replace-
ments using the majorities specified in law.

If the above methods fail to produce a Board of Directors that complies with provisions on gender ba-
lance, the candidates of the most represented gender elected last sequentially from the Majority List are 
replaced with the first unelected candidates of the other gender who appear on the same list; where this 
is not possible, in order to ensure compliance with the aforementioned provisions on gender balance, the 
Shareholders’ Meeting shall appoint the missing directors using the methods and majorities specified by 
law, without application of the list vote.

In any case, lists that have not obtained a percentage of votes equal to at least half of that required for 
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their submission will not be taken into account.

If only one list has been submitted, the Shareholders’ Meeting will vote on it and if it obtains a relative 
majority, the candidates listed will be elected as directors in sequential order, up to the number set by 
the Shareholders’ Meeting, without prejudice to the obligation to appoint a number of directors who are 
independent pursuant to article 147-ter of the TUF equal to the minimum number established by the New 
Bylaws and by applicable laws and regulations, and to comply with the rules on gender balance, where 
applicable. If the minimum number of independent and least-represented-gender directors established 
by the New Bylaws and by current laws and regulations is not elected, the Shareholders’ Meeting will re-
place the directors with the lowest sequential number who do not fulfil the relevant requirements with 
the subsequent candidates from the same list who do. If applying this process fails to identify suitable 
replacements, the Shareholders’ Meeting will hold another vote using the majorities specified by law. In 
this case, replacements will be made starting with the candidates with the lowest sequential number.

If the number of candidates in the Majority List and the Minority List is lower than the number of directors 
to be elected, the remaining directors shall be elected by the Shareholders’ Meeting with the majorities 
provided for by law, without prejudice to the obligation of the Shareholders’ Meeting to appoint a number 
of independent and least-represented gender directors that is not less than the minimum established by 
the New Bylaws and by applicable laws and regulations. All directors will be appointed using the same 
methods and majorities even if no list is submitted.

Replacement

Pursuant to article 15 of the New Bylaws, should the legal or regulatory requirements for the office of a direc-
tor, including the requirement for independence, no longer be met, this shall entail the forfeiture of the office. 

In addition, should the office of one more directors be terminated for any reason, they are replaced freely in 
accordance with the provisions of article 2386 of the Civil Code, choosing where possible from the candi-
dates originally presented on the same list as the outgoing director who have re-affirmed their candidacy, 
without prejudice to the obligation to maintain the minimum number of independent directors pursuant to 
article 147-ter of the TUF established by the New Bylaws and by law, and to the obligation to maintain gen-
der balance according to applicable laws and regulations.

It should be noted that the provisions of law, the TUF, the New Bylaws and the Code are the only rules on the 
composition of the Board of Directors with which the Issuer need comply.

Succession plans

At the date of this Report, partly due to the recent listing, no plan for the succession of executive directors 
was adopted. 

However, the Board of Directors will initiate an analysis exercise to assess the appropriateness, partly in view 
of the current governance structure, of defining measures to ensure the continuity of future management, 
including through the evaluation of a succession plan.
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COMPOSITION
(pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 2, letters d) and d-bis) of the TUF)

Pursuant to article 12 of the New Bylaws, the Company is administered by a Board of Directors with no fewer 
than 3 (three) members, and no more than 15 (fifteen), with adequate competence and professionalism. The 
directors remain in office for the period set by the shareholders’ appointment resolution, up to a maximum of 
3 (three) financial years, and are eligible for re-election. Their term shall expire on the date of the Sharehol-
ders’ Meeting called to approve the financial statements for the last financial year of their term, unless there 
are grounds for termination and forfeiture as provided for by law and by the New Bylaws.

The Issuer’s Board of Directors in office on the date of this Report comprises seven members, as resolved by 
the Issuer’s Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on 8 July 2019. 

The Board of Directors will remain in office for a period of three years, until approval of the financial state-
ments for the year ending 31 December 2021. 

The table below displays the composition of the Issuer’s Board of Directors as of the Trading Start Date.
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Below is a summary of the personal and professional characteristics of the members of the Board of 
Directors.

Angelo Mastrolia – born in Campagna (SA) on 5 December 1964, he obtained his diploma in surveying in 
1982 and attended the Faculty of Law at the University of Salerno. His entrepreneurial activity began in 
the 1980s in the milk and milk-based products sector, taking on the role of manager in the family com-
pany Piana del Sele Latteria S.p.A. After a stint in the leasing and real estate and industrial investments 
sectors, and in the supply of furnishings for luxury boats, in 2004, through the company TMT Finance SA 
(now Newlat Group), he began a series of acquisitions in the food & beverage sector, including the acqui-
sition of Industrie Alimentari Molisane S.r.l., a producer of Pezzullo, Corticella and Guacci pasta, and in 
2008 the acquisition of Newlat S.p.A. by Parmalat S.p.A., following approval from the antitrust authority. 
Following the acquisition of Newlat, Angelo Mastrolia continued, in his role as controlling shareholder 
and Executive Chairman, to ensure that the Newlat Group consolidated and grew in the domestic and 
international food & beverage sector, including through the acquisitions of the Birkel and Drei Glocken 
brands, the production plant at Ozzano Taro and, finally, Delverde in 2019.

Giuseppe Mastrolia – born in Battipaglia (SA) on 11 February 1989, he obtained his diploma in accoun-
ting in 2007 from the Kennedy Institute of Battipaglia (SA). He studied Law at the University of Bologna 
and, since 2008, he has been a member of the Issuer’s Board of Directors and held the positions of Chief 
Commercial Officer and Chief Executive Officer (with responsibility for Sales & Marketing).

Stefano Cometto – born in Monza on 25 September 1972, he received his Law degree from the Univer-
sity of Bologna in 1998 and obtained his Doctorate in Law from Nebrija University in Madrid in 2013. 
From 1998 to 1999 he was Lieutenant in the Finance Police. From 1999 to 2000 he was an internal 
lawyer in the credit department of San Paolo IMI S.p.A., and from 2000 to 2001 he was an employment 
lawyer for Unicredit S.p.A. (at the time, Rolo Banca 1473). From 2001 to 2007 he worked at Confindu-
stria as an official in charge of industrial and trade union relations, as well as a legal adviser for trade 
unions. In 2008 he joined the Newlat Group, where he is the Issuer’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Operating Officer.

Benedetta Mastrolia – born in Rome on 18 October 1995, she earned a BA in Economics and Business 
from the University of London in 2017 and an MA in Corporate Finance from City, University of London’s Cass 
Business School in 2018. In 2014 she joined the Issuer’s Board of Directors.

Emanuela Paola Banfi – born in Milan on 20 January 1969, obtained her degree in Business Economics 
from the Luigi Bocconi Commercial University in 1993. Since 1999 she has been included in the Regi-
ster of Independent Auditors. From 1994 to 1997 she served as Senior Consultant at Arthur Andersen 
Corporate Finance. From 1998 to 2000 she held the position of investment manager at private equity firm 
FIDIA, from 2000 to 2005 she was Executive Director at Lehman Brothers’ Equity and Debt Capital Markets 
division in London, and then from 2005 to 2013 she held the position of Managing Director in Société 
Générale’s Coverage division in Milan. Between 2013 and 2014 she was an advisor at Phinance Partner, 
from 2014 to 2019 she was Senior Relationship Banker Natixis SA in Milan, and she was due to take on 
the position of Director at Deutsche Bank in Milan from the beginning of 2020.

Valentina Montanari – born in Milan on 20 March 1967, she obtained her degree in Economics and Bu-
siness from the State University of Pavia in 1999. Since 1995 she has been enrolled in the Register of 
the Order of Chartered Accountants of Milan and worked as an auditor at the Register of the Ministry 
of Justice. In 1996 she obtained a Master’s Degree in Management and Financial Policy and in 1997 she 
obtained a Master’s Degree in Corporate Finance, both from SDA Bocconi. She has built up significant 
experience as chief financial officer of listed Italian groups and as an independent director. From 2003 to 
2013 she worked at RCS MediaGroup S.p.A., working as, among other things, director of several compa-
nies belonging to the group, group director of administration and taxation and group CFO. From 2012 to 
2013 she was group CFO at Gefran S.p.A. and from 2013 to 2016 she held the same position at Il Sole 
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24 Ore S.p.A. From 2017 to 2018 she served as Group CFO of AC Milan and since April 2019 she has held 
the same position, along with that of financial reporting officer, at FNM Group S.p.A.

Eric Sandrin – born in Saint-Amand-Montrond on 13 August 1964, he obtained a degree in Political 
Science from the Institut d’études politiques in Paris in 1985, a Master’s degree (DEA) in private law from 
Paris XII University (Paris-Est Créteil) in 1990 and a Master’s degree from Cornell Law School in 1994. In 
1990 he began his career as a lawyer at the Cleary Gottlieb law firm in New York. From 2000 to 2008 he 
was general counsel art General Electric, before performing the same role at Atos Origin from 2008 to 
2011. In 2011 he joined the SCOR Group, holding the position of general counsel until 2014. Since 2014 
he has been general counsel at the Kering Group.

Please refer to Table 2 in the appendix for more details on the composition of the Board of Directors.
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Diversity policies

Although the Board of Directors has not adopted a specific policy, it considers that the business can be 
managed effectively only if the Board comprises members with different managerial and professional 
skills, as well as a balance of gender, age and seniority.

In order to achieve this, the Board shall from time to time, when it is up for re-election, express to the 
shareholders its leanings as regards the managerial and professional profiles it believes should sit on 
the Board, taking gender balance into account.

Maximum number of positions held in other companies

The Board of Directors has not yet defined general criteria regarding the maximum number of mana-
gement and control positions in other companies that can be considered compatible with effectively 
performing the role of director at the Issuer.

However, it is the Board’s intention to carry out such an assessment from time to time, taking into ac-
count the opinion of the Remuneration and Appointments Committee (in compliance with the provi-
sions of article 5, implementation criterion 5.C.1.) and mainly using as evaluation criteria: (i) the role 
of the director within the Company (executive, non-executive, independent); (ii) the nature and size 
of the entity in which the positions are held and the role of the director with respect to such entities 
(including, among other things, the corporate purpose of the entity, the governance structure, the tasks 
assigned and the powers awarded); and (iii) whether these entities belong to the same group as the Is-
suer. Each director also has a duty to assess the compatibility of the director and statutory auditor posts 
they hold in other companies listed on regulated markets, in financial, banking and insurance firms or in 
other companies of significant size, with being able to properly fulfil their tasks as director of the Issuer.

The table in Annex A shows the main positions held by members of the Board of Directors.

Induction Programme

In view of the company’s recent listing, there is currently no provision for a specific induction program-
me. However, during the meetings of the Board of Directors, the Chairman ensured that the directors 
were provided with adequate knowledge of the business sector in which the Company operates, the 
company dynamics and their evolution, the principles of proper risk management and the applicable 
regulatory and self-regulatory framework.



117
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

ROLE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
(pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 2, letter d) of the TUF)

In compliance with article 1, principle 1.P.2. of the Corporate Governance Code, the Board of Directors 
pursues the main objective of creating value for shareholders over a medium-/long-term horizon.

The Board of Directors, in particular, plays a central role in the company organisation and is responsible 
for determining and pursuing the Company’s strategic, industrial and financial objectives, as well as 
checking that the necessary controls are in place to monitor the Company’s performance.

Pursuant to article 16 of the New Bylaws, the Board of Directors is vested with all powers for the ordi-
nary and extraordinary management of the Company.

The Board of Directors is responsible, without prejudice to the limits of the law and without the power 
of delegation, for decisions relating to: a) mergers and demergers, in the cases referred to in articles 
2505 and 2505-bis of the Civil Code, also as referred to in article 2506-ter of the Civil Code; b) the 
establishment and closure of branches; c) which directors can formally represent the company; d) pos-
sible capital reductions should one or more shareholders withdraw; e) bringing the Bylaws into line 
with legal and regulatory provisions; f) the transfer of the registered office within Italy; g) the issuance 
of bonds within the limits provided for by applicable laws and regulations.

The Board of Directors:

• reviews and approves the strategic, industrial and financial plans of the Company and the Group, re-
gularly monitoring their implementation

• defines the Issuer’s corporate governance system and the Group’s structure;

• defines the nature and level of risk compatible with the Company’s strategic objectives, including in its 
assessments all risks that may become significant in terms of sustainability in the medium to long term;

• assesses the overall operational performance, taking into account, in particular, the information re-
ceived from the delegated bodies, as well as periodically comparing the results achieved with targets;

• assesses the adequacy of the organisational, administrative and accounting structure of the Issuer as 
well as that of strategically important subsidiaries, with particular reference to the Internal Control and 
Risk Management System (ICRMS);

• establishes the frequency, in any case not exceeding every quarter, with which the delegated bodies 
must report to the Board on the activity carried out when exercising the powers conferred on them;

• decides on the operations of the Issuer and its subsidiaries, where such operations are strategic or of 
significant importance to the Issuer’s results, assets and liabilities and cash flows.

• carries out, at least once a year, an evaluation of the functioning of the Board and its committees and 
of their size and composition, taking into account, inter alia, elements such as the professional characte-
ristics and experience (managerial or otherwise) of the members, as well as their gender and seniority 
with an eye on diversity criteria;

• adopts, in order to ensure proper management of corporate information and as recommended by the 
Chief Executive Officer or the Chairman of the Board of Directors, a procedure for the internal mana-
gement and external disclosure of documents and information concerning the Issuer, with particular 
reference to inside information.
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In compliance with the provisions of article 2381 of the Civil Code and with implementation criterion 
1.C.1., letter c) of the Corporate Governance Code, during the current year, the Board assessed, on 19 
March 2020, the adequacy of the Issuer’s organisational, administrative and general accounting structu-
re, with particular reference to the ICRMS.

At the same time, the Board evaluated the general operating performance, taking into account the in-
formation received from the CEO, and periodically comparing the results achieved with targets.

Even in the absence of a formal policy thereon, usually in the week preceding a meeting of the Board 
of Directors, comprehensive documentation is provided regarding the various items on the agenda, so 
that the directors are able to deliberate with knowledge of the facts. Also in order to ensure proper and 
in-depth knowledge of the individual items on the agenda, from time to time, depending on the topics 
discussed, the Company’s senior managers are invited to attend the meetings of the Board of Directors.
Pursuant to article 17 of the New Bylaws, the Board of Directors is validly constituted with the presence 
of a majority of its serving members and validly resolves by absolute majority of the directors present. 
In the event of a tie, the vote of whoever is chairing the meeting shall prevail.

Pursuant to article 19 of the New Bylaws, the Board of Directors may delegate, within the limits pro-
vided for by current laws and regulations, some of its responsibilities to an executive committee com-
posed of some of its members or to one or more of its members, and determine their powers and, after 
consulting the Board of Statutory Auditors, their remuneration. The Board of Directors may also set up 
internal committees with advisory and recommendatory functions, and determine their powers partly 
in order to ensure that the corporate governance system conforms to codes of conduct adopted by the 
Company.

The Board of Directors may also appoint General Managers and special attorneys for certain acts or 
categories of acts, and assign their respective powers.

The Board of Directors appoints a Financial Reporting Officer, subject to the mandatory but non-binding 
opinion of the Board of Statutory Auditors, and can remove said officer if necessary. The Board of Direc-
tors, pursuant to article 154-bis, paragraph 4 of the TUF, ensures that the Financial Reporting Officer 
has adequate means and powers to carry out the tasks assigned to them by law, and that there is com-
pliance with administrative and accounting procedures.

Pursuant to article 17 of the New Bylaws, the Chairman of the Board of Directors convenes and chairs 
the Board of Directors, sets the agenda and coordinates its work.

Convocation takes place using any and all suitable means in consideration of notice times, sent as a 
rule at least 5 (five) calendar days before the meeting to each member of the Board and the Board of 
Statutory Auditors; in case of urgency, this time frame may be reduced to 24 (twenty-four) hours before 
the meeting. In any case, meetings of the Board of Directors will be deemed validly constituted, even in 
the absence of a formal convocation, if all the serving directors and the majority of the serving statutory 
auditors are present, and all eligible parties have been previously informed of the meeting and have 
not opposed the discussion of what is on the agenda. The Board of Directors may also be convened by 
the Board of Statutory Auditors or even by each individual statutory auditor, pursuant to article 151 of 
the TUF.

Meetings of the Board of Directors are also held by video or teleconference provided that each of the 
participants can be identified by all the others and that each is able to intervene in real time during 
the discussion of the agenda items, as well as to receive, transmit and view documents. Provided the-
se circumstances are in place, the meeting shall be deemed to have been held at the place where the 
Chairman is present.
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The Board – also from time to time – appoints the Secretary of the Board, either from within or outside 
its own members.

The deliberations of the Board shall be recorded in minutes that are signed by the Chairman and the 
Secretary.

In accordance with article 18 of the New Bylaws, the remuneration payable to directors is determined by 
the Shareholders’ Meeting. Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for expenses incurred in the perfor-
mance of their duties. The remuneration of directors with special responsibilities, as defined in the New 
Bylaws, shall be determined by the Board of Directors after consulting the Board of Statutory Auditors.
Pursuant to article 27 of the New Bylaws, the Board of Directors may, during the year and when it deems 
it appropriate, distribute interim dividends for the same year, in compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations.

Dividends not collected within five years from the date on which they become due are retained by the 
Company.

In accordance with the provisions of implementation criterion 6.C.4 of the Corporate Governance Code, 
only a non-significant portion of the remuneration of non-executive directors is linked to the Issuer’s 
results. Non-executive directors shall not receive share-based remuneration plans unless determined in 
a reasoned decision by the Shareholders’ Meeting.

In 2019, the Board of Directors held 11 meetings of an average duration of 1 hour and with the regular 
participation of members of the Board of Directors and Board of Statutory Auditors.

Six meetings of the Board of Directors have been scheduled for the current year, of which three have al-
ready been held at the date of this Report, namely on 15 January 2020, 19 February 2020 and 19 March 
2020, the latter being called to approve this Report.

Owing to the topics discussed during the most recent meetings – namely those on 15 November 2019, 
15 January 2020, 19 February 2020 and 19 March 2020 – the CFO and Financial Reporting Officer, Rocco 
Sergi, was in attendance, while the General Manager, Simone Aiuti, took part in the 15 January 2020 
meeting.

Self-assessment of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors intends to adhere to the recommendations of the Corporate Governance Code 
in terms of self-assessment of the administrative body and its committees. As such, at the meeting of 
the Board of Directors on 19 March 2020, it carried out the periodic verification that its members still 
fulfilled all their relevant requirements, which they did.

DELEGATED BODIES

Chief Executive Officers

Pursuant to article 19 of the New Bylaws, the Board of Directors may delegate, within the limits provi-
ded for by current laws and regulations, some of its responsibilities to one or more of its members, and 
determine their powers and, after consulting the Board of Statutory Auditors, their remuneration. 
By resolution of 8 July 2019, the Board of Directors, without prejudice to the responsibilities, powers and 
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entitlements reserved by law and by the Bylaws for the Board of Directors, the Chairman and other cor-

porate functions, delegated the following powers to the CEOs Giuseppe Mastrolia and Stefano Cometto:

Giuseppe Mastrolia:
All powers of ordinary and extraordinary administration:

- with no amount limit in all intra-group transactions,

- up to €300,000 (three hundred thousand euros) in relation to third parties independently and 
with sole signing authority,

- without any amount limit with the joint signature with another member of the Board of 
Directors, except for matters and activities relating to the environment, occupational safety 
and product health, which are the exclusive competence of the CEO(s) or managers who have 
assumed the specific managerial responsibilities and powers, or for those matters that the law 
or the bylaws dictate are the exclusive competence of the Board of Directors and the Sharehol-
ders’ Meeting

Stefano Cometto:
All powers relating to the function of employer, for all divisions, business units, plants and local units/
warehouses belonging to the Company, including activities aimed at implementing and complying with 
the rules on workplace safety and hygiene, protection of workers’ health and protection of the envi-
ronment, with the power of delegation, as well as all tasks resulting from and/or related to the powers 
specified herein.

In particular, in his capacity as an employer and in addition to the Company’s signature and power of 
representation, Stefano Cometto is awarded powers in the following areas, among others:

1) employment contracts

2) production organisation

3) food hygiene, safety and safety

4) environmental protection

5) management and control powers

6) leases, real rights

7) purchase and sale of goods and services; with the following amount limits:

- movable property up to €100,000 for each transaction when signed individually and up to 
€300,000 when signed jointly with any other member of the Board of Directors;

- motor vehicles of all kinds, aircraft and boats up to €100,000 for each transaction when si-
gned individually and up to €300,000 when signed jointly with any other member of the Board 
of Directors;

- supplies and provisions for any type of use that must have an initial maximum duration of one 
year, subject to renewal, and up to an annual amount of €100,000;
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- works contracts, tenders, consultancies and freelance arrangements, including on an ongoing 
basis, drawing up the related contracts up to an annual amount of €100,000.

8) collections, disposals and receipts

9) banking and financial transactions, with the following amount limits:

- €100,000 for: withdrawals from the Company’s bank accounts and payments to its creditors; 
drawing or accepting bills of exchange; requesting cashier’s checks; collecting cheque books 
to be issued on the Company’s current accounts and signing the related request; issuing state-
ments of indemnity,

- €80,000 for: opening, modifying or closing post office current accounts; carrying out any ope-
ration permitted on such accounts including withdrawals and the issuance of postal orders; 
collecting; issuing receipt and discharge in due form for sums or anything else due to the com-
pany from private individuals, firms, entities, institutions, companies of any kind, insurers, banks 
and pension funds.

10) insurance

11) contracts, tenders and licences

12) judicial proceedings

13) transactions and arbitration

14) tax compliance and obligations
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Chairman of the Board of Directors

The Chairman of the Board of Directors exercises the functions provided for by applicable laws and 
regulations. In particular: (i) he/she has powers of representation; (ii) chairs the Shareholders’ Meeting; 
(iii) convenes and chairs the Board of Directors, sets its meeting agendas, coordinates its work and en-
sures that adequate information on the agenda items is provided to all directors.

By resolution of 8 July 2019, the Board of Directors delegated to its Chairman all the powers of ordinary 
and extraordinary administration, except for matters and activities relating to the environment, occu-
pational safety and product health, which are the exclusive competence of the CEO(s) or managers who 
have assumed the specific managerial responsibilities and powers.

The Chairman is not granted powers in relation to any matters that, under the law or the Bylaws, are the 
exclusive competence of the Board or the Shareholders’ Meeting.

Independent Directors

At year-end, the Issuer’s Board of Directors included 3 (three) directors who met the independence re-
quirements set out in article 147-ter of the TUF and the recommendations of the Corporate Governance 
Code. The independent directors of the Issuer are indicated below:

a) Emanuela Paola Banfi

b) Valentina Montanari

c) Eric Sandrin

These directors meet the requirements to be qualified as independent according to article 3, implemen-
tation criteria 3.C.1. and 3.C.2., of the Corporate Governance Code and to the criteria set out in article 
147-ter, paragraph 4 of the TUF, which recalls the criteria referred to in article 148 of the TUF.

In compliance with article 3, implementation criterion 3.C.3. of the Corporate Governance Code, the Is-
suer believes the number of independent directors appointed to be appropriate for the size of the Board 
of Directors and the activity carried out by the Issuer, as well as suitable to allow internal governance 
committees to be set up within the Board in accordance with the recommendations of the Corporate 
Governance Code. 

On 8 July 2019 and subsequently on 19 March 2020, the Board of Directors verified that its members 
met the independence requirements. In compliance with the provisions of article 3, principle 3.P.2, the 
Board of Directors will perform such a check once a year.

The Board of Statutory Auditors noted that the verification criteria and procedures used by the Board to 
assess the independence of its members on 19 March 2020 were correctly applied.

LEAD INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

By resolution of the Board of Directors on 9 August 2019, the Company appointed independent director 
Eric Sandrin as lead independent director pursuant to article 2.C.4 of the Corporate Governance Code, 
with effect from the Trading Start Date.
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PROCESSING OF COMPANY INFORMATION

At its meeting on 6 September 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors resolved to approve the Regu-
lations for the processing of material/inside information, the establishment and maintenance of the RIL and 
the Insider List and Internal Dealing (the “Regulations”), aimed at regulating, in addition to the obliga-
tions of confidentiality and reporting, the process of managing documents and information concerning 
Newlat and the companies belonging to its group, with particular reference to Confidential Information 
and Inside Information, as well as the establishment, maintenance and updating of the registers of per-
sons who have access to the aforementioned information and the internal dealing obligations.

These Regulations, which entered into force on the date when the application for the Issuer’s shares to 
be admitted for trading was deposited with the Italian Stock Exchange, are published on the Issuer’s 
website at www.newlat.it.

The purpose of the Regulations is to ensure compliance with the applicable laws and regulations and to 
ensure that the Company timely, completely and adequately discloses the Group’s inside information to 
the market, while guaranteeing maximum privacy and confidentiality until it is disclosed to the public.

Relevant and Inside Information is managed according to a process that breaks down into the following 
stages:

a) the Relevant or Inside Information is identified and reported by the competent IICOF (i.e. each “Inside 
Information Competent Organisational Function”, identified within the Group, that becomes aware of 
Relevant or Inside Information due to its own activities) to the IIMF (i.e. the “Inside Information Mana-
gement Function”, in this case, the Chairman of the Board of Directors);

b) the IIMF identifies and records the Relevant or Inside Information;

c) Relevant Information is monitored based on the different stages of its evolution towards Inside Infor-
mation, and the additional IICOFs involved in the process are recorded;

d) where applicable, the Relevant Information becomes Inside Information.

The IIMF is the corporate figure responsible for deciding whether the information qualifies as inside 
information. If it does, the IIMF acts to ensure that the Inside Information directly pertaining to the 
Issuer is communicated to the public as soon as possible, in accordance with the Regulations and with 
applicable laws and regulations, unless there are grounds to activate the delay procedure referred to in 
article 3.4 of the Regulations.

The Issuer has established, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, an electronic register 
of persons who have access to Inside Information (“Insider List”) and an electronic register of persons 
who have access to Relevant Information (“RIL”). The registers are kept by the IIMF, with the Legal and 
Corporate Affairs Department helping with entry and maintenance.

In order to update the Insider List promptly, the IIMF mainly relies on the information contained in the 
RIL. When a piece of information becomes Inside Information, people are deleted from the RIL and ad-
ded to the Insider List.

Section II of the Regulations, on internal dealing, governs the reporting obligations, restrictions and 
control measures in relation to transactions carried out by relevant persons and persons closely asso-
ciated with them of the Issuer and the Subsidiaries (as defined in the Regulations).

In particular, Relevant Managers are absolutely forbidden to carry out transactions on their own behalf 
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or on behalf of third parties, directly or indirectly, in the 30 days before publication of the annual, hal-
f-year or quarterly results that the Issuer is required, or has decided, to make public (“Black-Out Period”), 
except for the provisions of article 8 of the Regulations.

The Issuer’s Board of Directors, by means of a special resolution, may establish additional periods du-
ring which there is a ban/limitation on the completion of Newlat securities transactions in conjunction 
with particular events. It is understood that both Relevant Managers and all Recipients in possession 
of Inside Information must refrain from carrying out or recommending to third parties any operation 
on the securities, from inducing third parties to carry out operations on the securities or from commu-
nicating the Inside Information to third parties, unless such communication takes place in the normal 
performance of their role.
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INTERNAL BOARD COMMITTEES
(pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 2, letter d) of the TUF)

On 9 August 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors, in accordance with the recommendations contai-
ned in the Corporate Governance Code, resolved to establish the following Committees, effective from 
the Trading Start Date, and approved their relevant regulations:

• a control, risk and sustainability committee, pursuant to article 7 of the Corporate Governance 
Code (the “Internal Control and Risks Committee”);

• an appointments and remuneration committee pursuant to articles 5 and 6 of the Corporate 
Governance Code (the “Remuneration and Appointments Committee”); and

• a committee for transactions with related parties, pursuant to article 4 of the Corporate Go-
vernance Code and following the provisions of the Related Party Regulations (the “RPT Com-
mittee”).

A brief description of the tasks and internal functioning of the newly established committees is given 
below.

Remuneration and Appointments Committee

On 9 August 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors appointed the directors Emanuela Paola Banfi, 
Valentina Montanari and Eric Sandrin, all of whom meet the independence requirements set out in the 
TUF and the Corporate Governance Code, as members of the Remuneration and Appointments Commit-
tee, with Mr Sandrin appointed Chairman. The Issuer believes that this appointment is in line with the 
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code due to the specific knowledge possessed by the appointed 
parties; in particular, they all have sufficient knowledge and experience of financial matters or remune-
ration policies.

In view of the organisational needs of the Company, the way it operates and the size of its Board of Di-
rectors, the Company has set up a single committee for appointments and remuneration, in accordance 
with the recommendations of articles 4, 5 and 6 of the Corporate Governance Code.

The Remuneration and Appointments Committee plays an advisory and recommendatory role and has 
the task of assisting the Board of Directors at a preliminary stage with the assessments and decisions 
relating to the composition of the Board of Directors and to the remuneration of directors and managers 
with strategic responsibilities.

In particular, the Remuneration and Appointments Committee is entrusted with the following tasks:

• formulating opinions to the Board of Directors on i) the size and composition of the Board 
and making recommendations on the professional profiles it believes should sit on the Board; 
ii) the maximum number of management and control positions in other listed companies, su-
pervised companies or companies of significant size, that can be considered compatible with 
the position of director of the Company, taking into account participation in Committees and 
on the identification of general criteria differentiated by reason of the commitment related to 
each role, including pertaining to the nature and size of the companies (including those of the 
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Group) in which the positions are held, within the scope of article 1.C.3 of the Corporate Gover-
nance Code; iii) the possible assessment of relevant positions pursuant to article 2390 of the 
Civil Code within the scope of article 1.C.4 of the Corporate Governance Code; and

• recommending candidates to the Board of Directors in cases of co-option, where it is neces-
sary to replace independent directors;

• carrying out the groundwork on preparing the plan for the succession of executive directors, 
where the Board of Directors has considered adopting such a plan.

In addition, the Committee makes proposals and recommendations to the Board of Directors on the 
remuneration of directors and managers with strategic responsibilities. In particular, the Committee is 
entrusted with the following recommendatory and advisory tasks:

• making proposals to the Board of Directors regarding the adoption of a policy for the remu-
neration of directors and managers with strategic responsibilities;

• periodically assessing the adequacy, overall consistency and practical application of the policy 
for the remuneration of directors and managers with strategic responsibilities adopted by the 
Company, if necessary making proposals to the Board of Directors;

• examining Annual Report on Remuneration prior to it being made publicly available for the 
annual shareholders’ meeting to approve the financial statements;

• submitting proposals or expressing opinions to the Board of Directors on the remuneration 
of executive directors and other directors holding particular positions, and on the setting of 
performance targets related to the variable component of such remuneration;

• monitoring the implementation of the decisions taken by the Board by verifying, in particular, 
that the performance targets referred to in point c) above have been met; and

• making proposals to the Board of Directors regarding the adoption of remuneration policies 
and/or incentive systems also applicable to directors, managers and employees within the 
Group.

The Committee also has the task of formulating non-binding opinions and proposals regarding any 
stock option and share allocation plans or other incentive systems based on shares, and suggesting the 
objectives related to the granting of these benefits and the criteria for assessing the achievement of 
these objectives, as well as monitoring the evolution and implementation over time of any plans appro-
ved by the Shareholders’ Meeting based on a proposal from the Board of Directors.

The Remuneration and Appointments Committee has the right to access information and corporate fun-
ctions and structures, ensuring that it has the appropriate functional and operational links with them 
for the performance of its tasks. It may use external consultants, at the expense of the Company, and in 
any case within the limits established by the Board of Directors.

In line with the recommendations of article 6.C.6 of the Corporate Governance Code, no director takes 
part in the meetings of the Remuneration and Appointments Committee at which proposals are made 
to the Board of Directors regarding their remuneration.

The meetings of the Remuneration and Appointments Committee shall be chaired by the Chairman or, 
in the event of his/her absence or impediment, by the oldest member. A majority of serving members 
are required to be present for the Remuneration and Appointments Committee meetings to be valid. The 
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decisions of the Committee shall be taken by an absolute majority of those present.

From the Trading Start Date to 31 December 2019, the Remuneration and Appointments Committee met 
once and all members participated. The meeting lasted 1 hour. 
In 2020, at the date of writing of this Report, there has been 1 meeting of the Remuneration and Ap-
pointments Committee, in which all the members participated and which lasted for half an hour.

Minutes are duly taken at meetings of the Remuneration and Appointments Committee, and the Chair-
man of the Committee reports these to the next meeting of the Board of Directors.

The Committee has regularly carried out the functions assigned to it by the Regulations, giving prior 
opinions on all areas of competence, in particular on the remuneration policy and the Report on remu-
neration policy and fees, referred to in article 123-ter of the TUF.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

For information on this section, please refer to the “Remuneration Report” available at 
www.newlat.it – Corporate Governance Section - Governance Documents.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISKS COMMITTEE

On 9 August 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors appointed the directors Emanuela Paola Banfi, Va-
lentina Montanari and Eric Sandrin, all of whom meet the independence requirements set out in the TUF 
and the Corporate Governance Code, as members of the Internal Control and Risks Committee, with Ms 
Montanari appointed Chairman. The Issuer believes that this appointment is in line with the provisions 
of the Corporate Governance Code due to the specific knowledge possessed by the appointed parties; in 
particular, they all have sufficient knowledge and experience of financial matters or risk management.

The Internal Control and Risks Committee, in assisting the Board of Directors, in accordance with the 
provisions of implementation criterion 7.C.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, has the function of:

• assessing, together with the Financial Reporting Officer and after consulting the independent 
auditor and the Board of Statutory Auditors, the correct use of the accounting standards and, in 
the case of groups, their consistency for the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial 
statements;

• expressing opinions on specific aspects related to the identification of the main company 
risks;

• examining the periodic reports assessing the ICRMS, and those of particular relevance prepa-
red by the internal audit function;

• monitoring the autonomy, adequacy, effectiveness and efficiency of the internal audit function;

• asking the internal audit function to carry out audits on specific operational areas, giving si-
multaneous notice to the Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors;

• reporting to the Board, at least every six months, on the occasions of the approval of the 
annual and half-year financial report, on the activities carried out and on the adequacy of the 
internal control and risk management system; and
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• providing adequate preliminary support for the Board of Directors’ assessments and decisions 
on the management of risks arising from harmful events of which the Board has become aware.

The Internal Control and Risks Committee, in accordance with implementation criterion 7.C.1 of the 
Corporate Governance Code, also issues its prior opinion to the Board of Directors:

• on the guidelines for the internal audit and risk management system, so that the main risks 
relating to the Issuer and its subsidiaries are correctly identified, adequately measured, mana-
ged and monitored, determining how compatible the risks are with Company’s management in 
line with the strategic objectives identified;

•  on the adequacy of the internal control and risk management system with respect to the 
characteristics of the Issuer and the risk profile assumed, as well as its effectiveness;

•  on the work plan prepared by the head of the internal audit department;

• on the description, in the corporate governance report, of the main features of the internal 
control and risk management system and of the methods of coordination between the parties 
involved, including the assessment of the adequacy of the system;

• on the results set out by the independent auditor in the letter of suggestions, if any, and in the 
report on key issues arising from the external audit; and

• on the proposal relating to the appointment, revocation and remuneration of the Head of 
Internal Audit, as well as on the adequacy of the resources allocated to said person for the per-
formance of their functions.

The Internal Control and Risks Committee has the right to access the information and corporate fun-
ctions necessary for the performance of its tasks and may avail itself, within the limits established by 
the Board of Directors, of external consultants.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Head of Internal Audit are permanently invited to the 
meetings of the Internal Control and Risks Committee.

The Internal Control and Risks Committee also has the right to invite to its meetings the executive di-
rector responsible for internal audit and the other members of the Board of Directors, the independent 
auditor or the representatives of the auditing firm and the members of the Board of Statutory Auditors 
with reference to all or some of the items on the agenda, except when issues that concern them are 
being discussed.

The Financial Reporting Officer referred to in article 154-bis of Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 
1998, as subsequently amended and supplemented (the “FRO”), may also be invited to Committee me-
etings, along with any other person whose presence is deemed to be conducive to the best possible 
performance of the Committee functions with regard to all or some of the items on the agenda. At the 
date of this Report, the Head of Internal Audit is Pierangelo Verna who, as of 21 April 2020, will be re-
placed by Stefano Ferro.

From the Trading Start Date to 31 December 2019, the Internal Control and Risks Committee met once 
and all members participated. The meeting lasted half an hour.

In 2020, at the date on which this Report was drafted, 2 meetings of the Control and Risks Committee 
had been held and all the members and the entire Board of Statutory Auditors participated.
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Specifically, at the meeting of 19 February 2020, the executive director responsible for internal audit, 
the FRO, the Board of Statutory Auditors and the Independent Auditors also participated, while at the 
meeting of 17 March 2020, the FRO also participated.

Minutes are duly taken at meetings of the Internal Control and Risks Committee, and the Chairman of 
the Committee reports these to the next meeting of the Board of Directors.

The Committee has duly carried out the functions assigned to it by the Regulations, giving prior opi-
nions on all areas of competence concerning the management of business risks and the system of con-
trols, as well as on the work plan drawn up by the Head of Internal Audit.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTE

In compliance with Principle 7 of the Corporate Governance Code, the Issuer has adopted an internal 
control and risk management system (hereinafter also “ICRMS”) suitable for identifying, measuring, ma-
naging and monitoring the main risks and in line with national and international best practice.

The corporate and supervisory bodies within the ICRMS are:

- the Board of Directors;

- the Internal Control and Risks Committee;

- the executive director responsible for internal audit;

- the Head of Internal Audit;

- the Supervisory Board (pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/01;

- the Financial Reporting Officer;

- the Board of Statutory Auditors;

- the Independent Auditing Firm.

The Company’s ICRMS is based on three levels of control:

Level I Control – the operating teams are primarily responsible for the ICRMS process. These teams – as 
part of their daily activities – are called upon to identify, measure, evaluate, monitor, mitigate and report 
the risks deriving from ordinary business activities in accordance with the ICRMS and the applicable 
internal procedures.

Level II Control – corporate risks are monitored, guidelines on the related control systems are propo-
sed and their adequacy is verified to ensure the efficiency and effectiveness of operations, as well as 
adequate risk control, prudent conduct of business, reliability of information, and compliance with laws, 
regulations and internal procedures.

Level III Control – the Head of Internal Audit verifies and ensures the adequacy and effective operation 
of the Level I and II Controls and – in general – of the ICRMS, evaluating its completeness, functionality 
and reliability in terms of efficiency and effectiveness, as well as identifying any violations of applicable 
procedures and standards.
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The central role in the Internal Control and Risk Management System is played by the Board of Direc-
tors, which defines the nature and level of risk compatible with the Company’s objectives.
When working effectively, the Company’s ICRMS guarantees, with reasonable certainty, the achievement 
of operational, disclosure and compliance objectives. Specifically:

• the operational objective of the internal control system concerns the effectiveness and effi-
ciency of the Company in using resources, protecting itself from losses, and safeguarding the 
Company’s assets. This system is also aimed at ensuring that staff work towards the pursuit of 
company objectives, without putting other interests before Newlat’s;

• the objective of disclosure translates into the preparation of timely and reliable reports for 
the decision-making process within and outside the company organisation;

• the compliance objective ensures, on the other hand, that all operations and actions are con-
ducted in compliance with laws and regulations, prudential requirements and internal company 
procedures.

The ICRMS involves every sector of the activity carried out by the Company, distinguishing between 
operational and control tasks and reasonably reducing any possible conflict of interest.

In particular, the internal control system is based on the following elements:

- formalised and clear organisational system in the allocation of responsibilities;

- authorisation and signature powers assigned consistent with the responsibilities;

- system of procedures to govern all business processes;

- IT systems geared towards segregation of duties;

- management control and reporting system;

- functions responsible in a structured manner for external communication;

- periodic audits of the main company processes.

The Company’s ICRMS is based on the following principles:

• every operation, transaction and action must be true, verifiable, coherent and documented;

• no one can manage an entire process independently (so-called segregation of duties);

• the internal control system documents the performance of controls, including supervision.

Responsibility for the proper functioning of the internal control system is vested in each business fun-
ction for all processes for which it is responsible.

The type of corporate control structure existing in the Company includes:

• line controls, carried out by individual operating units on the processes for which they have 
operational responsibility, aimed at ensuring the correct conduct of operations;

• monitoring activities, carried out by the managers of each process and aimed at verifying the 



131
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

correct performance of the underlying activities, on the basis of hierarchical controls;

• activities for the detection, evaluation and monitoring of the internal control system over the 
administrative and accounting systems and processes that are relevant to the financial state-
ments.

Lastly, with regard to the ICRMS, it should be noted that in the exercise of its functions, during the Board 
meeting of 19 March 2020, the Board of Directors:

- approved the internal audit plan, after consulting the Board of Statutory Auditors and the executive 
director responsible for internal audit;

- assessed the adequacy of the system, in relation to the characteristics of the company and the risk 
profile assumed, as well as its effectiveness.

DIRECTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR THE INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT SY-
STEM

In support of the Issuer’s internal control and risk management system, in addition to the Control and 
Risks Committee, on 9 August 2019 the Company’s Board of Directors appointed Angelo Mastrolia, with 
immediate effect, to the position of executive director responsible for the internal control and risk ma-
nagement system, performing the functions listed in implementation criterion 7.C.4 of the Corporate 
Governance Code. The Issuer believes that the appointment of the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
as the person responsible for the internal control and risk management system is in line with the pro-
visions of the Corporate Governance Code, which highlights the positive aspects related to a choice of 
this type, including the specific knowledge possessed by the appointed party.

In accordance with article 7 of implementation criterion 7.C.4 of the Corporate Governance Code, the 
executive director responsible for overseeing the functionality of the internal control system:

- ensures the identification of the main business risks, taking into account the characteristics of 
the activities carried out by the issuer and its subsidiaries, and will periodically submit them to 
the Board of Directors for examination;

- implements the guidelines defined by the Board of Directors, taking care of the design, cre-
ation and management of the internal control and risk management system and continually 
verifying its adequacy and effectiveness;

- deals with the adaptation of this system to the dynamics of operating conditions and the le-
gislative and regulatory landscape;

- may ask the Head of Internal Audit to carry out audits on specific operational areas and on 
compliance with internal rules and procedures in execution of company operations, giving si-
multaneous notice to the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Control and 
Risks Committee and the Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors;

- promptly reports to the Control and Risks Committee (or to the Board of Directors) on pro-
blems and critical issues that may arise in the course of its activities or of which it has been 
informed, so that the Committee (or the Board) can take the appropriate initiatives.

Due to the recent listing of the Company’s shares on the MTA, the aforementioned activities 
and tasks assigned to the executive director responsible for internal audit will be carried out in 
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essence starting from the beginning of this financial year.

HEAD OF INTERNAL AUDIT

Also in support of the Issuer’s internal control and risk management system, on 9 August 2019 the 
Company appointed Pierangelo Verna, who – as of 21 April 2020 – will be replaced by Stefano Ferro, as 
approved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2020, as Head of Internal Audit and therefore the person 
to whom, among other things, the tasks referred to in article 7 of implementation criterion 7.C.5. of the 
Corporate Governance Code have been assigned.

Stefano Ferro is not responsible for any operational activities. He carries out support activities in the 
context of M&A operations and reports to the Board of Directors.

Because of the recent quotation, no activities were carried out by the Head of Internal Audit in 2019; 
this role will become active in the current year, with its holder having access to all useful information.

ORGANISATIONAL MODEL
(pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001)

The Company has adopted an organisation, management and control model pursuant to and for the 
purposes of Legislative Decree no. 231/2001 (the “Model 231”). 

The Model 231 consists of: (a) a general part, relating to issues concerning, among other things, the 
validity and application of Legislative Decree no. 231/2001, the composition and functioning of the su-
pervisory body, and the penalty code to be applied in case of violations of the rules of conduct of Model 
231; and (b) the special parts, containing the general principles of conduct and control protocols for 
each of the offences deemed to be a risk to the Company.

The functions of the Supervisory Body are assigned to the Board of Statutory Auditors, exercising the 
option provided for by applicable legislation. In this way, the Supervisory Body meets the applicable 
requirements of autonomy, independence, professionalism and continuity of action.

The Model 231 is published on the website www.newlat.it - Corporate Governance Section, where the 
updated composition of the Supervisory Body and the Code of Ethics are also available.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITING FIRM

At the date of the Report, the company responsible for independently auditing the Issuer’s accounts was 
PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A., with its registered office at Via Monte Rosa no. 91, Milan, no. 119644 in 
the Register of Independent Auditors held by the Ministry of Economy and Finance.

On 8 July 2015, the Issuer had entrusted the Independent Auditors with the external audit assignment 
pursuant to article 14 of Legislative Decree no. 39 of 2010 and articles 2409-bis et seq. of the Civil 
Code, with reference to the Issuer’s financial statements for the three-year period 2014 - 2016. Once 
the Issuer needed to prepare consolidated financial statements starting from 2015, the aforementioned 
assignment was supplemented on 8 July 2016 to include the external audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the Issuer for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016.

In view of the interpretative orientation last taken by Consob in its Communication no. 0098233 of 23 
December 2014 regarding the awarding of the external audit assignment upon becoming a public inte-
rest entity pursuant to article 16 of Legislative Decree no. 39 of 2010, the Issuer’s Ordinary Shareholders’ 
Meeting of 8 July 2019 conferred on the Independent Auditors, effective from the Trading Start Date, a 
new external audit assignment (including checking that books are being properly kept and operating 
events are being properly entered into accounting ledgers) pursuant to articles 13 and 17 of Legislative 
Decree no. 39 of 2010 for the 2019-2027 financial years, in relation to the Issuer’s separate financial 
statements and the consolidated financial statements of the Newlat Group, replacing PwC’s existing 
assignment awarded on 28 June 2017. Also by resolution of 8 July 2019, and also effective as of the 
Trading Start Date, the Issuer’s Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting awarded the independent auditors the 
assignment to carry out a limited audit of the Newlat Group’s condensed consolidated half-year finan-
cial statements for the six-month periods ending on 30 June 2020 - 2027.

FINANCIAL REPORTING OFFICER
AND OTHER CORPORATE ROLES AND FUNCTIONS

On 9 August 2019, the Issuer’s Board of Directors, in compliance with the provisions of article 154-bis 
of the Consolidated Law on Finance and with the relevant appointment procedures laid down in article 
19 of the New Bylaws, decided to appoint, with effect from the Company’s shares starting to trade on 
the MTA, Rocco Sergi as the Financial Reporting Officer.

Article 19 of the Issuer’s New Bylaws provides that the FRO shall be appointed by the Board of Directors, 
subject to the mandatory but non-binding opinion of the Board of Statutory Auditors, in accordance with 
the provisions of Article 154-bis of the Consolidated Law on Finance. The Bylaws also require the FRO to 
have at least three years’ experience in administration, finance and control and to meet the integrity re-
quirements for directors. If these requirements are no longer being met, the office shall be forfeited and 
this must be declared by the Board of Directors within 30 (thirty) days of becoming aware of the failing.

In this regard, it should be noted that the Board of Directors, after obtaining the opinion of the Board 
of Statutory Auditors, issued on 9 August 2019, recognised Rocco Sergi as a suitable person to perform 
this function, also in view of the above requirements.

Pursuant to article 154-bis of the Consolidated Law on Finance, the FRO shall:

• draw up written statements accompanying the Company’s documents and communications 
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disseminated to the market and relating to accounting information, including interim accoun-
ting information;

• prepare appropriate administrative and accounting procedures for preparing the separate fi-
nancial statements and, where applicable, the consolidated financial statements and any other 
financial communications;

•  certify with a special report on the separate financial statements, the condensed half-year 
financial statements and the consolidated financial statements (i) the adequacy and effective 
application of the administrative and accounting procedures for the preparation of the financial 
statements; (ii) that the documents are prepared in compliance with the applicable interna-
tional accounting standards recognised in the European Union pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002; (iii) that the docu-
ments correspond to the ledgers and accounting records; (iv) the suitability of the documents 
to provide a true and fair picture of the results, assets and liabilities and cash flows of the Is-
suer and of the companies included in the consolidation; (v) for the separate and consolidated 
financial statements, that the report on operations includes a reliable analysis of the operating 
performance and result, as well as the situation of the Issuer and of the companies included 
in the consolidation, together with a description of the main risks and uncertainties to which 
they are exposed; (vi) for the condensed half-year financial statements, that the interim report 
on operations contains a reliable analysis of the information referred to in article 154-ter, pa-
ragraph 4 of the TUF.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

On 6 September 2019, the Issuer’s Board of Directors resolved to adopt a procedure that governs, among 
other things, the methods for instructing and approving transactions with related parties defined as 
being of greater importance on the basis of the criteria indicated by the regulations adopted by Consob 
with Resolution no. 17221 on 12 March 2010 (the “Related Parties Regulation”) and transactions with 
related parties defined as being of lesser importance, meaning those other than the most significant 
transactions and transactions of a small amount (the latter are those with related parties whose value 
does not exceed €200,000 whether they are a natural person or a legal person) (hereinafter the “Related 
Parties Procedure”).

The Related Parties Procedure defines transactions of greater importance as those in which at least one 
of the significance indicators mentioned in Annex 3 of the Related Parties Regulations exceeds the 5% 
threshold and entrusts a specific corporate structure, consisting of the FRO supported by the competent 
functions, with the task of ascertaining how the procedure should be applied to a given transaction, 
including whether a transaction is classified as being of greater or lesser importance.

In accordance with the Related Parties Regulation, the procedure for transactions of lesser importance 
requires that, before approving a transaction with related parties, the Related Parties Committee, com-
posed exclusively of independent (pursuant to the TUF and the Corporate Governance Code) and unre-
lated directors, expresses a non-binding reasoned opinion on the Company’s interest in completing it, as 
well as on the suitability and substantial fairness of the conditions envisaged. In this regard, it is noted 
that the Issuer has identified the RPT Committee as the competent body in relation to transactions with 
related parties.

The procedure provides that, without prejudice to the disclosure requirements of article 5 of the Rela-
ted Parties Regulation, the Issuer will avail itself of the derogation granted by article 10 of the Related 
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Parties Regulation as a newly listed company and, therefore, the approval of the related party tran-
sactions of greater importance will take place according to the procedure provided for the approval 
of related party transactions of lesser importance. This simplified regime will therefore apply from the 
trading start date until the date of approval of the financial statements for the year ending on 31 De-
cember 2021.

After this transitional period, the procedure provides that - for transactions of greater importance – the 
RPT Committee, or one or more members delegated by it, be involved in the negotiation phase and the 
investigation phase and, at the end of the latter, express its reasoned opinion on the Company’s interest 
in completing the transaction and on the suitability and substantial fairness of the relevant conditions. 
The RPT Committee shall make its own assessments and, in the event of a negative opinion or one 
subject to the acceptance of certain findings:

(a)    in the case of a transaction of greater importance that is not the responsibility of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting or does not have to be authorised by it, the Board of Directors may: (i) 
approve the transaction, provided that the approval resolution fully incorporates the findings 
made by the RPT Committee; or (ii) approve the transaction despite the contrary opinion or in 
any case without taking into account the findings of the Committee, provided that the com-
pletion of the transaction is authorised by the Shareholders’ Meeting, pursuant to article 2364, 
paragraph 1, no. 5) of the Civil Code and in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (b) 
below; or (iii) decide not to proceed with the transaction;

(b)    in the case of a transaction of greater importance falling within the competence of the 
Shareholders’ Meeting or which must be authorised by it, without prejudice to the provisions 
of articles 2368, 2369 and 2373 of the Civil Code, the transaction may not be carried out if the 
majority of unrelated shareholders (meaning persons entitled to vote other than the counter-
party to a given transaction and related parties both to the counterparty to a given transaction 
and to the Company) who vote do so against the transaction, provided that the unrelated sha-
reholders present at the Shareholders’ Meeting represent at least 10% of the share capital.

The rules laid down in the procedure do not apply in the following cases:

(a)    shareholders’ resolutions on the remuneration payable to members of the Board of Di-
rectors pursuant to article 2389, paragraph 1 of the Civil Code, as well as resolutions on the 
remuneration of directors with special responsibilities included in the total amount for the 
remuneration of all directors previously determined by the Shareholders’ Meeting pursuant to 
article 2389, paragraph 3 of the Civil Code;

(b)    resolutions, other than those indicated under (a), on the remuneration of directors with 
special responsibilities and other managers with strategic responsibilities, provided that:

	 i) the Company has adopted a remuneration policy that the Remuneration and Appoint-
ments Committee was involved in drafting;

	 ii) a report explaining the remuneration policy has been submitted for the approval or 
advisory vote of the Shareholders’ Meeting; and

	 iii) the remuneration awarded is consistent with this policy;

(c)    transactions of a small amount;

(d)   compensation plans based on financial instruments approved by the Shareholders’ Meeting 
pursuant to article 114-bisof the Consolidated Law on Finance and related executive opera-
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tions;

(e)   transactions that are part of ordinary business and the related financial activity of the Com-
pany or of the subsidiary that performs the transaction, carried out at conditions similar to those 
usually practised with unrelated parties for transactions of a corresponding nature, scale and 
risk, or based on regulated rates or prices imposed on or practised with subjects with whom the 
Company is legally obliged to enter into a contract at a certain amount;

(f)    transactions carried out by the Company with its subsidiaries or transactions carried out 
between such subsidiaries, as well as those with associates, if there are no significant interests of 
other related parties of the Company in the subsidiaries or associates;

(g)    shareholders’ resolutions on the fees payable to members of the Board of Statutory Auditors 
pursuant to article 2402 of the Civil Code;

(h)   transactions to be carried out on the basis of instructions for stability purposes given by Su-
pervisory Authorities, or on the basis of provisions issued by the parent company for the execution 
of instructions given by Supervisory Authorities in the interest of the stability of the Group.

The procedure allows the adoption of framework resolutions relating to series of homogeneous opera-
tions to be carried out by the Company, directly or through subsidiaries, with certain categories of related 
parties.

Please note that any decisions regarding the renewal – even if tacit or automatic - of contracts and rela-
tionships that the Issuer enters into with related parties in the period prior to the formal adoption of the 
Related Parties Procedure described above will be taken in accordance with this procedure.

Committee for transactions with related parties

On 9 August 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors appointed the directors Emanuela Paola Banfi, Valen-
tina Montanari and Eric Sandrin, all of whom meet the independence requirements set out in the TUF and 
the Corporate Governance Code, as members of the RPT Committee, with Ms Banfi appointed Chairman.

In particular, the RPT Committee:

• formulates prior opinions on the procedures governing the identification and management of 
related party transactions carried out by the Issuer and/or Group companies, as well as on the 
related amendments;

• formulates prior and reasoned opinions, in the cases expressly provided for, on the Issuer’s inte-
rest in completing the transaction with related parties, as well as on the suitability and substan-
tial fairness of the related conditions; and

• in the case of related party transactions of greater importance, the RPT Committee is involved in 
the negotiation phase and the investigation phase through the receipt of a complete and timely 
information flow, with the right to request information and to make comments to the parties re-
sponsible for conducting the negotiations or the investigation.

From the Trading Start Date to 31 December 2019, the Related Party Transaction Committee met once 
and all members participated. The meeting lasted half an hour.
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APPOINTMENT OF STATUTORY AUDITORS

By virtue of its New Bylaws (pursuant to articles 21, 22 and 23), the Issuer has adopted a transparent 
procedure for the appointment of statutory auditors which guarantees, among other things, adequate 
and timely information on the personal and professional characteristics of candidates for the office.
The Board of Statutory Auditors is elected by the Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on the basis of lists 
submitted by shareholders as per the provisions below, ensuring gender balance in accordance with the 
provisions of applicable laws and regulations.

The presentation of lists is governed by applicable laws and regulations and by the New Bylaws.

Lists can be submitted by shareholders who, alone or together with others, represent, at the time of 
submission, at least the stake required to submit lists of candidates for the office of director.

The lists are filed with the Company within the deadlines set out in applicable laws, as indicated in 
the notice of convocation at the Company’s registered office or also communicated remotely, and made 
available to the public under the terms and conditions set out in applicable laws and regulations. Each 
shareholder, the shareholders adhering to a shareholders’ agreement pursuant to article 122 of the TUF, 
the parent company, subsidiaries, joint ventures and the other entities between which there is a direct 
or indirect link, pursuant to applicable laws and regulations, may submit - or contribute to the submis-
sion, even through an intermediary or trust company - and vote for only one list. Each candidate may 
appear on only one list under penalty of ineligibility.

Each list shall contain a sequential number of candidates not exceeding the number of members to be 
elected.

The lists are divided into two sections: one for candidates for the office of standing auditor, the other 
for candidates for the office of alternate auditor. The first of the candidates in each section must appear 
in the register of auditors and must have carried out auditing activities for a period of not less than 3 
(three) years.

Each list that – considering both sections – presents a number of candidates equal to or greater than 
3 (three) must also include candidates of both genders, so that at least one third (rounded up) of the 
candidates for the office of standing auditor and at least one candidate for the office of alternate auditor 
(where applicable) belong to the least represented gender.

The following must be filed when the lists are submitted: a) information on the shareholders who have 
submitted the list, including their stake; b) a declaration by shareholders other than those who hold, 
even jointly, a controlling interest or a relative majority, certifying the absence of any direct or indirect 
link, within the meaning of applicable laws and regulations, with the latter; c) the curriculum vitae of 
the candidates and a statement in which each candidate declares, under his or her own responsibility, 
that there are no grounds for ineligibility and incompatibility and that he or she fulfils the conditions 
for appointment; d) information relating to the candidates with an indication of the administration and 
control positions held in other companies, as well as a statement by the same candidates attesting to 
the fulfilment of the requirements, including those of integrity, professionalism, independence and re-
lated to the accumulation of positions, provided for by current laws and regulations and by the Bylaws 
and their acceptance of the candidacy and office, if elected; e) a declaration from each candidate ac-
cepting their candidacy; f) any other additional or different declaration, information and/or document 
required by applicable laws and regulations.

Any list that fails to comply with the above provisions shall be deemed not to have been submitted.
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Members of the Board of Auditors must meet the requirements of integrity, professionalism, indepen-
dence and the limit of accumulation of positions provided for by applicable laws and regulations, as 
well as by the Corporate Governance Code. Matters relating to commercial law, company law, financial 
market law, tax law, business economics, corporate finance, disciplines having a similar or comparable 
object, and matters and sectors relating to the business sector of the Company are considered strictly 
relevant to the scope of the Company’s activities.

The Board of Statutory Auditors shall be elected in accordance with the following provisions: a) from 
the list which obtained the highest number of votes (“majority list”), two standing auditors and one al-
ternate auditor shall be drawn in the sequential order in which they appear on the list; b) from the list 
which obtained the second highest number of votes in the Shareholders’ Meeting (“minority list”), the 
remaining standing auditor, who shall also be appointed Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors, 
and the other alternate auditor shall be drawn in the sequential order in which they appear on the list. 
If more than one list has obtained the same number of votes, a new vote shall be taken on said lists by 
all those who can vote and are present at the Shareholders’ Meeting, with the candidates from the list 
that secures a relative majority being elected.

If gender balance is not ensured in accordance with the provisions of applicable laws and regulations, 
considering the statutory auditors and alternate auditors separately, the elected candidate belonging to 
the most represented gender who was last in the sequential order in each section of the majority list, 
will be replaced by the unelected candidate from the least represented gender taken from the same 
section of the same list in the sequential order of presentation. If the number of candidates elected on 
the basis of the lists submitted is lower than the number of statutory auditors to be elected, the remain-
der will be elected by the Shareholders’ Meeting, which decides by relative majority and in such a way 
that the gender balance required by applicable laws and regulations is respected.

In the case of submission of a single list, the Board of Statutory Auditors is drawn entirely from it in 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. If, on the other hand, no list is submitted, the Sha-
reholders’ Meeting decides by relative majority in accordance with the provisions of law. In such cases, 
the Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors shall be appointed by relative majority of the votes 
present at the Shareholders’ Meeting.

The Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors shall be the statutory auditor elected from the mino-
rity list unless only one list is voted on or no list is presented; in such cases, the Chairman of the Board 
of Statutory Auditors shall be appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting by relative majority of the votes 
present.
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COMPOSITION AND OPERATION
OF THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS (pursuant to article 123-

bis, paragraph 2, letters d) and d-bis) of the TUF)

Pursuant to article 21 of the New Bylaws, the Board of Statutory Auditors shall consist of three standing 
auditors and two alternate auditors who shall hold office for three financial years, expiring on the date 
of approval of the financial statements for the third financial year of their office, and shall be eligible 
for re-election.

The Issuer’s Board of Statutory Auditors in office on the Report Date consists of 3 standing auditors and 
2 alternate auditors. This Board of Statutory Auditors was appointed by the Issuer’s Ordinary Sharehol-
ders’ Meeting for a period of 3 years, until approval of the financial statements for the year ending 31 
December 2021.

In particular, the Issuer’s Board of Statutory Auditors in office consists of: 

The members of the Board of Statutory Auditors are as follows:

The New Bylaws provide that the Board of Statutory Auditors is to be appointed on the basis of lists. In 
this regard, it should be noted that the Issuer’s Board of Statutory Auditors was appointed before the 
entry into force of the New Bylaws and that, therefore, the provisions on list voting will apply from the 
first renewal following the listing of the Issuer’s shares.

Below is a summary of the personal and professional characteristics of the members of the Statutory 
Board of Auditors.

Massimo Carlomagno - born in Agnone (IS) on 22 September 1965, he obtained a degree in Economics 
and Business from the University of Salerno in 1990 and has been enrolled in the Register of Chartered 
Accountants since 1996. From 1999 to 2005 he held the position of Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of Finanziaria Regionale del Molise S.p.A. Since 2005 he has held the position of Chairman of the Is-
suer’s Board of Statutory Auditors.

Ester Sammartino - born in Agnone (IS) on 23 May 1966, she obtained a degree in Economics and Busi-
ness from the University of Chieti in 1992 and has been enrolled in the Register of Chartered Accoun-
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tants since 2002. From 1990 to 2005 she served as a director at Lamel Legno S.r.l. Since 2005 she has 
held the position of standing auditor on the Issuer’s Board of Statutory Auditors.

Antonio Mucci – born in Montelongo (CB) on 24 March 1946, he obtained a degree in Economics and 
Business from the University of Bari in 1972 and has been enrolled in the Register of Chartered Accoun-
tants since 1990 and is also enrolled in the Register of Auditors. From 1991 to 2018 he held the posi-
tion of auditor in various public bodies, such as the province of Campobasso and the municipalities of 
Termoli, Larino, Trivento, Riccia, Santa Croce di Magliano, Rotello, Bonefro, Matrice, Montagano, Macchia 
Valfortore, Morrone del Sannio and Ururi. From 1996 to 2005 he served as Chairman of the Board of 
Auditors of the Consorzio di Bonifica di Larino. From 1996 to 1999 he served as Chairman of the Board 
of Statutory Auditors of the cooperative B&G. He was a member of the Board of Statutory Auditors of 
Piana del Sele S.r.l. from 2007 to 2013. He served first as a member of the board of statutory auditors 
(from 2011 to 2013) and then as Chairman (from 2014 to 2016) of Finmolise S.p.A. Since 2014 he has 
held the position of standing auditor on the Issuer’s Board of Statutory Auditors.

Giovanni Carlozzi – born in Matrice (CB) on 23 May 1942, he obtained a degree in Economics and Bu-
siness from the University of Naples in 1968 and has been enrolled in the Register of Auditors since 
12 April 1995. Since 9 September 1994 he has held the office of statutory auditor and sole auditor of 
Molise verso il 2000 Società Cooperativa r.l. Since 2009 he has held the position of alternate auditor 
for the Issuer.

Giorgio de Franciscis - born in Pesaro on 24 July 1941, he obtained a degree in Economic and Maritime 
Sciences from the Naples Naval Institute in 1969 and has been enrolled in the Register of Auditors since 
1995. Since 1986 he has been a tax professional and auditor and from 1987 to 1993 he was Chairman 
of the Board of Auditors of the Istituto Autonomo Case Popolari di Campobasso, as well as a director 
and censor of the Bank of Italy (Campobasso branch) from 1990 to 2001. Since 2013 he has held the 
position of Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors at the Neuromed Foundation. He also holds cer-
tain positions in public bodies. Specifically, since 2014 he has been Chairman of the Board of Auditors 
of the Molise Region and since 2016 he has been Chairman of the Board of Auditors of the Municipality 
of Isernia. Since 2011 he has held the position of alternate auditor for the Issuer.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Board of Statutory Auditors met 5 times: on two 
occasions all members participated, while in 3 meetings Rocco Sergi and Roberto Bonacini were also 
present. The average duration was half an hour.

Five are scheduled for the current year in addition to the one already held on 19 February 2020, which 
had a duration of about half an hour, and at which all the Statutory Auditors, plus Rocco Sergi and Ro-
berto Bonacini, were present.

During its meeting of 8 July 2019, the Board of Statutory Auditors verified that all its members met 
the independence requirements of article 148, paragraph 3 of the Consolidated Law on Finance and 
the combined provisions of articles 3 and 8 of the Corporate Governance Code, and that none of them 
finds themselves in the situations provided for in article 148, paragraph 3 of the TUF and the combined 
provisions of articles 3 and 8 of the Corporate Governance Code, and informed the Board of Directors 
of this. In particular, the members of the Board of Statutory Auditors have not had, during the last three 
years, any financial or professional relationships, directly or indirectly through third-party companies or 
professional firms, with the Issuer.

On the same date, the Board of Statutory Auditors also verified that all its members, as indicated in their 
respective curricula vitae and in the additional information contained in this point, met the require-
ments of integrity and professionalism required by article 148 of the Consolidated Law on Finance and 
the implementing regulations adopted by way of Ministry of Justice Decree no. 162/2000. All statutory 
auditors have stated that they fulfil the integrity requirements.



141
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

It should be noted that the rules dictating that there must be a gender balance among the members 
elect of the Board of Statutory Auditors, in accordance with the provisions of article 148, paragraph 1- 
bis of the Consolidated Law on Finance, have been transposed into the New Bylaws. The composition 
of the Board of Statutory Auditors at the date of the Report complies with these provisions on gender 
balance.

None of the members of the Board of Statutory Auditors has any of the family relations referred to in 
Book I, Title V of the Civil Code with the other members of the Board of Statutory Auditors, members of 
the Board of Directors or senior management of the Company.

The remuneration of the statutory auditors, resolved by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 8 July 2019, is 
commensurate with the commitment required and the importance of the role played by each member, 
as well as the size and sectoral characteristics of the Company.

Any statutory auditor who, on their own behalf or on behalf of third parties, has an interest in a parti-
cular transaction of the Company is required to promptly and exhaustively inform the other members 
of the Board of Statutory Auditors, as well as the Chairman of the Board of Directors, about the nature, 
terms, origin and scope of the interest.

The Board of Statutory Auditors, in the performance of its activities, coordinated and exchanged infor-
mation with: (i) the Internal Control and Risks Committee, at whose meetings the Board of Statutory 
Auditors also participates and (ii) the FRO, who took part in all the meetings of the Board of Statutory 
Auditors.
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SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

In accordance with the provisions of article 9, principle 9.P.1. of the Corporate Governance Code, the 
Issuer’s Board of Directors believes that it is in its own specific interest - as well as a duty towards the 
market – to establish an ongoing dialogue from the moment of the Listing, based on a mutual under-
standing of roles, with all shareholders as well as with institutional investors.

It has been decided that this dialogue can be facilitated by setting up dedicated teams within the Com-
pany.

In this regard, the Company - in compliance with article 9 of implementation criterion 9.C.1. of the Cor-
porate Governance Code – has appointed Benedetta Mastrolia as Head of Relations with Institutional 
Investors and Other Shareholders (Head of Investor Relations) in order to ensure correct, continuous 
and complete communication, it being understood that, in the context of such relations, the commu-
nication of information documents concerning the Company must take place in compliance with the 
aforementioned internal procedure.

The Company has created an Investor Relations section on its website www.newlat.it, which is easily 
identifiable and accessible and which contains information about the issuer that is relevant to sharehol-
ders, in order to allow them to exercise their rights in an informed manner.

SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS
(pursuant to article 123-bis, paragraph 2, letter c) of the TUF)

Pursuant to the provisions of applicable laws, an ordinary session of the Shareholders’ Meeting is able 
to approve the financial statements, to appoint and dismiss the directors, statutory auditors and the 
Chairman of the Board of Statutory Auditors and to determine the remuneration of the directors and 
statutory auditors, and decides on anything else within its competence under the law. An extraordi-
nary session of the Shareholders’ Meeting will deliberate on amendments to the Bylaws, as well as on 
everything reserved to its competence by law.

The references contained in article 9, principles 9.P.1. and 9.P.2. of the Corporate Governance Code aimed 
at (i) promoting initiatives aimed at encouraging the widest possible participation of shareholders in 
meetings and facilitating the exercise of shareholders’ rights and (ii) establishing an ongoing dialogue 
with shareholders based on an understanding of each other’s roles (Board of Directors and Sharehol-
ders’ Meeting), are fully shared by the Company, which considers it appropriate – in addition to ensuring 
that its directors participate regularly in the shareholders’ meetings - to adopt specific measures aimed 
at getting the most out of the Shareholders’ Meeting.

The Shareholders’ Meeting resolves on all matters for which it is competent under law and under the 
Bylaws; moreover, it is expressly invested with the power to dismiss the directors of the Company, even 
in the absence of just cause, if the relationship of trust between them and the Company has ceased to 
exist for any reason.

Convocations

Pursuant to article 9 of the New Bylaws, the Shareholders’ Meeting is convened, in accordance with the 
law, at the registered office of the Company or at any place chosen by the Board of Directors, provided 
that it is in Italy, another EU country or Switzerland. The notice of convocation, containing the infor-
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mation required by applicable laws and regulations, is published on the Company’s website and in the 
other ways provided for by applicable laws and regulations.

The Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting must be convened at least once a year to approve the separate 
financial statements within 120 (one hundred and twenty) days from the end of the financial year or 
within 180 (one hundred and eighty) days in the cases provided for by law.

Speaking and voting in the Shareholders’ Meeting

Each share gives the right to one vote.

Those entitled to vote may speak at the Shareholders’ Meeting.

Pursuant to article 83-sexies of the Consolidated Law on Finance, eligibility to speak at the Sharehol-
ders’ Meeting and to exercise the right to vote is attested by a notice given to the Company by the in-
termediary in favour of the person entitled to vote, on the basis of the evidence relating to the end of 
the accounting day of the seventh open market day prior to the date set for the Shareholders’ Meeting 
at first call. Such notice from the intermediary must reach the Company by the end of the third open 
market day prior to the date set for the Shareholders’ Meeting at first call or within a different period 
provided for by applicable laws and regulations. Eligibility to speak and vote remains if the notice has 
been received by the Company after the deadlines indicated above but before the start of the single-call 
Shareholders’ Meeting.

Those who have the right to speak at the Shareholders’ Meeting may be represented by proxy by another 
person in the manner prescribed by law. Shareholders have the option to notify the Company of the 
proxy for participation in the Shareholders’ Meeting by sending it to the certified email address or any 
other method indicated in the notice of convocation.

For each Shareholders’ Meeting, the Company may designate one or more persons to whom the holders 
of voting rights in the Shareholders’ Meeting may confer a proxy with instructions on how to vote on all 
or some of the items on the agenda.

Execution of the Shareholders’ Meeting

The Shareholders’ Meeting is duly constituted and deliberates with the majorities required by law.

The Shareholders’ Meeting is chaired by the Chairman of the Board of Directors. Should the Chairman 
be absent or indisposed, the Meeting will be chaired by the person elected with the vote of a majority 
of those present.

The Shareholders’ Meeting may be held with speakers located in several places using telecommunica-
tions technology in accordance with the procedures set out in the New Bylaws.

The Chairman of the Meeting, or those he/she has delegated, checks that the Meeting has been duly 
constituted, ascertains the identity and eligibility of the participants and governs the Meeting, establi-
shing methods of discussion and voting (not in secret ballots) and then verifying the results of votes.

The Chairman shall be assisted by a secretary, who may or may not be a shareholder and is appointed 
by the Shareholders’ Meeting, except as provided for in the second paragraph of article 2371 of the Civil 
Code.
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CHANGES SINCE THE REPORTING DATE
The Board of Directors, during its meeting of 15 January 2020, and therefore after the end of the year, 
appointed Simone Aiuti as General Manager of the Milk and Dairy sector, granting him all the powers 
necessary for the management of the Dairy Division, such as:

1) company signature

2) powers of attorney

3) employment contracts

4) production organisation

5) food hygiene and safety, by virtue of the delegation from Stefano Cometto

6) environmental protection, by virtue of the delegation from Stefano Cometto

7) management and control powers

8) leases, real rights

9) purchase and sale of goods and services; with the following amount limits:

- movable property up to €50,000 for each transaction when signed individually and up to €200,000 
when signed jointly with any other member of the Board of Directors;

- motor vehicles of all kinds, aircraft and boats up to €50,000 for each transaction when signed indivi-
dually and up to €200,000 when signed jointly with any other member of the Board of Directors;

- supplies and provisions for any type of use that must have an initial maximum duration of one year, 
subject to renewal, and up to an annual amount of €50,000;

- works contracts, tenders, consultancies and freelance arrangements, including on an ongoing basis, 
drawing up the related contracts up to an annual amount of €50,000.

10) collections, disposals and receipts

11) banking and financial transactions, with the following amount limits:

- €50,000 for: withdrawals from the Company’s bank accounts and payments to its creditors; drawing or 
accepting bills of exchange; requesting cashier’s checks; collecting cheque books to be issued on the 
Company’s current accounts and signing the related request; issuing statements of indemnity,

- €50,000 for: opening, modifying or closing post office current accounts; carrying out any operation 
permitted on such accounts including withdrawals and the issuance of postal orders; collecting; issuing 
receipt and discharge in due form for sums or anything else due to the company from private indivi-
duals, firms, entities, institutions, companies of any kind, insurers, banks and pension funds.

12) insurance

13) contracts, tenders and licences



145
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

14) judicial proceedings

15) transactions and arbitration

16) tax compliance and obligations

COMMENTS ON THE LETTER OF 19 DECEMBER 2019 FROM
THE CHAIRMAN OF THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Chairman – at the meeting of 19 March 2020 – brought the Chairman of the Corporate Governance 
Committee’s letter of 19 December 2019 to the attention of the Board of Directors, as well as the Con-
trol and Risks Committee, the Remuneration and Appointments Committee and the Board of Statutory 
Auditors.
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13 See par. 2 (d) of this Report.

TABLE 1: OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE INFORMATION
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TABLE 2: STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES

NOTES
The following symbols must be inserted in the “Position” column:
• This symbol indicates the director responsible for the internal control and risk management system.
◊This symbol indicates the Issuer’s senior manager (Chief Executive Officer or CEO).

This symbol indicates the Lead Independent Director (LID), where applicable.
* The date of first appointment of each director is the date on which the director was appointed for the very first time to the Issuer’s Board of Di-
rectors.
** This column shows the list from which each director was drawn (“M”: majority list; “m”: minority list; “BoD”: list submitted by the BoD).
*** This column shows the number of directorial or statutory auditor positions held by the person concerned in other companies listed on regulated 
markets, including abroad, in financial, banking, insurance or other companies of significant size. The Corporate Governance Report provides more 
details on these positions.
(*). This column shows the participation of directors in the meetings of the Board of Directors and committees respectively.
(**). This column shows the status of the director within the Committee: “C”: chairman; “M”: member.
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TABLE 3: STRUCTURE OF THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS

NOTES
* The date of first appointment of each statutory auditor is the date on which they were appointed for the very first time to the Issuer’s Board of 
Statutory Auditors.
** This column shows the list from which each statutory auditor was drawn (“M”: majority list; “m”: minority list).
*** This column shows the participation of statutory auditors in the meetings of the board of Statutory Auditors.
****This column shows the number of director or statutory auditor positions held by the person in question pursuant to article 148-bis of the Conso-
lidated Law on Finance and the related implementing provisions contained in the Consob Issuers’ Regulation. The full list of positions is published 
by Consob on its website in accordance with article 144-quinquiedecies of the Consob Issuers’ Regulation.
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Annex A - List of the main positions held by the Directors

List of the main positions held, at the date of this Report, by each Director in other companies listed on 
regulated markets, including abroad, in financial, banking, insurance or other companies of significant 
size.
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Annex B - List of the main positions held by the Statutory Auditors

List of the main positions held, at the date of this Report, by each Statutory Auditor in other companies 
listed on regulated markets, including abroad, in financial, banking, insurance or other companies of 
significant size.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 31 December 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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Reconciliation statement at 31 December 2019
with the values ​of the Parent Company’s separate financial statements



159
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 31 December 2019

1.1 General information and significant transactions carried out in 2019

Newlat Food S.p.A. (hereinafter “Newlat”, the “Company” or the “Parent Company” and, together with the 
company it controls, the “Newlat Group” or the “Group”) is incorporated in Italy in the form of a public 
limited company, which operates under Italian law. The Company has its registered office at Via J. F. 
Kennedy 16, Reggio Emilia.

The Newlat Group is a group operating in the food sector with a large and structured product portfolio 
organised into the following business units: Pasta, Milk Products, Bakery Products, Dairy Products, Special 
Products and Other Activities.

The Company is subject to management and control by the parent company Newlat Group S.A. (herei-
nafter “Newlat Group”), a company that directly owns 66.2% of the share capital, while the remaining 
part (33.8%) was placed and subscribed by institutional investors.

Acquisition of Newlat Deutschland GmbH

On 20 June 2019, the Company entered into a contract with Newlat Group, the parent company of 
Newlat Food, for the purchase of Newlat Group’s 100% stake in Newlat GmbH Deutschland (hereinafter 
“Newlat Deutschland”) (the “Newlat Deutschland Acquisition Agreement”).

The transfer of ownership of the shares in Newlat Deutschland took place at the same time as the 
Company’s shares began trading on the MTA stock market, on 29 October 2019. This newly controlled 
company was therefore included in the scope of consolidation as of 1 November 2019.

The fee for the acquisition of all the shares in Newlat Deutschland, as a preliminary estimate of the final 
fee, was €55 million. The final fee was determined on the basis of the following contractual formula: 
Average EBITDA recorded by Newlat Deutschland in 2016, 2017, 2018 and the first half of 2019 x 8 +/- 
the net financial position at the effective date of the transfer of ownership of Newlat Deutschland sha-
res to Newlat, i.e. on 29 October 2019. The methods of calculating the net financial position and EBITDA 
that were useful for determining the final consideration had been defined in the contract.

The provisional fee, equal to €55 million, was paid by Newlat Food to Newlat Group through the pay-
ment of: (i) an amount of €10 million on 31 December 2018 and (ii) an additional five tranches, for a 
total of €45 million, between 13 May and 18 June 2019.

The price adjustment, amounting to €13.3 million, was settled between the parties on 2 December 2019 
and subsequently paid by the end of 2019.

Following this extraordinary transaction, values of the statement of financial position and the income 
statement in the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019 are not fully comparable with 
those of the previous financial year. Consequently, these Explanatory Notes mention below, where si-
gnificant, the effects on the financial statement items deriving from the purchase of the stake in Newlat 
GmbH.

Being an acquisition between related parties under common control, the difference emerging when off-
setting the value of the equity investment against the corresponding amount of equity of the acquired 
company was recorded as a reduction of consolidated shareholders’ equity. This difference is expressed, 
in the approximate amount of €42 million, in the changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity for the 
2019 financial year, and in the reconciliation statement between the shareholders’ equity from the se-
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parate financial statements (in which the value of the investment in Newlat GmbH was booked at the 
actual purchase price) and the shareholders’ equity from the consolidated financial statements.

Acquisition of Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A

On 9 April 2019, Newlat entered into a contract with Molinos del Plata S.L.U. and Molinos Rio de la Plata 
S.A. to buy shares representing the entire share capital of Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. (the “Ac-
quisition of Delverde”). The transaction was executed simultaneously with the signing of the contract.

The contract for the Acquisition of Delverde provided for a provisional price, paid by Newlat Food on 
the execution date, of €3,775 thousand, which was subsequently adjusted on the basis of the differen-
ce between the values of the net financial position and working capital conventionally determined by 
the parties and the actual values on the execution date. The methods for calculating the net financial 
position and working capital used to determine the consideration have been defined within the scope 
of the contract. Further (decreasing) adjustments to the price were envisaged, on the one hand with 
reference to contingent liabilities relating to the period prior to the transaction execution date due 
to discount agreements in favour of large-scale retailers, and, on the other hand, with reference to 
the non-collection of receivables, net of the related provision for bad debts recorded in the financial 
statements. The positive price adjustment amounted to €147 thousand, collected by Newlat Food on 3 
December 2019.

Merger by incorporation of Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A.
into Newlat Food S.p.A.

On 6 September 2019, the Board of Directors of Newlat S.p.A. approved the proposed merger by incorpo-
ration of the wholly owned subsidiary Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. The transaction falls within 
the scope of the Newlat Group 2020-2022 Strategic Plan, with continuation of the policy of improved 
efficiency, streamlining and simplification of production flows and processes, allowing synergies to be 
achieved and overall costs to be reduced as of 2020. This extraordinary merger operation has no effect 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019, which already reflect Delverde’s 
results from the date of acquisition (9 April 2019).

On 17 September 2019, by a notarial deed of merger, in the presence of the Notary Ciro De Vivo, the 
parent company Newlat Food S.p.A. resolved to incorporate Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. with 
subsequent legal effects on 31 December 2019 and accounting effects on the date of acquisition (i.e. 9 
April 2019).

The transaction was recognised according to the provisions included in IFRS 3 - “Business Combinations”, 
as it is an acquisition. No difference emerged when offsetting the value of the equity investment against 
the corresponding amount of equity of the incorporated company restated in accordance with IFRS.

Following this extraordinary transaction, values of the statement of financial position and the income 
statement in the consolidated and separate financial statements of Newlat Food at 31 December 2019 
are not fully comparable with those of the previous financial year. Consequently, these Explanatory No-
tes mention below, where significant, the effects on the financial statement items deriving from the pur-
chase of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. The accounting 
values, prepared in compliance with IAS/IFRS, not including definitive purchase price allocation records, 
of the subsidiary Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A at 31 December 2019 are given below:
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Merger by incorporation of Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A.
into Newlat Food S.p.A. 

On 6 September 2019, the Board of Directors of Newlat S.p.A. approved the proposed merger by incor-
poration of the wholly owned subsidiary Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. The transaction falls within 
the scope of the Newlat Group 2020-2022 Strategic Plan, with continuation of the policy of improved 
efficiency, streamlining and simplification of production flows and processes, allowing synergies to be 
achieved and overall costs to be reduced as of 2020. This extraordinary merger operation did not have 
any effects on the Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements at 31 December 2019, as Centrale del 
Latte di Salerno was already previously wholly owned by the Parent Company.

On 17 September 2019, by a notarial deed of merger, in the presence of the Notary Ciro De Vivo, the pa-
rent company Newlat Food S.p.A. resolved to incorporate Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. with subse-
quent legal effects on 31 December 2019 and accounting and tax effects backdated to 1 January 2019. 

With no specific indications in the international accounting standards, the transaction was recognised 
according to the provisions of the Assirevi document OPI no. 2R which, in the case of mergers not clas-
sified as a purchase, require the application of the principle of continuity of value, given the lack of an 
exchange with third party economies. In particular, this interpretation gives importance to the existen-
ce of a control relationship and to the previous purchase cost, and relative purchase price allocation, 
deriving from the Group’s previous consolidated financial statements. As laid down in OPI no. 2R, the 
difference emerging when offsetting the value of the equity investment and the corresponding share 
of equity of the incorporated company shown in the consolidated financial statements, totalling €4,708 
thousand, was classified as an increase in shareholders’ equity in the amount of €916 thousand (as 
retained earnings of the investee) and as goodwill in the amount of €3,863, being consistent with the 
values with the Consolidated Financial Statements at 31 December 2018.

With regard to this extraordinary transaction, values of the statement of financial position and the inco-
me statement in the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019 are fully comparable with 
those of the previous financial year.

Business combinations

Business combinations, by virtue of which control of a business is acquired, are recognised in accordance 
with IFRS 3 “Business combinations”, applying the so-called acquisition method. In particular, the iden-
tifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are recognised at their 
current value on the date of acquisition, i.e. the date on which control is acquired (the “Acquisition 
Date”), with the exception of deferred tax assets and liabilities, employee benefit assets and liabilities 
and assets held for sale, which are recognised in accordance with the relevant accounting principles. If 
positive, the difference between the cost of acquisition and the current value of the assets and liabilities 
is recorded in intangible assets as goodwill; if negative, after having checked that the current values of 
the assets and liabilities acquired and the cost of acquisition have been properly measured, it is recor-
ded directly in the statement of other comprehensive income, as revenue.
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Minority interests on the date of acquisition can be measured at fair value or at the pro-rata of the va-
lue of the net assets recognised for the acquired company. The valuation method is chosen on a tran-
saction-by-transaction basis.

When the assets and liabilities of the acquired business are calculated on a provisional basis, this must 
be completed within twelve months of the date of acquisition, taking into account only information 
relating to facts and circumstances existing at the Acquisition Date. In the year in which the aforemen-
tioned calculation is concluded, the provisionally recognised values are adjusted with retrospective ef-
fect. The ancillary expenses of the transaction are recognised in the statement of other comprehensive 
income at the moment at which they are incurred.

The cost of acquisition is represented by the fair value on the Acquisition Date of the assets transferred, 
the liabilities assumed and the equity instruments issued for the purpose of the acquisition, and also 
includes the contingent consideration, i.e. the part of the fee whose amount and disbursement are 
dependent on future events. The contingent consideration is recognised on the basis of its fair value 
at the Acquisition Date, and subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in the statement of other 
comprehensive if the contingent consideration is a financial asset or liability, while contingent consi-
derations classified as equity are not restated and the subsequent elimination occurs directly in equity.
 
Where control is acquired in subsequent phases, the acquisition cost is determined by adding the fair 
value of the investment previously held in the acquiree and the amount paid for the additional portion. 
Any difference between the fair value of the investment previously held and its carrying value is char-
ged to the statement of other comprehensive income. When control is acquired, any amounts previously 
recognised as other components of comprehensive income are recognised in the statement of other 
comprehensive income or, if such reclassification is not envisaged, in another shareholders’ equity item.

On 9 April 2019, Newlat entered into a contract with Molinos del Plata S.L.U. and Molinos Rio de la Plata 
S.A. to buy and sell shares representing the entire share capital of Delverde.

The following table provides the book values of the net assets acquired as part of the Delverde Acqui-
sition:
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Listing on the Stock Exchange on 29 October 2019 and accounting for listing costs

On 29 October 2019, Newlat Food SpA successfully concluded operation to list its own shares on the 
STAR segment of the Mercato Telematico Azionario (“MTA”), organised and managed by Borsa Italiana. 
The transaction, carried out entirely in the form of a Public Offer for Subscription, raised €79,927 thou-
sand from subscription fees for the newly issued shares, including the issue premium, with a correspon-
ding gross increase in consolidated shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2019 (share capital and share 
premium reserve). In accordance with the provisions of IAS 32, the IPO listing, amounting to €5,077 
thousand, were recorded as a direct reduction in shareholders’ equity, net of the related tax benefit of 
€1,416 thousand, giving a total net increase in consolidated shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2019 
of €76,267 thousand.

The aforementioned extraordinary transactions carried out by the Newlat Group in the year ended 31 
December 2019 affect the comparability of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019 
with the consolidated accounting data for the previous year ended 31 December 2018.

2 ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The accounting standards and measurement criteria adopted in the preparation and drafting of the 
annual report at 31 December 2019 are set out below.

The annual report at 31 December 2019 has been drafted in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and endor-
sed by the European Union. “IFRS” should also be taken to include the International Accounting Standards 
(“IAS”) still in force, as well as all interpretative documents issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee, 
formerly the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) and even earlier the 
Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”).

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that have an effect on the assets, liabilities, costs and revenues. The final results may be 
different to those obtained through these estimates. The financial statement items that most require 
greater subjectivity on the part of the directors when producing the estimates and for which a change 
in the conditions underlying the assumptions used could have a significant impact on the financial 
statements are: goodwill, depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets, deferred taxes, the pro-
vision for doubtful receivables and the provision for inventory write-downs, the provisions for risks, the 
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defined benefit plans for employees and the payables for the purchase of equity investments contained 
in the other liabilities.

In particular, discretionary measurements and significant accounting estimates relate to the determina-
tion of the recoverable amount of non-financial assets calculated as the greater of fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. Value in use is calculated based on a discounted cash flow model. The recove-
rable value depends significantly on the discount rate used in the discounted cash flow model, as well 
as on expected future cash flows and the growth rate used. The key assumptions used to determine the 
recoverable value for the two cash-generating units, including a sensitivity analysis, are described in 
note 8.3 of the Consolidated Financial Statements at 31 December 2019.

The use of significant accounting estimates and assumptions also relates to the determination of the 
fair value of assets and liabilities acquired as part of business combinations. In fact, at the date of 
acquisition, the Group must separately recognise, at their fair value, assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities identifiable and acquired or assumed as part of the business combination, and determine 
the present value of the strike price of any call options on minority shares. This process requires the 
preparation of estimates, based on valuation techniques, which require judgement in the forecasting of 
future cash flows as well as the development of other assumptions such as long-term growth rates and 
discount rates for valuation models developed also with the use of experts outside the management 
team. The accounting impacts of the determination of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, as well as of the call options of minority interests for the business combinations that occurred 
during the year, are provided in the previous paragraph of this Note.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The Consolidated Financial Statements consists of the statement of financial position, the income sta-
tement, the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the statement of cash flows and the notes.

The layout adopted for the statement of financial position provides for the separation of assets and 
liabilities between current and non-current.

An asset is classified as current when:

• it is assumed that this activity is carried out, or is owned for sale or consumption, in the normal course 
of the operating cycle;

• it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

• it is assumed that it will be realised within twelve months of the reporting date;

• it consists of cash and cash equivalents (unless it is prohibited to exchange it or use it to settle a lia-
bility for at least twelve months from the reporting date).

All other assets are classified as non-current. In particular, IAS 1 includes property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets and long-term financial assets as non-current assets.

A liability is classified as current when:

• it is expected to be extinguished in the normal operating cycle;

• it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
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• it will be extinguished within twelve months of the reporting date;

• there is no unconditional right to defer its settlement for at least twelve months from the reporting 
date. Clauses of a liability that could, at the discretion of the counterparty, result in its extinction throu-
gh the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

The chosen income statement layout provides for the classification of costs by destination.

The statement of other comprehensive income includes the result for the year and, with the same cate-
gories, income and expenses that, according to IFRSs, are directly recognised under equity.

The statement of changes in equity includes, in addition to the total gains / losses for the period, the 
amounts of transactions with shareholders and movements in reserves during the year.

In the statement of cash flows, the financial flows from operating activities are presented using the 
indirect method, under which the profit or loss for the year is adjusted by the effects of non-monetary 
operations, by any deferral or provision of previous or future operating inflows or outflows, and by ele-
ments of revenue or costs related to financial flows deriving from investment activities or financing 
activities.

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in thousands of euro, the functional cur-
rency of the Group. The statement of financial position, income statement, statement of cash flows, 
explanatory notes and tables are in thousands of euro, unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared:

• on the basis of the best knowledge of IFRSs and taking into account the best doctrine on the subject;;

• under the going-concern principle, in accordance with the principle of accrual accounting, in com-
pliance with the principle of materiality of information and substance over form, and with a view to 
encouraging consistency with future presentations. The assets and liabilities and costs and revenues are 
not offset against each other, unless this is permitted or required by international accounting standards;

• on the basis of the conventional historical cost criterion, except for the measurement of financial as-
sets and liabilities in cases where application of the fair value criterion is mandatory.

Criteria for preparation of the consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in order to represent the assets, liabilities, reve-
nues and costs directly and indirectly attributable to the Newlat Group.

In relation to the criteria for aggregating financial information, it should be noted that the acquisition 
of Newlat Deutschland is a business combination under common control and, as such, is recognised in 
accordance with document OPI No. 1 R (ASSIREVI preliminary guidance on IFRS). In particular, these bu-
siness combinations were implemented for purposes other than the transfer of control, and essentially 
represent a simple corporate reorganisation. With this in mind, since the aforementioned transactions 
do not have a significant influence on the cash flows of the net assets transferred before and after 
acquisition, they were recognised on the basis of continuity of values. In addition, it should be noted 
that, since these transactions are settled by payment of a consideration in cash, the difference between 
the transfer value (amount of the consideration in cash) and the historical book values ​ ​ transferred 
represents a transaction with shareholders to be recognised as a distribution of the purchasing entity’s 
shareholders’ equity.
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2.2 Consolidation criteria and methodology

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the results, assets and liabilities and cash flows of 
Newlat Food and the subsidiaries approved by the respective administrative bodies, prepared on the 
basis of their relative accounting situations and, where applicable, adjusted accordingly to bring them 
into compliance with IFRS.

The reporting date of the consolidated entities is aligned with that of the Parent Company.

The following table summarises, with reference to the companies included in the scope of the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements, the information relating to the company name, registered office, functional 
currency and share capital at 31 December 2019:

It should be noted that at the reference dates of the Consolidated Financial Statements, all the com-
panies included within the scope were consolidated using the line-by-line method and no minority 
interests were recognised.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, all balances and transactions carried out between 
the companies included in the scope have been eliminated and therefore the Consolidated Financial 
Statements do not include any of the transactions in question.

During the year under review, the changes in the scope of consolidation concern the acquisitions of 
Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. and Newlat Deutschland.

Subsidiaries

An investor controls an entity when: (i) it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involve-
ment with the entity and (ii) it has the ability to affect those returns through its power over said entity. 
The existence of control is checked every time facts and/or circumstances point to a change in one of 
the aforementioned elements constituting control. Subsidiaries are consolidated using the line-by-line 
method from the date on which control was acquired. They cease to be consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to third parties. The following criteria were adopted for line-by-line conso-
lidation:

• lassets and liabilities and income and expenses of the subsidiaries are consolidated line-by-line, at-
tributing to the minority shareholders, where applicable, their portion of equity and net profit/loss for 
the period; these portions are shown separately in equity and the statement of other comprehensive 
income;
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• gains and losses, including related tax effects, on transactions between companies consolidated on a 
line-by-line basis and unrealised gains and losses on transactions with third parties are derecognised, 
except for losses that are not derecognised if the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the 
transferred asset. The mutual debit and credit positions, costs and revenues and financial expenses and 
income are also eliminated.

Conversion of items in foreign currency

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recognised at the exchange rate on 
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the euro are then 
adjusted at the exchange rate in place on the reporting date. Exchange rate differences that may arise 
are reflected in the income statement under the item “Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange”.

Intra-group transactions

Profits arising from transactions between consolidated companies and not yet realised with respect to 
third parties are eliminated, as are the receivables, payables, income and expenses, guarantees, commit-
ments and risks between consolidated companies. Intra-group losses are not eliminated because they 
are considered representative of impairment of the transferred asset.

2.3 Accounting standards and measurement criteria

Adopted accounting standards

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with current IFRS issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and endorsed by the European Union at the end 
of each of the reporting periods.

The Group exercised the right for early adoption, from 1 January 2018, of IFRS 16 “Leases”, in force from 
1 January 2019, adopting the “modified retrospective approach”. IFRS 16 replaces the accounting standard 
IAS 17 “Leases” and the interpretations IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”, 
SIC 15 “Operating Leases - Incentives” and SIC 27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the 
Legal Form of a Lease”.

Below are the criteria used with reference to the classification, recognition, measurement and dere-
cognition of the various asset and liability items, as well as the criteria used to recognise the income 
components.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recognised as such only if the following conditions are met simulta-
neously:

• it is probable that the future economic benefits related to the asset will be enjoyed by the company;

• the cost can be reliably determined.

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost, defined as the monetary or equivalent 
amount paid or the fair value of other considerations made to acquire an asset, at the time of purchase 
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or replacement. Subsequent to initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are valued using the 
cost method, net of recorded depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The cost includes the costs directly incurred to make their use possible, as well as any dismantling and 
removal costs that will be incurred as a result of contractual obligations that require the return of the 
asset to its original condition.

Costs incurred for maintenance and repairs of an ordinary and/or cyclical nature are directly charged to 
the income statement when incurred. The capitalisation of the costs inherent in the extension, moder-
nisation or improvement of structural elements owned or used by third parties shall be carried out to 
the extent that they meet the requirements to be classified separately as an asset or part of an asset.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. The useful 
life estimated by the Group for the various categories of property, plant and equipment is shown below:

At the end of each financial year, the company checks whether significant changes have occurred in the 
expected characteristics of the economic benefits deriving from the capitalised assets and, if so, modi-
fies the depreciation criterion, which is considered a change in accounting estimate in accordance with 
IAS 8.

The value of the asset is completely reversed at the time of its disposal or when the company expects 
that it will not be able to derive any economic benefit from its disposal.

Capital grants shall be accounted for when it is reasonably certain that they will be received and all 
conditions relating to them are met. Contributions are then deducted from the value of assets or su-
spended among liabilities and credited pro rata to the income statement in relation to the useful life 
of the related assets.

Intangible assets

An intangible asset is an asset that simultaneously fulfils the following conditions:

• it is identifiable;

• it is non-monetary;

• it has no physical consistency;

• it is under the control of the company preparing the accounts;

• it is expected to produce future economic benefits for the company.
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If an asset does not meet the above requirements to be defined as an intangible asset, the expense 
incurred to acquire it or generate it internally is recognised as a cost when incurred.

Intangible assets are initially stated at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired from outside includes 
the purchase price and any directly attributable costs. 

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an asset, neither are intangible assets arising from 
research (or the research phase of an internal project).

An intangible asset arising from development or the development phase of an internal project is reco-
gnised if compliance with the following conditions can be demonstrated:

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so as to be available for use or sale;

• the intention to complete the intangible asset for use or sale;

• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• the manner in which the intangible asset is capable of generating future economic benefits and in 
particular the existence of a market for the product of the intangible asset or for the intangible asset 
itself or, if it is to be used for internal purposes, its usefulness;

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and 
the use or sale of the asset;

• the ability to reliably measure the cost attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

Intangible assets are measured using the cost method in accordance with one of the two different cri-
teria set out in IAS 38 (cost model and revaluation model). The cost model requires an intangible asset 
to be recognised at cost after initial recognition, net of accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

The useful life estimated by the Group for the various categories of intangible assets is shown below:
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The following main intangible assets can be identified within the Group:

Goodwill

Goodwill is classified as an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life and is initially accounted for 
at cost, as previously described. It is then measured at least once a year to identify any impairment (see 
in this regard the paragraph below “Impairment of goodwill, property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets and right-of-use assets “). Reversals are not permitted in the case of a previous write-down due 
to impairment.

Trademarks with an indefinite useful life

Trademarks, for which the conditions for classification as intangible assets with an indefinite useful life 
are met, are not amortised systematically and are subject to impairment testing at least once a year.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are recognised at cost, as previously described, net of accumu-
lated amortisation and any impairment losses.

Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and is systematically distributed in relation to 
the residual possibility of use of said asset, i.e. on the basis of the estimated useful life; for the value to 
be amortised and the recoverability of the carrying amount, the criteria indicated, respectively, in the 
paragraphs “Property, plant and equipment” and “Impairment of goodwill, property, plant and equip-
ment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets” apply.

Investment property

An investment property is an immovable property (i.e. a piece of land, a building or part of it, or both) 
owned for the purpose of receiving rent on it or for focusing on the long-term appreciation of invested 
capital, or for both of these reasons. Possession may be exercised either by way of ownership or under 
a finance lease agreement.

An investment property must be initially valued at cost, including the costs of the acquisition in the case 
of both purchase and self-construction of the investment property. In the first case, the purchase cost 
includes, in addition to the purchase price and by way of example, professional fees for the provision of 
legal services, taxes for the transfer of ownership and any other cost of the transaction. Following initial 
measurement, investment property is valued at depreciated cost. 

Lease contracts

a) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities – 31 December 2019 (IFRS 16)

The Group has exercised its right for early adoption, from 1 January 2018, of the new accounting stan-
dard IFRS 16 “Leases”, which replaces IAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretations.

In accordance with IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if, in exchange for consideration, it conveys 
the right to control the use of a specified asset for a period of time. The contract is re-evaluated to verify 
whether it is, or contains, a lease only if the terms and conditions of the contract are changed.

For a contract that is, or contains, a lease, each lease component is separated from the non-lease com-
ponents, unless the Group applies the practical expedient referred to in paragraph 15 of IFRS 16. This 
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practical expedient allows the lessee to choose, for each class of underlying asset, not to separate the 
non-lease components from the lease components and to recognise each lease component and the as-
sociated non-lease components as a single lease component.

The duration of the lease is determined as the non-cancellable period of the lease, to which must be 
added both the following periods:

• periods covered by a lease extension option, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option; 
and

• periods covered by the lease termination option, if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise the 
option.

In assessing whether the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option to extend the lease or not to 
exercise the option to terminate the lease, all relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive for the lessee to exercise the option shall be considered. The lessee must redefine the lease 
term in the event of a change in the non-cancellable lease period.

At the effective date of the contract, the Group recognises the right-of use-asset and the related lease 
liability.

At the effective date of the contract, the right-of-use asset is valued at cost. The cost of the right-of-use 
asset includes:

• the initial value of the lease liability;

• payments due for the lease made on or before the effective date, net of the lease incentives received;

• the initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

• the estimate of the costs to be incurred by the lessee for the dismantling and removal of the under-
lying asset and for the restoration of the site where it is located or for the restoration of the underlying 
asset under the terms and conditions of the lease, unless such costs are incurred for the production of 
inventories.

On the lease start date, the lessee shall measure the lease liability at the current value of the payments 
due for the lease but not yet paid. Payments due for the lease include the following amounts:

• fixed payments, net of any outstanding lease incentives;

• variable payments due for the lease that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using an index 
or rate on the effective date;

• the amounts expected to be paid by the lessee as guarantees of the residual value;

• the exercise price of the purchase option, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

• lease termination penalty payments, if the lease term takes into account the lessee’s exercise of the 
lease termination option.

Payments due for the lease must be discounted using the implicit interest rate of the lease, if it can be 
easily determined. If this is not possible, the lessee must use its marginal lending rate, i.e. the incremen-
tal interest rate that the company would have to pay to obtain a loan of the same duration and amount 
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as the lease agreement.

Subsequent to initial recognition, right-of-use assets are measured at cost:

• net of accumulated depreciation/amortisation and impairment; and

• adjusted to take into account any restatement of the lease liability.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured:

• by increasing the book value to take account of interest;

• by decreasing the book value to take account of lease payments that have been made; and

• by restating the book value to take account of any new valuations or changes in the lease or revision 
of payments due for fixed leases.

In the case of lease changes that do not constitute a separate lease, the right-of-use asset is restated 
(up or down), in line with the change in the lease liability at the date of the change. The lease liability is 
restated according to the new terms of the lease agreement, using the discount rate at the date of the 
change.

It should be noted that the Group makes use of two exemptions under IFRS 16, with reference to: (i) 
short-term leases (i.e. leases with a duration of 12 months or less from the effective date), in relation to 
certain categories of fixed assets, and (ii) leases of low-value assets (i.e. when the value of the underlying 
asset, if new, is less than $5,000, for example). In such cases, the right-of-use asset and the related lease 
liability are not recognised, and the payments due for the lease are recognised in the income statement.

Impairment of goodwill, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets

On each reporting date, a test is carried out to ascertain whether there are any indicators of impairment 
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that are not fully depreciated/amortised or of 
indefinite useful life.

Where these indicators are present, the recoverable value of the above-mentioned assets is estima-
ted, and any write-down is recognised in the Income Statement. The recoverable value of an asset is 
the higher of the fair value, less costs to sell, and the related value in use, determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash flows for that asset, including, if they are significant and can be reasonably 
determined, those arising from the sale at the end of its useful life, net of any costs of disposal. In de-
termining the value in use, the expected future cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects the current market valuations of the cost of the money, in proportion to the period of the 
investment and the specific risks of the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash flows, the recoverable value is determined 
in relation to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which that asset belongs.

Impairment is recognised in the income statement if the book value of the asset, or of the CGU to which 
it is allocated, is higher than its recoverable value. The impairment of a CGU is initially recognised as a 
reduction in the book value of any goodwill attributed to it and, therefore, as a reduction in other assets, 
in proportion to their book value and within the limits of their recoverable value. If the conditions for a 
previous write-down no longer exist, the book value of the asset is restored via the income statement, 
up to the limit of the net book value that the asset in question would have had without write-down and 
amortisation/depreciation. Reversals of goodwill impairment are not permitted in the case of a previous 
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write-down due to impairment.

Financial assets

At the time of initial recognition, financial assets must be classified as “Financial assets at amortised 
cost”, “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” or “Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss” on the basis of the following elements:

• the entity’s business model for the management of the financial assets; and

• the characteristics of the financial asset’s contractual cash flows.

Financial assets are subsequently derecognised only if the disposal entails the substantial transfer of 
all risks and rewards connected to the assets. On the other hand, if a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards relating to the disposed financial assets has been retained, they continue to be recognised in 
the financial statements, even if legally their ownership has been effectively transferred.

Financial assets at amortised cost

a) Financial assets at amortised cost – 31 December 2019 (IFRS 9)

This category includes the financial assets that meet both of the following conditions:

• the financial asset is held according to a “hold to collect” business model; and

• the contractual conditions of the financial asset provide for cash flows on certain dates which consist 
only of payments of capital and interest on the amount of capital to be repaid ( “SPPI test” passed).

These assets are initially recognised at fair value inclusive of the transaction costs or income directly 
attributable to the instrument. Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets in question are me-
asured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost method is not used for 
assets valued at historical cost whose short duration makes the effect of discounting negligible, those 
without a defined maturity or for revocable credit lines.

This category mainly includes trade receivables arising from the transfer of goods and the provision of 
services, recognised in accordance with the terms of the contract with the customer in accordance with 
IFRS 15 and classified according to the nature of the debtor and/or the expiry date of the receivable 
(this definition includes invoices to be issued for services already rendered).

Moreover, since trade receivables are generally short-term and do not provide for the payment of in-
terest, the amortised cost is not calculated, and they are recognised on the basis of the nominal value 
reported in invoices issued or contracts concluded with customers: this provision is also adopted for 
trade receivables with a contractual maturity of more than 12 months, unless the effect is particularly 
significant. The choice stems from the fact that the amount of short-term receivables is very similar 
whether you apply the historical cost method or the amortised cost method, and the impact of discoun-
ting would therefore be wholly negligible.

Trade receivables are subject to impairment testing in accordance with IFRS 9. For the purposes of the 
measurement process, trade receivables are divided into maturity time bands. For performing loans, a 
collective assessment is made by grouping the individual exposures on the basis of similar credit risk. 
The valuation is based on losses recorded for assets with similar credit risk characteristics based on 
historical experience and takes into account expected losses.
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a) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – 31 December 2019(IFRS 9)

This category includes the financial assets that meet both of the following conditions:

• the financial asset is held according to a “hold to collect and sell” business model; and

• the contractual conditions of the financial asset provide for cash flows on certain dates which consist 
only of payments of capital and interest on the amount of capital to be repaid ( “SPPI test” passed).

These assets are initially recognised at fair value inclusive of the transaction costs or income directly 
attributable to the instrument. Following initial recognition, equity investments that do not qualify as 
subsidiaries, associates or joint control investees are measured at fair value, and amounts recognised as 
a counter-entry in equity should not be subsequently transferred to the income statement, even in the 
case of disposal. The only component referring to the equity instruments in question subject to recogni-
tion in the income statement is the relative dividends.

For the equity instruments included in this category and not listed in an active market, the cost criterion 
is used to estimate fair value only on a residual basis and in limited circumstances, or when the most 
recent information to measure fair value is insufficient, or if there is a broad range of possible fair value 
measurements and cost represents the best estimate of fair value within that range of values.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 31 December 2019(IFRS 9)

This category includes financial assets other than those classified under “Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income” and “Financial assets at amortised cost”. This item, in particular, 
includes only equity instruments held for purposes other than trading for which the Group has not op-
ted for measurement at fair value through other comprehensive income, and bonds.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, usually represen-
ted by the transaction price.

After initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses resulting 
from the change in fair value are attributed to the Consolidated income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are assets:

• held for sale in the normal course of business;

• used in production processes for sale;

• in the form of materials or supplies of goods to be used in the production process or in the provision 
of services.

Inventories are recognised and measured at the lesser of cost and the net realisable value.

The cost of inventories includes all purchase costs, transformation costs and other costs incurred to 
bring inventories to their current location and condition, while it does not include exchange differences 
in the case of inventories invoiced in foreign currency. In accordance with the provisions of IAS 2, the 
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weighted average cost method is used to determine the cost of inventories.

When the net realisable value is less than cost, the surplus is immediately written down in the income 
statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are recorded, depending on their nature, at nominal value or amortised cost. 
Other cash equivalents represent short-term and highly liquid financial commitments that are readily 
convertible into known cash values​ and subject to a negligible risk of change in value, with an original 
maturity or a maturity at the time of purchase of not more than 3 months.

Payables

Payables relating to the year ended 31 December 2019 (IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018).

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured using the 
amortised cost method.

Payables to banks and other lenders are initially stated at their fair value, net of directly attributable an-
cillary costs, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, applying the effective interest rate criterion. 
When there is a change in the estimate of expected cash flows, the value of liabilities is recalculated to 
reflect that change on the basis of the present value of the new expected cash flows and the internal 
effective rate initially determined. Payables to banks and other lenders are classified as current liabili-
ties, unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer payment for at least twelve months after the 
reference date.

Payables are derecognised when they are settled and when the Group has transferred all risks and char-
ges relating to the instrument.

Employee benefits

These include benefits granted to employees or their dependants and can be liquidated by means of 
payments (or with the supply of goods and services) made directly to employees, spouses, children or 
other dependants or to third parties such as insurance companies, and are divided into short-term be-
nefits, benefits due to employees for termination of employment and post-employment benefits.

Short-term benefits, which also include incentive programmes in the form of annual bonuses, MBOs and 
one-off renewals of national collective agreements, are accounted for as a liability (cost provision) after 
deducting any amount already paid, and as a cost, unless some other IFRS requires or permits the inclu-
sion of benefits in the cost of an asset (for example, the cost of personnel employed in the development 
of internally generated intangible assets).

The category of benefits for termination of employment includes departure incentive plans arising in 
the event of voluntary resignation involving the participation of the employee or a group of employees 
in trade union agreements for the activation of so-called solidarity funds, and redundancy plans, which 
take place when the company unilaterally terminates the contract. The company recognises the cost of 
these benefits as a financial liability at the earliest of the time when the company is unable to withdraw 
the offer of these benefits and the time when the company recognises the costs of a restructuring that 
falls within the scope of IAS 37. Provisions for departures shall be reviewed at least every six months.
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Post-employment benefit plans are broken down into two categories: defined contribution plans and 
defined benefit plans.

Defined contribution plans mainly include:

• supplementary pension funds involving a defined contribution by the company;

• the severance indemnity fund, limited to the shares accruing from 1 January 2007 for undertakings 
with more than 50 employees, irrespective of the destination chosen by the employee;

• employee severance indemnities accruing from 1 January 2007 and earmarked for supplementary 
pensions, in the case of undertakings with fewer than 50 employees;

• supplementary healthcare funds.

Defined benefit plans, on the other hand, include:

• the severance indemnity, limited to the amount accrued up to 31 December 2006 for all undertakings, 
as well as the amounts accrued since 1 January 2007 and not intended for supplementary pensions for 
undertakings with fewer than 50 employees;

• supplementary pension funds that provide for the payment of a defined benefit to members;

• long-service bonuses, which provide for an extraordinary payment to the employee upon reaching a 
certain level of working seniority.

In defined contribution plans, the obligation of the reporting company is determined on the basis of 
the contributions due for that year and therefore the measurement of the obligation does not require 
actuarial assumptions and there is no possibility of actuarial gains or losses.

The accounting for defined benefit plans is characterised by the use of actuarial assumptions to deter-
mine the value of the obligation. This valuation is entrusted to an external actuary and is carried out 
annually. For discounting purposes, the company uses the projected unit credit method, which projects 
future expenditure based on historical statistical analysis, the demographic curve, and the financial 
discounting of these cash flows based on the market interest rate. Actuarial gains and losses are reco-
gnised as a counter-entry in equity as required by IAS 19.

Provisions for risks and charges, and contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and liabilities can be divided into several categories depending on their nature and 
their accounting impact. In particular:

• the provisions are actual obligations of an uncertain amount and occurrence/maturity which arise 
from past events and for which it is probable that there will be a financial outlay that can be reliably 
estimated in terms of amount;

• contingent liabilities are possible obligations with a distinct probability of having to make a financial 
outlay;

• remote liabilities are those for which a financial outlay is unlikely;

• potential assets are assets which are uncertain and cannot therefore be recognised in the financial 
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statements;

• the onerous contract is a contract in which the non-discretionary costs necessary to fulfil the obli-
gations assumed are greater than the economic benefits that are supposed to be obtainable from the 
contract;

• restructuring is a programme planned and controlled by the company’s management that significantly 
changes the scope of an activity undertaken by the company or the way in which the activity is managed.

For the purpose of recognising the charge, provisions are recorded in cases where there is uncertainty 
about the maturity or the amount of the flow of resources necessary to fulfil the obligation or other 
liabilities and in particular trade payables or provisions for presumed payables.

Provisions differ from other liabilities in that there is no certainty as to their maturity or the amount of 
future expenditure required. Due to their different nature, provisions are shown separately from trade 
payables and provisions for presumed payables.

Liabilities or allocations to a provision are recognised when:

• there is a current legal or implied obligation resulting from past events;

• it is probable that resources designed to produce economic benefits will have to be used to settle the 
obligation;

• the obligation can be reliably estimated.

Provisions require the use of estimates. In extremely rare circumstances where a reliable estimate can-
not be made, the liability is classed as a contingent liability.

The allocation to the provision for risks and charges is an amount that represents the best possible 
estimate of the expenditure needed to liquidate the relevant obligation outstanding on the reporting 
date and takes into account the risks and uncertainties that inevitably surround many events and circu-
mstances. The amount of the allocation reflects any future events that may affect the amount required 
to settle an obligation if there is sufficient objective evidence that they will occur.

Once the best possible estimate of the expense necessary to settle the related obligation outstanding 
on the reporting date has been determined, the current value of the provision is determined, in the 
event that the effect of the present value of money is a relevant aspect.

Revenue from contracts with customers

a) Revenue from contracts with related customers - year ended 31 December 2019 (IFRS 15)

The Group applies IFRS 15 as of 1 January 2018. In accordance with this standard, revenue from con-
tracts with customers is recognised when the following conditions are met:

• the contract with the customer has been identified;

• performance obligations set forth in the contract have been identified;

• the price has been determined;
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• the price has been allocated to the individual performance obligations set forth in the contract;

• the performance obligation set forth in the contract has been met.

The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers when (or as) it fulfils the performance 
obligation, transferring the promised good or service (or asset) to the customer. The asset is transferred 
when (or as) the customer acquires control over it.

The Group transfers control over the good or service over time, and therefore fulfils the performance 
obligation and recognises revenue over time, when one of the following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and uses the benefits arising from the entity’s service as it is 
provided;

• the service of the Group creates or improves the asset (e.g. work in progress) that the customer con-
trols as the asset is created or improved;

• the service of the Group does not create an asset which has an alternative use for the Group and the 
Group has the enforceable right to payment for the service completed up to the date in question.

If the performance obligation is not met over time, it is met at a specific moment. In that case, the Group 
recognises revenue when the customer acquires control over the promised asset.

The contractual consideration included in the contract with the customer may include fixed or variable 
amounts or both. If the contractual consideration includes a variable amount (e.g. discounts, conces-
sions, incentives, penalties or other similar elements), the Group estimates the amount of the conside-
ration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the transfer of the promised goods or services to the 
customer. The Group includes the amount of the estimated variable consideration in the transaction 
price only to the extent to which it is highly likely that when the uncertainty associated with the va-
riable consideration is subsequently resolved, there will not be a significant downward adjustment in 
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised.

Incremental costs for obtaining customer contracts are accounted for as assets and amortised throu-
ghout the term of the underlying contract, if the Group expects them to be recovered. Incremental costs 
for obtaining the contract are costs that the Group incurs to obtain the contract with the customer and 
which it would not have incurred if it had not obtained the contract. The costs for obtaining the contract 
which would have been incurred even if the contract had not been obtained should be recognised as a 
cost at the moment they are incurred, unless they are explicitly chargeable to the customer even if the 
contract is not obtained.

Recognition of costs

Costs are recognised in the income statement according to the accruals principle.

Dividends

Dividends received are recognised in the income statement according to the accruals principle, i.e. in 
the year in which the related right to receive them emerges, following the shareholders’ resolution to 
distribute dividends from the investee company.

Distributed dividends are shown as changes in equity in the year in which they are approved by the 
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Shareholders’ Meeting.

Income taxes

Current taxes are calculated based on the taxable income for the year, applying the tax rates in force 
at the date of the financial statements. Current taxes for the year and for prior years, where unpaid, are 
recognised as liabilities. Current tax assets and liabilities, for the current year and for prior years, must 
be determined at the value expected to be recovered from or paid to, respectively, the tax authorities, 
applying the tax rates and legislation that is in force or imminent at the reporting date.

Deferred taxes can be divided into:

• deferred tax liabilities, which are the amounts of income taxes payable in future years relating to ta-
xable temporary differences;

• deferred tax assets, which are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in future years relating to 
deductible temporary differences, carry-over of unused tax losses, carry-over of unused tax credits.

To calculate the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities, the tax rate is applied to the temporary 
taxable or deductible differences identified, or to unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

At each reporting date, recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are revalued to check whether 
they are likely to be recovered.

Net profit/(loss) per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit (loss) pertaining to the Group by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the year, excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit (loss) pertaining to the Group by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the year, excluding treasury shares. 
To calculate the diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares in circulation is 
modified assuming that all assignees exercise rights with a potentially dilutive effect, while the profit 
(loss) pertaining to the Group is adjusted to take into account any effects, net of taxes, of the exercise 
of such rights.

Operating segments

The operating segment is a part of the group that undertakes business activities that generate revenue 
and costs, whose operating results are periodically reviewed by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
in his role as Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM), for the purpose of taking decisions on the resour-
ces to be allocated to the sector and evaluating results, and for which financial information is available.
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2.4 Recently issued accounting standards

Accounting standards not yet applicable, as they have not been endorsed by the European Union

At the date of approval of these Consolidated Financial Statements, the competent bodies of the Euro-
pean Union have not yet concluded the endorsement process required for the adoption of the following 
accounting standards and amendments:

Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations endorsed by the EU but not yet adopted by the Group
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At the date of approval of these Consolidated Financial Statements, the competent bodies of the Euro-
pean Union have endorsed the adoption of the following accounting standards and amendments, but 
they are yet to be adopted by the Group:

3 ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the financial statements requires the directors to apply accounting standards and 
methods that are sometimes based on difficult and subjective assessments and estimates derived from 
past experience and based on assumptions that are considered reasonable and realistic given the cir-
cumstances.

Applying these estimates and assumptions affects the amounts presented in the Statement of Financial 
Position, the Income Statement, the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income and the Statement of 
Cash Flows, and in other information provided. The amounts of the financial statement items for which 
the aforementioned estimates and assumptions have been used may differ, even significantly, from tho-
se reported in the financial statements that highlight the effects of the occurrence of the event being 
estimated, due to the uncertainty that characterises the assumptions and the conditions on which the 
estimates are based.

The following areas require the directors to be most subjective when producing the estimates and 
would significantly affect the Group’s results if there were a change in the conditions underlying the 
assumptions used:

a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a finite useful life: property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets with a finite useful life are subject to testing in order to 
ascertain whether impairment has occurred when indicators exist that predict difficulties in recovering 
the corresponding net book value through use. Checking for the existence of the aforementioned indi-
cators requires directors to make subjective valuations based on the information available from both 
internal and external sources, as well as on historical experience. In addition, if it is determined that 
impairment may have occurred, the Group calculates said impairment using what are deemed to be 
suitable valuation techniques. Correctly identifying impairment indicators, as well as the estimates for 
their calculation, depends on subjective valuations and factors that can vary over time, influencing the 
valuations and estimates made by management.

b) Impairment of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life (goodwill): the value of goodwill is 
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verified annually in order to check for any impairment that should be recognised in the income state-
ment. In particular, the test in question involves allocating goodwill to cash generating units and then 
calculating the relative recoverable value, understood as the greater of fair value and value in use. If 
the recoverable value is less than the book value of the cash generating units, the goodwill allocated 
to them is written down.

c) Impairment of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life (trademarks): the value of trademarks 
with an indefinite useful life is subject to an annual impairment test. The value in use is determined 
using the discounted cash flow (DCF) method, based on a discount rate and an explicit forecast period of 
3 years in accordance with the budgets approved by the Group. After the explicit forecast period, the 
specific growth rate used is equal to the expected long-term inflation rate. The forecast values for fu-
ture years and the parameters determined with reference to current market information are subject to 
uncertainties due to unpredictable future legal developments and possible developments in the pasta 
market; therefore, write-downs may be necessary in subsequent years.

d) Provision for bad debts: the determination of this provision reflects management estimates related 
to the historical and expected solvency of the bad debts in question.

e) Provisions for risks and charges: it is sometimes hard to determine whether or not a current obliga-
tion (legal or implied) exists. The directors assess such phenomena on a case by case basis, together 
with an estimate of the amount of the economic resources required in order to meet that obligation. 
When the directors believe it to be merely possible that liabilities may arise, the risks are indicated in 
the appropriate information section on commitments and risks, without resulting any allocation being 
made.

f) Useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets: useful life is determined when 
the asset is recorded in the financial statements. Useful life is measured based on historical experience, 
market conditions and expectations of future events that could affect useful life, including technologi-
cal changes. As a result, the effective useful life may differ from the estimated useful life.

g) Prepaid tax assets: prepaid tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will 
be sufficient future tax gains against which temporary differences or any tax losses may be used.

h) Inventories: Closing inventories of obsolete or slow-to-move products are periodically subjected to 
valuation tests and are written down where their recoverable value is less than their book value. The 
write-downs carried out are based on assumptions and estimates of the directors based on their expe-
rience and the historical results achieved.

i) Lease liabilities: the amount of the lease liability and consequently of the related right-of-use assets 
depends on the determination of the lease term. This determination is subject to management asses-
sments, with particular reference to the inclusion or otherwise of the periods covered by the lease 
renewal and termination options provided for in the lease agreements. These assessments will be 
reviewed upon the occurrence of a significant event or significant change in circumstances that has an 
impact on management’s reasonable certainty of exercising an option not previously considered in de-
termining the lease term or not exercising an option previously considered in determining the lease term.
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4 MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS

The main business risks identified, monitored and, as specified below, actively managed by the Group 
are as follows:

•  market risk, arising from the fluctuation of interest rates and of exchange rates between the euro and 
the other currencies in which the Group operates;

• credit risk, arising from the possibility of counterparty default;

• liquidity risk, arising from a lack of financial resources to meet commitments.

The Group’s objective is to manage its financial exposure over time so that liabilities are balanced with 
assets on the statement of financial position and that the necessary operational flexibility is in place by 
using bank loans and the cash generated by current operating activities.

The ability to generate liquidity from core operations, together with the ability to borrow, allows the 
Group to adequately meet its operational, working capital financing and investment needs, as well as 
to comply with its financial obligations. The Group’s financial policy and the management of the related 
financial risks are centrally guided and monitored. In particular, the central finance function is respon-
sible for assessing and approving forecast financial requirements, monitoring performance and taking 
corrective action where necessary.

4.1 Market risk

Exchange risk

Exposure to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations derives from the Group’s commercial activities con-
ducted in currencies other than the euro. Revenues and costs denominated in foreign currency can be 
influenced by fluctuations in the exchange rate, bringing about an impact on trade margins (economic 
risk), and trade and financial payables and receivables denominated in foreign currency can be im-
pacted by the conversion rates used, with a knock-on effect on the profit or loss (transaction risk). Final-
ly, fluctuations in exchange rates are also reflected in consolidated results and equity.

The main exchange rates to which the Group is exposed are:

• Euro/USD, in relation to transactions carried out in US dollars;

• Euro/GBP, in relation to transactions carried out in pound sterling.

The Group does not adopt specific policies to hedge exchange rate fluctuations because management 
does not believe that this risk can significantly harm the Group’s results, since the amount of inflows 
and outflows of foreign currency is not only insignificant, but also fairly similar in terms of volumes and 
timing.

A hypothetical positive or negative change of 100 bps in the exchange rates relating to the currencies 
in which the Group operates would not have a significant impact on the net result and shareholders’ 
equity of the years under review.
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Interest rate risk

The Group uses external financial resources in the form of debt and uses the liquidity available in mar-
ket instruments. Changes in interest rate levels affect the cost and return of the various forms of funding 
and use, thus affecting consolidated net financial expense. Exposure to interest rate risk is constantly 
monitored according to the trend of the Euribor curve, in order to assess possible interventions to con-
tain the risk of a potential rise in market interest rates. At the reference dates, there were no hedges 
carried out by trading in derivatives.

With reference to interest rate risk, a sensitivity analysis was carried out to determine the effect on 
the consolidated income statement and consolidated shareholders’ equity that would result from a 
hypothetical positive and negative change of 50 bps in interest rates compared with those actually 
recorded in each period. The analysis was carried out mainly with regard to the following items: (i) cash 
and cash equivalents and (ii) short- and medium-/long-term financial liabilities. With regard to cash and 
cash equivalents, reference was made to the average inventory and the average rate of return for the 
period, while for short- and medium-/long-term financial liabilities, the precise impact was calculated.

The table below shows the results of the analysis carried out:

4.2 Credit risk

The Group is exposed to the credit risk inherent in the possibility of its customers becoming insolvent 
and/or less creditworthy so it monitors the situation continually. 

Credit risk derives essentially from the Group’s commercial activity, where its counterparties are mass 
and retail distribution operators. Retail receivables are extremely fragmented, while the mass distribu-
tion segment is characterised by a larger exposure to a single client.

The Group manages the credit risk of both types of customers through a consolidated practice, which 
provides for targeted and prudent management with a credit limit granted on the basis of commercial, 
financial and perceived market risk information. 

The Group operates in business areas with low levels of credit risk, given the nature of its activities and 
the fact that its credit exposure is spread over a large number of customers. Assets are recognised net 
of any write-downs determined on the basis of counterparties’ default risk, taking into account available 
solvency information and historical and prospective data.

Positions are regularly monitored for compliance with payment terms and overdue reminder actions are 
conducted in coordination with the sales force. If, on the other hand, a spot analysis of the individual 
case reveals an objective condition of partial or total bad debt, the amount of the write-down takes into 
account an estimate of recoverable flows. The credit management methodology means it is not deemed 
important to divide customer exposure into different risk classes.
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Moreover, the Group has credit insurance policies with leading companies in the sector in order to mi-
tigate the risk associated with the solvency of customers.

The credit risk deriving from receivables that the Group has with banks is, on the other hand, moderate 
and derives substantially from temporary surplus liquidity stocks usually invested in bank deposits and 
current accounts.

The following table provides a breakdown of trade receivables at 31 December 2019 and 2018 grouped 
by maturity, net of the provision for bad debts:

4.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that, due to the inability to find new funds or to liquidate assets on the market, 
the Group will not be able to meet its payment obligations, resulting in a negative impact on results if 
it is forced to incur additional costs to meet its obligations or an insolvency situation.

The liquidity risk to which the Group may be subject comprises the failure to find sufficient financial re-
sources for its operations, as well as for the development of its industrial and commercial activities. The 
two main factors that determine the Group’s liquidity situation are the resources generated or absorbed 
by operating and investment activities, and the maturity and renewal status of payables or the liquidity 
of financial commitments and market conditions. In particular, the main factor affecting the Group’s 
liquidity is the resources absorbed by operating activities: the sector in which the Group operates has 
seasonal sales phenomena, with peak liquidity requirements in the third quarter caused by a higher 
volume of trade receivables compared with the rest of the year. The Group’s commercial and finance 
teams work together to manage the changing liquidity requirements, which involves carefully planning 
financial requirements related to sales, drafting the budget at the beginning of the year and carefully 
monitoring requirements throughout the year.

Since they are also subject to seasonal phenomena, liquidity requirements linked to inventory dynamics 
are subject to analysis as well: planning purchases of raw materials for the inventory is managed in ac-
cordance with established practices, with the Chairman involved in decisions that could have an impact 
on the Group’s financial equilibrium.

Based on established practices inspired by prudence and stakeholder protection, the Group’s finan-
cing activity involves negotiating credit lines with the banking system and continually monitoring the 
Group’s cash flows.

The following table shows, by contractual maturity bands, the Group’s financial requirements at 31 De-
cember 2019 and 2018, expressed according to the following assumptions:
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(i) cash flows are not discounted;

(ii) cash flows are allocated to time bands on the basis of the first due date provided for in the con-
tractual terms;

(iii) all instruments held on the reporting date for which payments have already been contractually de-
signated are included. Future commitments planned but not yet recognised are not included;

(iv) when the amount payable is not fixed (e.g. future interest repayments), the financial liability is me-
asured at market conditions at the reporting date; and

(v) cash flows also include the interest that the company will pay until the maturity of the debt at the 
reporting date.

At 31 December 2019, the amount of operating lease commitments is reflected in lease liabilities fol-
lowing the application of IFRS 16 as of 1 January 2018.

5 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY
The Group’s capital management is aimed at ensuring a solid credit rating and adequate levels of ca-
pital indicators to support investment plans, in compliance with contractual commitments made with 
lenders.

The Group provides itself with the capital necessary to finance the needs of business development and 
operations; the sources of financing are divided into a mix of risk capital and debt capital, to ensure 
a balanced financial structure and the minimisation of the total cost of capital, thereby benefiting all 
stakeholders.

The remuneration of risk capital is monitored on the basis of market trends and business performance, 
once all other obligations have been fulfilled, including debt servicing; therefore, in order to ensure 
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an adequate return on capital, the safeguarding of business continuity and business development, the 
Group continually monitors the level of debt in relation to equity, business performance and expected 
cash flow forecasts, in the short and medium/long term.

6 FINANCIAL ASSET AND LIABILITY CATEGORIES
AND INFORMATION ON FAIR VALUE

Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The following tables provide a breakdown of financial assets and liabilities by category at 31 December 
2019 and 2018:
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The tables above show that most of the outstanding financial assets and liabilities are short-term items. 
In view of their nature, for most items, the book value is considered a reasonable approximation of the 
fair value.

Non-current financial assets and liabilities are settled or valued at market rates and it is therefore con-
sidered that their fair value is substantially in line with current book values.

Information on fair value

In relation to assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position and measured at fair 
value, IFRS 13 requires that these values ​be classified on the basis of a hierarchy of levels, reflecting the 
significance of the inputs used in determining fair value. The following table shows the fair value classifi-
cation of financial instruments based on the following hierarchical levels:

• Level 1: fair value determined using unadjusted prices listed on active markets for identical financial 
instruments. Therefore, in Level 1 the emphasis is on determining the following elements: (a) the prin-
cipal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous 
market for the asset or liability; (b) the entity’s ability to transact the asset or liability at the price of that 
market on the valuation date.

• Level 2: fair value determined with valuation techniques using variables observable on active markets. 
The inputs for this level include: (a) prices listed for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; (b) 
prices listed for identical or similar assets or liabilities in non-active markets; (c) data other than ob-
servable listed prices for the asset or liability, for example: interest rates and yield curves observable at 
commonly quoted intervals, implicit volatility, credit spreads, input corroborated by the market.

• Level 3: fair value determined with valuation techniques using non-observable market variables.

The following tables summarise the financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, broken down 
by hierarchy, at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

There were no transfers between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy in the periods conside-
red.
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7 OPERATING SEGMENTS
IFRS 8 - Operating Segments defines an operating segment as a component:

• that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses;

• whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity’s chief operating decision maker;

• for which discrete financial information is available.

For the purposes of IFRS 8, the Group’s activity is identifiable in the following business segments: Pasta, 
Milk Products, Bakery Products, Dairy Products, Special Products and Other activities.

The table below shows the main statement of financial position and income statement items examined 
by the chief operating decision maker in order to assess the Group’s performance at and for the year en-
ded 31 December 2019, and the reconciliation of these items with respect to the corresponding amount 
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements:

The table below shows the main statement of financial position and income statement items examined 
by the chief operating decision maker in order to assess the Group’s performance at and for the year en-
ded 31 December 2018, and the reconciliation of these items with respect to the corresponding amount 
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements:
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Revenue from contracts with customers deriving from the “Pasta” and “Milk Products” sectors amounted joint-
ly to €153,333 thousand and €139,492 thousand for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, equal 
respectively to 56.6% and 55.4% of revenue from contracts with customers. EBITDA for the “Pasta” and “Milk 
Products” sectors amounted to €8,767 thousand and €6,807 thousand for the years ended 31 December 2019 
and 2018, equal to 38.7% and 37.2% respectively.

The “Bakery Products” and “Dairy Products” segments have the highest EBITDA margins in the two years under 
review.

In particular, revenues from the “Pasta” sector increased by €14,676 thousand from €68,442 thousand to €83,118 
thousand in the year ended 31 December 2019. The increase is mainly due to the acquisition of Delverde Indu-
strie Alimentari S.p.A. EBITDA from the “Pasta” segment is increasing, and in line with revenue trends. The rela-
tive EBITDA margin was essentially unchanged, from 3.9% at 31 December 2018 to 4.0% at 31 December 2019. 

Revenues from the “Milk Products” sector decreased by €834 thousand from €71,050 thousand in the year en-
ding 31 December 2018 to €70,216 thousand in the year ending 31 December 2019. This decrease is mainly at-
tributable to a reduction in average sales prices, as a result of an improvement in the purchasing process during 
2019. As a result, EBITDA from the “Milk Products” sector increased by €1,321 thousand from €4,132 thousand 
in the year ending 31 December 2018 to €5,453 thousand in the year ending 31 December 2019. Consequently, 
the related EBITDA margin increased by 2 percentage points, from 6% in the year ended 31 December 2018 to 
8% in the year ended 31 December 2019.

In addition to the sectoral information, the statement of financial position and income statement data by geo-
graphical area, as required by IFRS 8, is provided below.

The following table displays revenue from contracts with customers by geographical area for the years ended 
31 December 2019 and 2018:
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The following table provides a breakdown of non-current assets, excluding financial assets and prepaid 
tax assets, by geographical area at 31 December 2019 and 2018, allocated on the basis of the country 
in which the assets are located.

Finally, in accordance with IFRS 8, paragraph 34, for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the 
Group did not have any customers generating more than 10% of its revenues.

8 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

8.1 Property, plant and equipment

The following table shows the breakdown of and changes in “Property, plant and equipment” for the 
years ending 31 December 2109 and 2018:
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At 31 December 2019, the Group found no indicators of long-term impairment for right-of-use assets.

The following table displays the non-discounted contractual values of the Group’s lease liabilities at 31 
December 2019, following the application of IFRS 16 as of 1 January 2018:

Investments in property, plant and equipment for the year ended 31 December 2019 totalled €4,382 
thousand and were attributable mainly to the renovation of production lines. For more information on 
investments, please see the “Investments” chapter.

The net value of property, plant and equipment disposed of in the years ending 31 December 2019 and 
2018 is not significant.

At 31 December 2019, the net value of capital contributions classified as a reduction of core plant and 
equipment amounted to €561 thousand. The related income for the year ended 31 December 2019 
amounted to €654 thousand and was classified as a reduction in the depreciation of the aforementio-
ned plant and equipment.

In 2019, the Group recorded property, plant and equipment write-downs of €93 thousand. These wri-
te-downs relate mainly to capital goods for which the Group agreed that the conditions for producing 
future profits were no longer in place.

As at 31 December 2019, there are no real estate assets or proprietary capital goods subject to any kind 
of guarantee given to third parties.

8.2 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

The following table shows the changes in the item “Right-of-use assets” for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2019:
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The discount rate was determined on the basis of the marginal borrowing rate of the Group, i.e. the rate 
that the Group would have to pay for a loan, with a similar maturity and collateral, needed to obtain an 
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic climate. The Group has decided to 
apply a single discount rate to a lease portfolio with reasonably similar characteristics, such as leases 
with a similar residual maturity for a similar underlying asset class, in a similar economic climate.

The main information relating to the lease agreements held by the Group, which acts mainly as a lessee, 
is shown in the following table:

Real estate right-of-use assets relate mainly to the production plants in Sansepolcro (AR), Ozzano Taro 
(PR), Reggio Emilia, Lodi, Lecce and Eboli (SA), leased to Newlat under the agreements entered into with 
the associate New Property S.p.A., as well as to the plants in Bologna and Corte de’ Frati (CR), rented out 
by the associate Corticella Molini e Pastificio S.p.A. The term of the lease of the aforementioned proper-
ties has been set at six years, based on the withdrawal options provided for in the contracts themselves 
and on managerial assessments. The rental contracts stipulated between the parties have the same 
structure, namely: (i) a term of six years automatically extendable for a further six years, with any subse-
quent tacit renewals every six years, and (ii) the early termination options exercisable by the lessor upon 
renewal and by the lessee, which may withdraw at any time and without cause, with six months’ notice. 
On the basis of the assessments carried out and in accordance with IFRS 16, management is reasonably 
certain of holding the leases for a period of six years from the date of signing of the contracts.
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Investments in intangible assets for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to €385 thousand 
and were mainly attributable to the purchase of software. For more information on investments, please 
see the “Investments” chapter.

There were no indicators of long-term impairment for intangible assets for the year ended 31 December 
2019.

The following is a description of the main items that make up intangible assets:

These leases fall within the scope of related party transactions; please see the specific section of these 
consolidated financial statements.

Machinery right-of-use assets refer mainly to the lease of capital goods used in the production process.

8.3 Intangible assets

The following table shows the breakdown of and changes in “Intangible assets” for the year ended 31 
December 2019.
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Goodwill

Goodwill refers to the acquisition of Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A., which represents the cash ge-
nerating unit (CGU). This amount reflects the difference between the purchase price and the equity of 
Centrale del Latte di Salerno on the acquisition date in December 2014.

The impairment test, approved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2020, was prepared with the sup-
port of an independent professional, comparing the book value of goodwill with the recoverable value 
of the related cash generating unit (CGU).

The recoverable value is the value in use, determined by discounting the forecast data of the CGU (“DCF 
Method”) for the 3-year period following the reporting date. The key assumptions used by management 
to determine the forecast data of the CGU are estimates of growth of revenues, EBITDA, operating cash 
flows, the growth rate of the terminal value and the weighted average cost of capital (discount rate), 
taking into account past profits/losses and future expectations.

The reasonableness of the margins in the explicit forecast period was also verified and deemed to be 
equal to that recorded in 2019.

The terminal value of the CGU was determined using the perpetual yield criterion of the CGU’s norma-
lised cash flow, with reference to the latest forecast period considered, assuming a growth rate and a 
discount rate (“WACC”, which represents the weighted average between the cost of equity and the cost 
of debt, after tax), as represented below:

For the purposes of estimating the value in use of the CGU to which goodwill is allocated:

(i) the following sources of information have been used:

a) internal sources: IAS 36 requires that the estimate of value in use be based on senior ma-
nagement’s most up-to-date results flows forecasts. This means that the 2019-2022 Plan was 
used for the goodwill impairment test as at 31 December 2019. The Company’s Board of Direc-
tors approved this test, as well as the flows represented therein, on 19 March 2020. For the 
purposes of estimating the value in use, investments of approximately €150 thousand per year 
have been envisaged. For the goodwill impairment test as at 31 December 2019, in the interests 
of prudence, no improvements in operating costs are predicted and therefore a constant margin 
was considered over the period (EBITDA margin of 4%). This means that any EBITDA growth is 
due to expected growth in turnover.

b) external sources: for the goodwill impairment test, external sources of information were used 
for the purposes of calculating the cost of capital set out below. All information for calculating 
the cost of capital is from an external source. The estimated calculation of the weighted avera-
ge cost of capital was based on:

- the CAPM to estimate the cost of equity;

- the WACC (Modigliani-Miller) formula for estimating the weighted average cost of capital 
(after tax).
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The cost of capital was calculated considering the financial structure of Centrale del Latte di 
Salerno corresponding to 100% equity and having liquidity available rather than financial debts 
as at 31 December 2019.

ii) the following main basic assumptions were also used:

a) average revenue increase of 3% per annum from 2020 to 2022; and

b) EBITDA margin in the forecast years of 4%.

The revenue growth assumed for the years of the explicit period is marginally higher than the expected 
growth of the Italian market, in view of the good competitive position of the subsidiary, but above all in 
view of (i) the company’s planned growth strategies, focused on R&D activities (including high protein 
milk); (ii) a guaranteed supply chain with strong local roots; (iii) and the development of new Group 
products.

The results of the impairment tests carried out show that the estimated recoverable value for the CGU 
exceeds its book value by more than €2.2 million. The value in use was calculated on the basis of a 
weighted average cost of capital (WACC) equal to 8.3%, and a terminal cash flow growth rate (g) of 0.5%. 
Sensitivity analyses were also carried out to verify the effects on the impairment test results of a ±0.5% 
and ±0.25% change respectively in the WACC and growth rate, both parameters deemed to be signi-
ficant. In particular, assuming no other changes, individual changes in the main parameters used for 
the test in question do not result in the recoverable value of the CGU being less than the relative book 
value. To negate the difference between value in use and book value, the cost of capital (WACC) would 
have to increase by more than 400 basis points and the terminal growth rate would have to be negative 
and down by more than 660 basis points.

Industrial patents and rights to use intellectual property

This item consists almost exclusively of software costs.

Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the item “Concessions, licences, trademarks and 
similar rights” at 31 December 2019 and 2018:simili” al 31 dicembre 2019 e 2018:

a) Trademarks with an indefinite useful life

This item refers exclusively to the brands “Drei Glocken” and “Birkel” registered by Newlat Deutschland 
during 2014 in the context of the acquisition of the operating business unit from Ebro Foods. The value 
of these brands has been subjected to impairment testing, with the help of an independent third-party 
professional. The impairment test at 31 December 2019 used the 2019-2022 Economic and Financial 
Plan drawn up at the end of the listing process, presented on the Italian Stock Exchange and approved 
by the Board of Directors on 22 July 2019. The flows used for the purpose of preparing the impairment 
test differ from the flows present in the above-mentioned Economic and Financial Plan in that the 
Company has, prudentially, considered a growth in turnover of 1% for the next 3 years, contrary to Plan 
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forecasts. The Board of Directors approved this impairment test, as well as the flows represented therein, 
on 19 March 2020.

The impairment test was carried out using the Relief From Royalty method. In line with valuation doctri-
ne and standard practice, this technique involves estimating the additional costs that would arise if 
the company was without a particular asset and had to obtain it under license from third parties. First, 
royalty rates in line with the relevant sector were used. These rates were then applied not only to the 
expected revenues generated by the brands over the period covered by the Plan, but also to a normali-
sed flow, considering a perpetual return as a terminal value, consistent with the indefinite useful life of 
the trademarks. Consistent with standard valuation practice, there was also a tax amortisation benefit 
(TAB) amount, representing the tax benefit related to the deductibility of amortisation of the asset under 
analysis, which constitutes an additional element for determining the value attributable to the brands.

Under the relief from royalty method, the brands were measured using an explicit forecast period of 3 
years, which reflects the assumptions regarding the short- and medium-term developments of the re-
ference market. After the explicit forecast period, the terminal value of the CGU was determined using 
the perpetuity method, assuming a specific long-term growth rate defined according to the expected 
long-term inflation rate and the characteristics of the sector.

The information relating to the explicit forecast period used to determine the value in use is based on 
assumptions founded on past experience, supplemented by current internal developments and verified 
through market data and external analyses. In this regard, the most important assumptions include: (i) 
the development of future sales prices, revenues and costs; (ii) the influence of the market regulatory en-
vironment; (iii) expected investments and expected market shares; and (iv) exchange rates and growth 
rates. However, an average annual increase (CAGR) of revenues of 1% was assumed for 2020 and 2021, 
which is cautious given both the prospects of the pasta sector in the German market (average annual 
increase in revenues of 2% for the dry pasta segment between 2018 and 2021) and the market-leading 
positions of the “Birkel” and “Drei Glocken” brands. Any significant changes to the assumptions described 
above would affect the determination of the value in use.

The discount rates applied are determined on the basis of external factors deriving from the market and 
adjusted on the basis of the prevailing risks of the cash generating units.

The main assumptions used for the purposes of the impairment test are summarised below:

The following table displays the assumptions underlying the calculation of the discount rate for the 
year ending 31 December 2019:
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The following were also assumed when determining the value of the trademarks:

• a growth rate (g) of 0.5%, which is prudent compared with medium-to-long-term inflation estimates 
for the reference market, Germany, of around 2.2%.

• a TAB of €1.3 million, determined on the basis of the original value of the asset, assuming a reference 
period of 15 years from the date of reference of the impairment and using a tax rate of 31%.

It should be noted that the value attributed to the terminal value is 81% of the recoverable value of the 
relative CGU.

The results of the impairment tests carried out at 31 December 2019 showed that the recoverable va-
lue of each cash generating unit exceeds the relative book value at each reference date. In particular, 
for the impairment test conducted on the year ending 31 December 2019, the recoverable value was 
estimated at €22.3 million, compared with a book value of approximately €18.9 million, i.e. a surplus of 
€3.4 million.

Sensitivity analyses were also carried out to verify the effects on the results of the impairment test of 
changes to certain significant parameters. At 31 December 2019, the recoverable amount would have 
been equal to the carrying amount if the discount rate used had been greater than 1% or the growth 
rate reduced by 2%

b) Trademarks with a finite useful life

This item includes brands owned by Newlat Food S.p.A., amortised according to the residual useful life, 
estimated on the basis of the period of time over which it is considered that they are guaranteed to 
generate cash flows.

8.4 Non-current financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, non-current financial assets valued at fair value through profit or loss 
amounted to €42 thousand and €31 thousand respectively. These balances, which are not material, re-
late to smaller corporate capital instruments.

8.5 Financial assets at amortised cost

At 31 December 2109 and 2018, financial assets at amortised cost amounted to €866 thousand and 
€858 thousand respectively. These balances refer to security deposits paid against existing lease agre-
ements.

8.6 Prepaid tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the item “Prepaid tax assets” at 31 December 
2019 and 2018.
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Prepaid tax assets are recognised on the financial statements where it is probable that future taxable 
income will be realised against which they can be used.

At 31 December 2019, no prepaid tax assets relating to tax losses of the incorporated Delverde Indu-
strie Alimentari S.p.A. were recognised, as they will be the subject of a future appeal to the Revenue 
Agency to have them recognised and to be exempt from the carry-over restriction up to the limit of 
the equity of the incorporated company. The amount of these tax losses, not recognised in the financial 
statements, is approximately €30.6 million.

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of “Deferred tax liabilities” at 31 December 2019 
and 2018:

Deferred tax liabilities arising from intangible assets at 31 December 2019 are attributable to the “Drei 
Glocken” and “Birkel” brands registered with Newlat Deutschland.

The following table displays a breakdown of and changes in the gross value of prepaid tax assets for 
the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018:
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Prepaid tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arise from the temporary differences between the value 
attributed to an asset or liability in the financial statements and the value attributed to that asset or 
liability for tax purposes.

8.7 Inventories
The following table displays a detailed breakdown of the item “Inventories” at 31 December 2019 and 
2018:

Inventories are recorded net of the obsolescence reserve, which amounted to €944 thousand at 31 De-
cember 2019 and related mainly to spare parts for slow-moving equipment. Changes in the inventories 
write-down reserve during 2019 are shown below:

8.8 Trade receivables
The following table displays a detailed breakdown of the item “Trade receivables” at 31 December 2019 
and 2018:

The following table displays the changes in the provision for doubtful trade receivable for the year 
ended 31 December 2019:
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The net value of overdue trade receivables at 31 December 2019 amounted to €12,112 thousand, a 
considerable decrease compared with the previous year.

Analysis of the credit risk, including evidence of the coverage of the individual maturity bands of the 
provision for bad debts, is reported in the previous section “Management of financial risks”.

Analysis of trade receivables with related parties is reported in the below section “Transactions with 
related parties”.

The book value of trade receivables is deemed to approximate their fair value.

8.9 Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax assets totalled €716 thousand at 31 December 2019 and €797 thousand at 31 December 
2018. 

Current tax liabilities totalled €471 thousand at 31 December 2019 and €410 thousand at 31 December 
2018.

The changes in the net balances of the assets and liabilities under review for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2019 mainly concern the setting aside of current income taxes, amounting to €344 thousand, and 
payments amounting to €738 thousand.

8.10 Other receivables and current assets

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Other receivables and current assets” at 31 De-
cember 2019 and 2018:
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Receivables from New Property S.p.A. at 31 December 2018 related to the residual receivable from the 
adjustment arising from the demerger in favour of the associate New Property S.p.A. in 2017. This recei-
vable was collected in full in the first half of 2019.

Receivables from social security institutions at 31 December 2019 and 2018 mainly refer to receivables 
from INAIL, amounting to €699 thousand and €768 thousand respectively. 

Payments on account at 31 December 2019 and 2018 mainly refer to down payments for supplies.

Tax credits at 31 December 2019 mainly include VAT credits of €454 thousand, research and develop-
ment credits of €495 thousand and INAIL credits of €556 thousand.

8.11 Current financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

The following table shows the breakdown of the item “Current financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss” as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

This item includes bonds held for sale.

8.12 Cash and cash equivalents

The following table displays a detailed breakdown of the item “Cash and cash equivalents” at 31 De-
cember 2019 and 2018:

Bank and postal deposits refer to cash and cash equivalents deposited mainly in current accounts held 
with leading banking and financial institutions.

At 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents were not subject to restrictions or constraints.

Part of the aforementioned cash and cash equivalents, amounting to €37,345 thousand and €45,338 
thousand respectively at 31 December 2018 and 2019, is attributable to the centralised treasury rela-
tionships of Newlat Food and Centrale del Latte di Salerno with the parent company Newlat Group S.A.

At the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements, the Company is in the process of 
finalising the transfer of cash pooling management from the parent company Newlat Group S.A. to the 
subsidiary Newlat Food S.p.A., which will therefore shortly assume the role of pooler.
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See the statement of cash flows for changes in the item “Cash and cash equivalents” during the years 
under review.

8.13 Shareholders’ equity

At 31 December 2019, the item “Shareholders’ equity” amounted to €91,546 thousand.

As reported in the statement of changes in consolidated equity, such changes in the year ended 31 De-
cember 2019 related to:

• the reduction of shareholders’ equity in favour of the shareholder Newlat Group S.A., resulting 
from the payment of the fee of €68,324 thousand for the acquisition of Newlat Deutschland, 
recognised, against the consolidation of the new subsidiary company from 31 October 2019, as 
part of the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, consistent with the accounting 
treatment of transactions between related companies under common control;

• the institutional placement of 13,780,482 shares for a total amount of €79,927 thousand, 
gross of bank fees and other transaction costs relating to the listing transaction;

• the listing costs related to the public offer for subscription, recorded as a direct reduction of 
shareholders’ equity for a total amount of €5,077 thousand;

• the tax benefit related to IPO costs, for a total amount of €1,416 thousand;

• the recognition of the total net profit for the year, in the amount of €7,173 thousand.

• Actuarial losses of €249 thousand, relating to the discounting of the employee severance 
indemnity provision.

Share capital

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s fully subscribed and paid-up share capital totalled €40,780,482, 
divided into 40,780,482 ordinary shares that were dematerialised as a result of the IPO operation

Legal reserve

At 31 December 2019, the legal reserve totalled €2,123 thousand.
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8.14 Provisions for employee benefits

The following table shows the breakdown of and changes in the item “Provisions for employee benefits” 
for the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Provisions for employee benefits represent the estimated obligation, determined on the basis of actua-
rial techniques, relating to the amount to be paid to employees when their employment with the com-
pany ends.

Employee severance indemnity (TFR)

The liability for Newlat’s employee severance indemnity, which falls within the IAS 19 definition of de-
fined benefit plans, was determined according to actuarial logic. The following are the main actuarial, 
financial and demographic assumptions used to determine the value of the liability at 31 December 
2019 and 2018, in accordance with the provisions of IAS 19:

The following table summarises the main assumptions relating to the annual turnover rate and reque-
sts for specific severance pay advances adopted for the calculation of Newlat’s provisions for employee 
benefits in accordance with the provisions of IAS 19:
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The following table summarises the sensitivity analysis for each actuarial, financial and demographic 
assumption, showing the effects (in absolute terms) that would have occurred as a result of changes to 
the reasonably possible actuarial assumptions on 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Newlat Deutschland Pension Plan

The following table summarises the main actuarial and financial assumptions made, in accordance with 
IAS 19, to determine the value of the liability relating to the Newlat Deutschland staff pension plan at 
31 December 2019 and 2018:

8.15 Provisions for risks and charges

The following table shows the breakdown of and changes in the item “Provisions for risks and charges” 
for the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018:

The provision for agents’ indemnities, amounting to €1,171 thousand at 31 December 2019, represents 
a reasonable forecast of the charges that would be borne by the Group in the event of future interrup-
tion of agency relationships.

8.16 Current and non-current financial liabilities

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the item “Financial liabilities” (current and 
non-current) at 31 December 2019 and 2018:
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The following table shows an analysis by maturity of the financial liabilities outstanding at 31 Decem-
ber 2019:

The following table shows the Net Financial Position, according to the classification scheme indicated 
in the Consob Communication:
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Without considering the effects of IFRS 16, the net financial position would be determined as follows:

Below is a description of the main items that make up the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 
2019 and 2018:

a) Loans outstanding at 31 December 2019

On 29 December 2014, Newlat entered into a loan agreement with Unicredit S.p.A. for a total amount 
of €8,000 thousand, to be used for the acquisition of all shares in Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A.

The loan was set to mature on 31 December 2020. The contract provides for 12 monthly pre-amortisa-
tion instalments and then 60 monthly deferred repayments of the principal portion of the loan, from 31 
January 2016 to 31 December 2020.

The applicable interest rate is variable and equal to the three-month Euribor plus a spread of 2.7%.

The loan agreement provides for the possibility of early repayment by Newlat provided that: (i) the ar-
rears and all sums due in any form have been settled and (ii) a fee equal to 2% of the principal repaid 
in advance is paid.

The loan does not require compliance with financial covenants.

Deutsche Bank loan agreement (Newlat Food S.p.A.)

On 14 November 2019, Newlat entered into a loan agreement with Deutsche Bank for an amount equal 
to €15,000 thousand.

The loan was set to mature on 28 November 2024. The contract provides for 20 quarterly repayment 
instalments, starting from 20 February 2020.

The interest rate applicable to the loan agreement is 0.70%.

The loan does not require compliance with financial covenants.
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Unicredit loan agreement (Newlat Deutschland)

On 5 January 2015, Newlat Deutschland entered into a loan agreement with Unicredit S.p.A. for an 
amount equal to €5,000 thousand.

The contract provides for reimbursement by means of 60 deferred monthly instalments and final matu-
rity on 31 January 2020.

This loan does not require compliance with financial covenants.

d) Payables for advances on invoices

This item refers to payables to credit institutions for advances on invoices.

The following table shows, in accordance with IAS 7, changes in financial liabilities arising from cash 
flows generated and/or absorbed by financing activities, as well as from non-monetary items

8.17 Other non-current liabilities

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the item “Other non-current liabilities” at 31 De-
cember 2019 and 2018:

Payables for acquisitions of business units in the periods under review refer to the non-current portion 
of the Newlat Deutschland debt for the prior-year acquisition from Ebro Foods S.A. of the business unit 
that includes the brands “Drei Glocken” and “Birkel”.

8.18 Trade payables

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the item “Trade payables” at 31 December 2019 
and 2018:
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This item mainly includes payables relating to the Group’s normal production activities.

Analysis of trade payables with related parties is reported in the “Transactions with related parties” 
section of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The book value of trade payables is deemed to approximate their fair value.

8.19 Other current liabilities

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Other current liabilities” at 31 December 2019 
and 2018:

Payables to employees relate mainly to salaries to be settled and deferred charges such as holidays, 
leave and additional monthly payments.

Payables to social security institutions mainly refer to liabilities with the INPS and other social security 
institutions for the payment of contributions.

Payables for acquisitions of business units in the periods under review refer to the current portion of the 
Newlat Deutschland debt for the aforementioned acquisition of the Ebro Foods S.A. business unit that 
includes the brands “Drei Glocken” and “Birkel”.

Tax payables at 31 December 2019 mainly include payables to the Treasury for withholding taxes, 
amounting to €1,849 thousand.
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9 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

9.1 Revenue from contracts with customers

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Revenue from contracts with customers” by ope-
rating segment:

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Revenue from contracts with customers” by di-
stribution channel:

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Revenue from contracts with customers” by ge-
ographical area:

Revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended 31 December 2019 is almost exclusively 
related to the sale of goods. Revenues associated with such sales of goods are recognised when control 
of the asset is transferred to the customer.

9.2 Operating costs

The following table provides details of operating costs broken down by purpose for the years ending 
31 December 2019 and 2018:
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The table below shows details of the same operating costs broken down according to their nature:

Operating costs increased by €14,211 thousand, from €246,763 thousand in the year ended 31 De-
cember 2018 to €260,973 thousand in the year ended 31 December 2019, mainly as a result of the 
acquisitions of Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. (from 9 April 2019) and Newlat Deutschland (from 
1 November 2019).

9.3 Net write-downs of financial assets

The item “Net write-downs of financial assets”, amounting to €674 thousand for the year ending 31 De-
cember 2019, refers to the write-down of doubtful trade receivables. A detailed breakdown of changes 
in the provision for bad debts for the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018 is set out in note 8.8 
- “Trade receivables” to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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9.4 Other revenues and income

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Other revenues and income”:

9.5 Other operating costs

The table below shows a detailed breakdown of the item “Other operating costs”:

9.6 Financial income and expenses

The table below shows a detailed breakdown of the item “Financial income”:

Interest income from cash pooling refers to bank deposits outstanding at 31 December 2019.

The table below shows a breakdown of the item “Financial expenses”:
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9.7 Income taxes

The table below shows a detailed breakdown of the item “Income taxes”:

The following table displays a reconciliation of the theoretical tax rate with the effective impact on the 
pre-tax result:

At the tax rate calculated as above, the tax benefit recorded among the reserves of Shareholders’ Equity 
relating to the costs of listing, totalling €1,416 thousand (fully deductible for tax purposes in 2019), 
must be considered. 

The Company was audited by the Finance Police for the years 2016 and 2017. The audit did not reveal 
significant findings that should be reflected in the statement of financial position, income statement 
and statement of cash flows of the Company and the Group at 31 December 2019.

9.8 Net profit/(loss) per share

The table below shows the net profit/loss per share, calculated as the ratio of net income to the wei-
ghted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the period.

The diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings per share because there are no financial instru-
ments with potential dilutive effects. The earnings per share for 2018 were made comparable with the 2019 data.
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The transactions entered into by the Group with related parties, identified on the basis of criteria defi-
ned by IAS 24 – “Related Party Disclosures”, are primarily of a commercial and financial nature and are 
carried out at arm’s length conditions.

Despite this, there is no guarantee that, if these transactions had been conducted between or with third 
parties, said third parties would have negotiated and entered into the relevant contracts, or executed 
the transactions themselves, under the same conditions and in the same manner.

The Group deals with the following related parties:

• Newlat Group, a direct or indirect parent company; and

• subsidiaries of the direct parent company or indirect parent companies other than its own subsidiaries 
and associates (“Companies controlled by the parent companies”).

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the statement of financial position items relating 
to the Group’s transactions with related parties at 31 December 2019 and 2018:
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The following table provides a breakdown of the income statement items relating to the Group’s tran-
sactions with related parties for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Transactions with parent company Newlat Group

Cash and cash equivalents, amounting to €37,345 thousand and €45,338 thousand respectively at 31 
December 2018 and 2019, are attributable to the cash pooling relationships of Newlat Food and Cen-
trale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. (company merged at 31 December 2019) with the parent company. 
Of the administrative expenses at 31 December 2019, €288 thousand are attributable to operating 
expenses incurred by Newlat, Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. and Newlat Deutschland in relation to 
service contracts and €417 thousand to fees incurred in relation to the cash pooling agreements signed 
by Newlat, Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. and Newlat Deutschland.

Transactions with companies controlled by the parent companies

The following are the companies controlled by the parent companies with which the Group has con-
ducted transactions during the periods under review:

• Corticella Molini e Pastifici S.p.A., a real estate company to which lease royalties are paid;

• New Property S.p.A., a real estate company to which lease royalties are paid;

• Other companies controlled by the parent companies, such as Newservice S.r.l., Latterie Riunite Piana 
del Sele S.r.l. and Piana del Sele Latteria Sociale S.p.A.
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Corticella Molini e Pastifici S.p.A. (merged into New Property S.p.A.)

At 31 December 2019, €1,641 thousand of right-of-use assets and €460 thousand and €1,222 thousand 
respectively of current and non-current lease liabilities relate to real estate owned by Corticella Molini 
e Pastifici S.p.A. and leased to Newlat through an agreement signed on 1 July 2017. The recognition of 
this contract according to IFRS 16 led to the recognition of depreciation, recorded in the cost of sales, of 
€469 thousand, and financial charges of €46 thousand. Non-current financial assets at amortised cost 
at 31 December 2019 refer to security deposits paid to Corticella Molini e Pastifici S.p.A. in relation to 
this contract.

New Property S.p.A.

At 31 December 2018, €7,826 thousand of right-of-use assets and €1,881 thousand and €8,018 thou-
sand respectively of current and non-current lease liabilities relate to the real estate spun off to New 
Property S.p.A. and subsequently leased to Newlat. The recognition of these contracts according to IFRS 
16 led to the recognition of depreciation, recorded in the cost of sales, of €2,291 thousand, and financial 
charges of €218 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Of the other receivables and current assets at 31 December 2018, €10,000 thousand referred to the 
adjustment deriving from the differences between the book values of the assets and liabilities spun off 
to New Property S.p.A., between 31 December 2016 and the effective date of the spin-off, namely 1 June 
2017. This receivable was collected in full by Newlat in the first half of 2019.

10 COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES
The following table shows the lease commitments in relation to operating leases at 31 December 2019 
and 2018; the amount of these commitments, discounted, is reflected in the lease liabilities under IFRS 
16:

The guarantees given to the Group by Newlat Group S.A. amounted to €47,900 thousand at 31 Decem-
ber 2019 and refer, in the amount of €32,400 thousand, to a surety provided in relation to payables to 
banks for available lines of credit. The remaining amount, totalling €15,500 thousand at 31 December 
2019, refers to letters of sponsorship in favour of Newlat Deutschland in relation to transactions with 
UniCredit.
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11 OTHER INFORMATION

11.1 Remuneration to directors, statutory auditors and managers
with strategic responsibilities

The fees payable to Directors and Statutory Auditors amounted to €106 thousand and €26 thousand 
respectively in the year ended 31 December 2019.

The total remuneration of managers with strategic responsibilities came to €221 thousand in the year 
ended 31 December 2019. No loans or advances were granted to Directors in 2019.

11.2 Independent Auditors’ fees

The independent auditors’ fees for activities carried out in 2019 totalled €206 thousand.

11.3 Research and development activities

Research and development (“R&D”), carried out within the Group, is based on the ability to develop in-
novative products, sometimes evocative of local tradition, while respecting the target markets.

Research and development costs incurred during the three-year period under review have been instru-
mental in pursuing the Group’s production and commercial strategies, aimed at making product ranges 
more innovative and strengthening its position in the market.

Research and development expenses totalled €3,389 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2019, 
corresponding to 1.25% of revenues from contracts with Group customers, fully expensed in the income 
statement. 

It should be noted that, for 2019, the Company intends to avail itself of the research and development 
tax credit provided for in article 1, paragraph 35, of Law no. 190 of 23 December 2014, and to use it in 
the manner specified in the said legislation.
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CERTIFICATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 154-BIS OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE 58/98
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AUDITING FIRM’S REPORT
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SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 31 December 2019
SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
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SEPARATE INCOME STATEMENT

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME



230
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.1 General information and significant transactions carried out in 2019

Newlat Food S.p.A. (hereinafter “Newlat”, the “Company” or the “Parent Company” is incorporated in Italy 
in the form of a public limited company and operates under Italian law. The Company has its registered 
office at Via J. F. Kennedy 16, Reggio Emilia.

The Company operates in the food sector with a large and structured product portfolio organised into 
the following business units: Pasta, Milk Products, Bakery Products, Dairy Products, Special Products and 
Other Activities.

The Company is subject to management and control by the parent company Newlat Group S.A. (herei-
nafter “Newlat Group”), a company that directly owns 66.2% of the share capital, while the remaining 
33.8% was placed and subscribed by institutional investors.

Acquisition of Newlat Deutschland GmbH

On 20 June 2019, the Company entered into a contract with the parent company Newlat Group for 
the purchase of Newlat Group’s 100% stake in Newlat GmbH Deutschland (hereinafter “Newlat Deut-
schland”) (the “Newlat Deutschland Acquisition Agreement”).

The transfer of ownership of the shares in Newlat Deutschland took place at the same time as the Is-
suer’s shares began trading on the STAR segment of Borsa Italiana’s MTA stock market, on 29 October 
2019.

The preliminary fee for the acquisition Newlat Deutschland was €55 million. The final fee was deter-
mined on the basis of the following formula: Average EBITDA recorded by Newlat Deutschland in 2016, 
2017, 2018 and the first half of 2019 x 8 +/- the net financial position at the effective date of the transfer 
of ownership of Newlat Deutschland shares to Newlat, i.e. on 29 October 2019. The methods of calcula-
ting the net financial position and EBITDA that were useful for determining the final consideration were 
defined by the parties in the contract.

The provisional fee was paid by Newlat Food S.p.A. to Newlat Group through the payment of: (i) an 
amount of €10 million on 31 December 2018 and (ii) an additional five tranches, for a total of €45 mil-
lion, between 13 May and 18 June 2019.

The price adjustment, amounting to €13.3 million, was settled on 3 December 2019 and subsequently 
paid by the end of 2019.
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Acquisition of Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A

On 9 April 2019, Newlat entered into a contract with Molinos del Plata S.L.U. and Molinos Rio de la Plata 
S.A. to buy shares representing the entire share capital of Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. (the “Ac-
quisition of Delverde”). The transaction was executed simultaneously with the signing of the contract.

The contract for the Acquisition of Delverde provided for a provisional price, paid by Newlat on the 
execution date, of €3,775 thousand, which was adjusted on the basis of the difference between the va-
lues of the net financial position and working capital conventionally determined by the parties and the 
actual values on the execution date. The methods for calculating the net financial position and working 
capital used to determine the consideration have been defined within the scope of the contract. Further 
(decreasing) adjustments to the price were envisaged, on the one hand because of contingent liabilities 
relating to the period prior to the transaction execution date due to discount agreements in favour of 
large-scale retailers, and, on the other hand, because of the non-collection of receivables, net of the 
related provision for bad debts recorded in the financial statements. The positive price adjustment 
amounted to €146 thousand, collected by Newlat Food on 3 December 2019.

Merger by incorporation of Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. into Newlat Food S.p.A.

On 6 September 2019, the Board of Directors of Newlat S.p.A. approved the proposed merger by incor-
poration of the wholly owned subsidiary Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. The transaction fell within 
the scope of the Newlat Group 2020-2022 Strategic Plan, with continuation of the policy of improved 
efficiency, streamlining, and simplification of production flows and processes, allowing synergies to be 
achieved as well as a reduction in overall costs. This extraordinary transaction has generated effects 
on the Company’s separate financial statements as at 31 December 2019, due to the consolidation of 
Delverde as of 9 April 2019, i.e. the date of acquisition of all the shares of said subsidiary, subsequently 
merged by incorporation.

On 17 September 2019, by a notarial deed of merger, in the presence of the Notary Ciro De Vivo, the 
parent company Newlat Food S.p.A. resolved to incorporate Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. with 
subsequent legal effects on 31 December 2019 and accounting effects backdated to the date of acqui-
sition, i.e. 9 April 2019.

The transaction was recognised according to the provisions included in IFRS 3”- Business Combinations”, 
as it is an acquisition. No difference emerged when offsetting the value of the equity investment against 
the corresponding amount of equity of the incorporated company, including the effects of the purchase 
price allocation shown in the separate financial statements.

Following this extraordinary transaction, values of the statement of financial position and the income 
statement in the separate financial statements of Newlat Food at 31 December 2019 are not fully 
comparable with those of the previous financial year. Consequently, these Explanatory Notes mention 
below, where significant, the effects on the financial statement items deriving from the incorporation 
of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. For information on the 
impact of this subsequently merged subsidiary, the book values, drafted in conformity with IAS/IFRS 
accounting standards, of the subsidiary Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A from 9 April to 31 December 
2019, are given below:
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Merger by incorporation of Centrale Latte di Salerno S.p.A. into Newlat Food S.p.A

On 6 September 2019, the Board of Directors of Newlat S.p.A. DRAFTED BY proposed merger by incor-
poration of the wholly owned subsidiary Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. The transaction fell within 
the scope of the Newlat Group 2020-2022 Strategic Plan, with continuation of the policy of improved 
efficiency, streamlining, and simplification of production flows and processes, allowing synergies to be 
achieved as well as a reduction in overall costs. This extraordinary transaction has generated effects on 
the separate financial statements at 31 December 2019, due to the consolidation of Centrale del Latte 
di Salerno as of 1 January 2019, i.e. the accounting backdating date of the merger by incorporation.

On 17 September 2019, by a notarial deed of merger, in the presence of the Notary Ciro De Vivo, the pa-
rent company Newlat Food S.p.A. resolved the merger by incorporation of Centrale del Latte di Salerno 
S.p.A. with subsequent legal effects on 31 December 2019 and accounting and tax effects backdated to 
1 January 2019. 

With no specific indications in the international accounting standards, the transaction was recognised 
according to the provisions of the Assirevi document OPI no. 2R which, in the case of mergers not clas-
sified as a purchase, require the application of the principle of continuity of value, given the lack of an 
exchange with third party economies. In particular, this interpretation gives importance to the existence 
of a cost and control relationship, and relative purchase price allocation, deriving from the Company’s 
separate financial statements. As laid down in OPI no. 2R, the difference emerging when offsetting the 
value of the equity investment and the corresponding share of equity of the incorporated company 
shown in the separate financial statements, totalling €4,708 thousand, was classified as an increase in 
shareholders’ equity in the amount of €916 thousand (as retained earnings of the subsidiary) and as 
goodwill in the amount of €3,863, being consistent with the corresponding goodwill recognised in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements at 31 December 2018.

Following this extraordinary transaction, the results and assets and liabilities on the separate financial 
statements at 31 December 2019 are not fully comparable with those of the previous financial year, 
which did not include the accounting data relating to Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A.
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For information on the impact of this subsequently merged subsidiary, the book values, drafted in con-
formity with IAS/IFRS accounting standards, of Centrale del Latte di Salerno, are given below:
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As reported above, on 9 April 2019, Newlat entered into a contract with Molinos del Plata S.L.U. and 
Molinos Rio de la Plata S.A. to buy and sell shares representing the entire share capital of Delverde.

The following table provides the book values of the net assets acquired as part of the Delverde Acqui-
sition:
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In accordance with paragraph 45 of IFRS 3 - “Business combinations”, concerning the methods of ac-
counting for business combinations, which provides for a “valuation period” during which the company 
must carry out a preliminary initial recognition of the acquisition and complete the valuation at a later 
time and in any case within 12 months from the date of acquisition, the final valuation of the current 
value of Delverde’s net assets acquired by the Company was completed in December 2019. In accordan-
ce with the same paragraph, Delverde’s assets and liabilities were measured at fair value and there was 
no difference between the fee and the net assets acquired.

Listing on the Stock Exchange on 29 October 2019 and accounting for listing costs

On 29 October 2019, Newlat Food S.p.A. successfully concluded the operation to list its own shares on 
the STAR segment of the Mercato Telematico Azionario (“MTA”), organised and managed by Borsa Ita-
liana. The transaction, carried out entirely in the form of a Public Offer for Subscription, raised €79,927 
thousand from subscription fees for the newly issued shares, including the issue premium, with a corre-
sponding gross increase in shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2019 (share capital and share premium 
reserve). In accordance with the provisions of IAS 32, the IPO listing, amounting to €5,077 thousand, 
were recorded as a direct reduction in shareholders’ equity, net of the related tax benefit of €1,416 
thousand, giving a total net increase in shareholders’ equity at 31 December 2019 of €76,267 thousand.
 
The aforementioned extraordinary transactions carried out by Newlat Food S.p.A. in the year ended 31 
December 2019 affect the comparability of the separate financial statements at 31 December 2019 with 
the accounting data for the previous year ended 31 December 2018.

2 ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The accounting standards and measurement criteria adopted in the drafting of the separate financial 
statements at 31 December 2019 are set out below.

The separate financial statements at 31 December 2019 have been drafted in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) and endorsed by the European Union. “IFRS” should also be taken to include the International 
Accounting Standards (“IAS”) still in force, as well as all interpretative documents issued by the IFRS In-
terpretations Committee, formerly the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) 
and even earlier the Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”).

The separate financial statements are presented in euros. The financial statements are prepared accor-
ding to the cost criterion, with the exception of financial instruments that are measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that have an effect on the assets, liabilities, costs and revenues. The final results may be 
different to those obtained through these estimates. The financial statement items that most require 
greater subjectivity on the part of the directors when producing the estimates and for which a change 
in the conditions underlying the assumptions used could have a significant impact on the financial 
statements are: goodwill, depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets, deferred taxes, the pro-
vision for doubtful receivables and the provision for inventory write-downs, the provisions for risks, the 
defined benefit plans for employees and the payables for the purchase of equity investments contained 
in the other liabilities.

In particular, discretionary measurements and significant accounting estimates relate to the determina-
tion of the recoverable amount of non-financial assets calculated as the greater of fair value less costs 
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to sell and value in use. Value in use is calculated based on a discounted cash flow model. The recove-
rable value depends significantly on the discount rate used in the discounted cash flow model, as well 
as on expected future cash flows and the growth rate used. The key assumptions used to determine the 
recoverable value for the two cash-generating units, including a sensitivity analysis, are described in 
note 8.3 of the Separate Financial Statements at 31 December 2019.

The use of significant accounting estimates and assumptions also relates to the determination of the 
fair value of assets and liabilities acquired as part of business combinations. In fact, at the date of ac-
quisition the Company must separately recognise, at their fair value, assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities identifiable and acquired or assumed as part of the business combination, and determine 
the present value of the strike price of any call options on minority shares. This process requires the 
preparation of estimates, based on valuation techniques, which require judgement in the forecasting of 
future cash flows as well as the development of other assumptions such as long-term growth rates and 
discount rates for valuation models developed also with the use of experts outside the management 
team. The accounting impacts of the determination of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed, as well as of the call options of minority interests for the business combinations that occurred 
during the year, are provided in the Note “Business Combinations”.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The Separate Financial Statements consist of the statement of financial position, the income statement, 
the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the statement of cash flows and the notes.

The layout adopted for the statement of financial position provides for the separation of assets and 
liabilities between current and non-current.

An asset is classified as current when:

• it is assumed that this activity is carried out, or is owned for sale or consumption, in the nor-
mal course of the operating cycle;

• it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

• it is assumed that it will be realised within twelve months of the reporting date;

• it consists of cash and cash equivalents (unless it is prohibited to exchange it or use it to 
settle a liability for at least twelve months from the reporting date).

All other assets are classified as non-current. In particular, IAS 1 includes property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets and long-term financial assets as non-current assets.

A liability is classified as current when:

• it is expected to be extinguished in the normal operating cycle;

• it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

• it will be extinguished within twelve months of the reporting date;
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• there is no unconditional right to defer its settlement for at least twelve months from the 
reporting date. Clauses of a liability that could, at the discretion of the counterparty, result in its 
extinction through the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

The chosen income statement layout provides for the classification of costs by destination.

It should be noted that the amendments introduced by IFRS 9, IFRS 15 and IFRS 16 have been adopted 
since 2018.

The statement of other comprehensive income includes the result for the year and, with the same cate-
gories, income and expenses that, according to IFRSs, are directly recognised under equity.

The statement of changes in equity includes, in addition to the total gains / losses for the period, the 
amounts of transactions with shareholders and movements in reserves during the year.

In the statement of cash flows, the financial flows from operating activities are presented using the 
indirect method, under which the profit or loss for the year is adjusted by the effects of non-monetary 
operations, by any deferral or provision of previous or future operating inflows or outflows, and by ele-
ments of revenue or costs related to financial flows deriving from investment activities or financing 
activities.

The Separate Financial Statements were drafted in euros, the functional currency of the Company. 
The statement of financial position, income statement, statement of cash flows, explanatory notes and 
tables are in units and thousands of euro, unless otherwise indicated.

The separate financial statements were prepared:

• on the basis of the best knowledge of IFRSs and taking into account the best doctrine on the 
subject;

• under the going-concern principle, in accordance with the principle of accrual accounting, in 
compliance with the principle of materiality of information and substance over form, and with a 
view to encouraging consistency with future presentations. The assets and liabilities and costs 
and revenues are not offset against each other, unless this is permitted or required by interna-
tional accounting standards;

•on the basis of the conventional historical cost criterion, except for the measurement of fi-
nancial assets and liabilities in cases where application of the fair value criterion is mandatory.

Criteria for preparation of the separate financial statements

The separate financial statements were prepared in order to represent the assets, liabilities, revenues 
and costs directly and indirectly attributable to Newlat.

In relation to the criteria for aggregating financial information, it should be noted that the acquisition 
of Newlat Deutschland is a business combination under common control and, as such, is recognised in 
accordance with document OPI No. 1 R (ASSIREVI preliminary guidance on IFRS). In particular, these bu-
siness combinations were implemented for purposes other than the transfer of control, and essentially 
represent a simple corporate reorganisation. With this in mind, since the aforementioned transactions 
do not have a significant influence on the cash flows of the net assets transferred before and after ac-
quisition, they were recognised on the basis of continuity of values. In addition, it should be noted that, 
since these transactions are settled by payment of a consideration in cash, the difference between the 
transfer value (amount of the consideration in cash) and the historical book values transferred repre-
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sents a transaction with shareholders to be recognised as a distribution of the purchasing entity’s sha-
reholders’ equity.

At 31 December 2019, the value of Newlat Gmbh’s shareholding in the amount of €68,323,752 was 
recorded in the separate financial statements.

2.2 Declaration of conformity
with international financial reporting standards

The Separate Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with IFRSs that, as at each reporting 
date, had been endorsed by the European Union. IFRSs means all International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards, all International Accounting Standards (IAS) and all interpretations of the International Financial Re-
porting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), previously called the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).

Conversion of items in foreign currency

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recognised at the exchange rate on 
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies other than the euro are then 
adjusted at the exchange rate in place on the reporting date. Exchange rate differences that may arise 
are reflected in the income statement under the item “Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange”.
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2.3 Accounting standards and measurement criteria

Adopted accounting standards

The separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with current IFRS issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and endorsed by the European Union at the end of 
each of the reporting periods.

The Company exercised the right for early adoption, from 1 January 2018, of IFRS 16 “Leases”, in force 
from 1 January 2019, adopting the “modified retrospective approach”. IFRS 16 replaces the accounting 
standard IAS 17 “Leases” and the interpretations IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease”, SIC 15 “Operating Leases - Incentives” and SIC 27 “Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving 
the Legal Form of a Lease”.

Below are the criteria used with reference to the classification, recognition, measurement and dere-
cognition of the various asset and liability items, as well as the criteria used to recognise the income 
components.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recognised as such only if the following conditions are met simulta-
neously:

• it is probable that the future economic benefits related to the asset will be enjoyed by the company;

• the cost can be reliably determined.

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost, defined as the monetary or equivalent 
amount paid or the fair value of other considerations made to acquire an asset, at the time of purchase 
or replacement. Subsequent to initial recognition, property, plant and equipment are valued using the 
cost method, net of recorded depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The cost includes the costs directly incurred to make their use possible, as well as any dismantling and 
removal costs that will be incurred as a result of contractual obligations that require the return of the 
asset to its original condition.

Costs incurred for maintenance and repairs of an ordinary and/or cyclical nature are directly charged to 
the income statement when incurred. The capitalisation of the costs inherent in the extension, moder-
nisation or improvement of structural elements owned or used by third parties shall be carried out to 
the extent that they meet the requirements to be classified separately as an asset or part of an asset.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives. The useful 
life estimated by the Company for the various categories of property, plant and equipment is shown 
below:
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At the end of each financial year, the Company checks whether significant changes have occurred in 
the expected characteristics of the economic benefits deriving from the capitalised assets and, if so, 
modifies the depreciation criterion, which is considered a change in accounting estimate in accordance 
with IAS 8.

The value of the asset is completely reversed at the time of its disposal or when the company expects 
that it will not be able to derive any economic benefit from its disposal.

Capital grants shall be accounted for when it is reasonably certain that they will be received and all 
conditions relating to them are met. Contributions are then deducted from the value of assets or su-
spended among liabilities and credited pro rata to the income statement in relation to the useful life 
of the related assets.

Intangible assets

An intangible asset is an asset that simultaneously fulfils the following conditions:

• it is identifiable;

• it is non-monetary;

• it has no physical consistency;

• it is under the control of the company preparing the accounts;

• it is expected to produce future economic benefits for the company.
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If an asset does not meet the above requirements to be defined as an intangible asset, the expense 
incurred to acquire it or generate it internally is recognised as a cost when incurred.

Intangible assets are initially stated at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired from outside includes 
the purchase price and any directly attributable costs.

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an asset, neither are intangible assets arising from 
research (or the research phase of an internal project).

An intangible asset arising from development or the development phase of an internal project is reco-
gnised if compliance with the following conditions can be demonstrated:

	 • the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so as to be available for use or sale;
	
	 • the intention to complete the intangible asset for use or sale;

	 • the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

	 • the manner in which the intangible asset is capable of generating future economic benefits 	
	 and in particular the existence of a market for the product of the intangible asset or for the in	
	 tangible asset itself or, if it is to be used for internal purposes, its usefulness;

	 • the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 	 	
	 development and the use or sale of the asset;
	
	 • the ability to reliably measure the cost attributable to the intangible asset during its 		
	 development.

Intangible assets are measured using the cost method in accordance with one of the two different cri-
teria set out in IAS 38 (cost model and revaluation model). The cost model requires an intangible asset 
to be recognised at cost after initial recognition, net of accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

The useful life estimated by the Company for the various categories of intangible assets is shown below:

The main intangible assets are commented on below:
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Goodwill

Goodwill is classified as an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life and is initially accounted for 
at cost, as previously described. It is then measured at least once a year to identify any impairment (see 
in this regard the paragraph below “Impairment of goodwill, property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets and right-of-use assets “). Reversals are not permitted in the case of a previous write-down due 
to impairment.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are recognised at cost, as previously described, net of accumu-
lated amortisation and any impairment losses.

Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and is systematically distributed in relation to 
the residual possibility of use of said asset, i.e. on the basis of the estimated useful life; for the value to 
be amortised and the recoverability of the carrying amount, the criteria indicated, respectively, in the 
paragraphs “Property, plant and equipment” and “Impairment of goodwill, property, plant and equip-
ment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets” apply.

Investment property

An investment property is an immovable property (i.e. a piece of land, a building or part of it, or both) 
owned for the purpose of receiving rent on it or for focusing on the long-term appreciation of invested 
capital, or for both of these reasons. Possession may be exercised either by way of ownership or under 
a finance lease agreement.

An investment property must be initially valued at cost, including the costs of the acquisition in the case 
of both purchase and self-construction of the investment property. In the first case, the purchase cost 
includes, in addition to the purchase price and by way of example, professional fees for the provision of 
legal services, taxes for the transfer of ownership and any other cost of the transaction. Following initial 
measurement, investment property is valued at depreciated cost.

Lease contracts

b) Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities – 31 December 2019 (IFRS 16)

The Company has exercised its right for early adoption, from 1 January 2018, of the new accounting 
standard IFRS 16 “Leases”, which replaces IAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretations.

In accordance with IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if, in exchange for consideration, it conveys 
the right to control the use of a specified asset for a period of time. The contract is re-evaluated to verify 
whether it is, or contains, a lease only if the terms and conditions of the contract are changed.

For a contract that is, or contains, a lease, each lease component is separated from the non-lease com-
ponents, unless the Company applies the practical expedient referred to in paragraph 15 of IFRS 16. 
This practical expedient allows the lessee to choose, for each class of underlying asset, not to separate 
the non-lease components from the lease components and to recognise each lease component and the 
associated non-lease components as a single lease component.

The duration of the lease is determined as the non-cancellable period of the lease, to which must be 
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added both the following periods:

• periods covered by a lease extension option, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option; 
and

• periods covered by the lease termination option, if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise the 
option.

In assessing whether the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option to extend the lease or not to 
exercise the option to terminate the lease, all relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic 
incentive for the lessee to exercise the option shall be considered. The lessee must redefine the lease 
term in the event of a change in the non-cancellable lease period.

At the effective date of the contract, the Company recognises the right-of-use asset and the related lease 
liability.

At the effective date of the contract, the right-of-use asset is valued at cost. The cost of the right-of-use 
asset includes:

• the initial value of the lease liability;

• payments due for the lease made on or before the effective date, net of the lease incentives received;

• the initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

• the estimate of the costs to be incurred by the lessee for the dismantling and removal of the under-
lying asset and for the restoration of the site where it is located or for the restoration of the underlying 
asset under the terms and conditions of the lease, unless such costs are incurred for the production of 
inventories.

On the lease start date the lessee shall measure the lease liability at the current value of the payments 
due for the lease but not yet paid. Payments due for the lease include the following amounts:

• fixed payments, net of any outstanding lease incentives;

• variable payments due for the lease that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using an index 
or rate on the effective date;

• the amounts expected to be paid by the lessee as guarantees of the residual value; 

• the exercise price of the purchase option, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option; 
and e

• lease termination penalty payments, if the lease term takes into account the lessee’s exercise of the 
lease termination option.

Payments due for the lease must be discounted using the implicit interest rate of the lease, if it can be 
easily determined. If this is not possible, the lessee must use its marginal lending rate, i.e. the incremen-
tal interest rate that the company would have to pay to obtain a loan of the same duration and amount 
as the lease agreement.

Subsequent to initial recognition, right-of-use assets are measured at cost:
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• net of accumulated depreciation/amortisation and impairment; and

• adjusted to take into account any restatement of the lease liability.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured:

• by increasing the book value to take account of interest;

• by decreasing the book value to take account of lease payments that have been made; and

• by restating the book value to take account of any new valuations or changes in the lease or revision 
of payments due for fixed leases.

In the case of lease changes that do not constitute a separate lease, the right-of-use asset is restated 
(up or down), in line with the change in the lease liability at the date of the change. The lease liability is 
restated according to the new terms of the lease agreement, using the discount rate at the date of the 
change.

It should be noted that the Company makes use of two exemptions under IFRS 16, with reference to: (i) 
short-term leases (i.e. leases with a duration of 12 months or less from the effective date), in relation to 
certain categories of fixed assets, and (ii) leases of low-value assets (i.e. when the value of the underlying 
asset, if new, is less than $5,000, for example). In such cases, the right-of-use asset and the related lease 
liability are not recognised, and the payments due for the lease are recognised in the income statement.

Impairment of goodwill, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets

On each reporting date, a test is carried out to ascertain whether there are any indicators of impairment 
of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that are not fully depreciated/amortised or of 
indefinite useful life.

Where these indicators are present, the recoverable value of the above-mentioned assets is estima-
ted, and any write-down is recognised in the Income Statement. The recoverable value of an asset is 
the higher of the fair value, less costs to sell, and the related value in use, determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash flows for that asset, including, if they are significant and can be reasonably 
determined, those arising from the sale at the end of its useful life, net of any costs of disposal. In de-
termining the value in use, the expected future cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects the current market valuations of the cost of the money, in proportion to the period of the 
investment and the specific risks of the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash flows, the recoverable value is determined 
in relation to the cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which that asset belongs.

Impairment is recognised in the income statement if the book value of the asset, or of the CGU to which 
it is allocated, is higher than its recoverable value. The impairment of a CGU is initially recognised as a 
reduction in the book value of any goodwill attributed to it and, therefore, as a reduction in other assets, 
in proportion to their book value and within the limits of their recoverable value. If the conditions for a 
previous write-down no longer exist, the book value of the asset is restored via the income statement, 
up to the limit of the net book value that the asset in question would have had without write-down and 
amortisation/depreciation. Reversals of goodwill impairment are not permitted in the case of a previous 
write-down due to impairment.
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Financial assets

At the time of initial recognition, financial assets must be classified as “Financial assets at amortised 
cost”, “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” or “Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss” on the basis of the following elements:

• the entity’s business model for the management of the financial assets; and

• the characteristics of the financial asset’s contractual cash flows.

Financial assets are subsequently derecognised only if the disposal entails the substantial transfer of 
all risks and rewards connected to the assets. On the other hand, if a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards relating to the disposed financial assets has been retained, they continue to be recognised in 
the financial statements, even if legally their ownership has been effectively transferred.

Financial assets at amortised cost

b) Financial assets at amortised cost – 31 December 2019 (IFRS 9)

This category includes the financial assets that meet both of the following conditions:

• the financial asset is held according to a “hold to collect” business model; and

• the contractual conditions of the financial asset provide for cash flows on certain dates which consist 
only of payments of capital and interest on the amount of capital to be repaid ( “SPPI test” passed).

These assets are initially recognised at fair value inclusive of the transaction costs or income directly 
attributable to the instrument. Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial assets in question are me-
asured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amortised cost method is not used for 
assets valued at historical cost whose short duration makes the effect of discounting negligible, those 
without a defined maturity or for revocable credit lines.

This category mainly includes trade receivables arising from the transfer of goods and the provision of 
services, recognised in accordance with the terms of the contract with the customer in accordance with 
IFRS 15 and classified according to the nature of the debtor and/or the expiry date of the receivable 
(this definition includes invoices to be issued for services already rendered).

Moreover, since trade receivables are generally short-term and do not provide for the payment of in-
terest, the amortised cost is not calculated, and they are recognised on the basis of the nominal value 
reported in invoices issued or contracts concluded with customers: this provision is also adopted for 
trade receivables with a contractual maturity of more than 12 months, unless the effect is particularly 
significant. The choice stems from the fact that the amount of short-term receivables is very similar 
whether you apply the historical cost method or the amortised cost method, and the impact of discoun-
ting would therefore be wholly negligible.

Trade receivables are subject to impairment testing in accordance with IFRS 9. For the purposes of the 
measurement process, trade receivables are divided into maturity time bands. For performing loans, a 
collective assessment is made by grouping the individual exposures on the basis of similar credit risk. 
The valuation is based on losses recorded for assets with similar credit risk characteristics based on 
historical experience and takes into account expected losses.
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b) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income – 31 December 2019 (IFRS 9)

This category includes the financial assets that meet both of the following conditions:

• the financial asset is held according to a “hold to collect and sell” business model; and

• the contractual conditions of the financial asset provide for cash flows on certain dates which consist 
only of payments of capital and interest on the amount of capital to be repaid ( “SPPI test” passed).

These assets are initially recognised at fair value inclusive of the transaction costs or income directly 
attributable to the instrument. Following initial recognition, equity investments that do not qualify as 
subsidiaries, associates or joint control investees are measured at fair value, and amounts recognised as 
a counter-entry in equity should not be subsequently transferred to the income statement, even in the 
case of disposal. The only component referring to the equity instruments in question subject to recogni-
tion in the income statement is the relative dividends.

For the equity instruments included in this category and not listed in an active market, the cost criterion 
is used to estimate fair value only on a residual basis and in limited circumstances, or when the most 
recent information to measure fair value is insufficient, or if there is a broad range of possible fair value 
measurements and cost represents the best estimate of fair value within that range of values.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – 31 December 2019 (IFRS 9)

This category includes financial assets other than those classified under “Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income” and “Financial assets at amortised cost”. This item, in particular, 
includes only equity instruments held for purposes other than trading for which the Company has not 
opted for measurement at fair value through other comprehensive income, and bonds.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, usually represen-
ted by the transaction price.

After initial recognition, these financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses resulting 
from the change in fair value are attributed to the separate income statement.
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Inventories

Inventories are assets:

• held for sale in the normal course of business;

• used in production processes for sale;

• in the form of materials or supplies of goods to be used in the production process or in the provision 
of services.

Inventories are recognised and measured at the lesser of cost and the net realisable value.

The cost of inventories includes all purchase costs, transformation costs and other costs incurred to 
bring inventories to their current location and condition, while it does not include exchange differences 
in the case of inventories invoiced in foreign currency. In accordance with the provisions of IAS 2, the 
weighted average cost method is used to determine the cost of inventories.

When the net realisable value is less than cost, the surplus is immediately written down in the income 
statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are recorded, depending on their nature, at nominal value or amortised cost. 
Other cash equivalents represent short-term and highly liquid financial commitments that are readily 
convertible into known cash values​ and subject to a negligible risk of change in value, with an original 
maturity or a maturity at the time of purchase of not more than 3 months.

Payables

Payables relating to the year ended 31 December 2019 (IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018)..

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and are subsequently measured using the 
amortised cost method.

Payables to banks and other lenders are initially stated at their fair value, net of directly attributable an-
cillary costs, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, applying the effective interest rate criterion. 
When there is a change in the estimate of expected cash flows, the value of liabilities is recalculated to 
reflect that change on the basis of the present value of the new expected cash flows and the internal 
effective rate initially determined. Payables to banks and other lenders are classified as current liabili-
ties, unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer payment for at least twelve months after 
the reference date.

Payables are derecognised when they are settled and when the Company has transferred all risks and 
charges relating to the instrument.
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Employee benefits

These include benefits granted to employees or their dependants and can be liquidated by means of 
payments (or with the supply of goods and services) made directly to employees, spouses, children or 
other dependants or to third parties such as insurance companies, and are divided into short-term be-
nefits, benefits due to employees for termination of employment and post-employment benefits.

Short-term benefits, which also include incentive programmes in the form of annual bonuses, MBOs and 
one-off renewals of national collective agreements, are accounted for as a liability (cost provision) after 
deducting any amount already paid, and as a cost, unless some other IFRS requires or permits the inclu-
sion of benefits in the cost of an asset (for example, the cost of personnel employed in the development 
of internally generated intangible assets).

The category of benefits for termination of employment includes departure incentive plans arising in 
the event of voluntary resignation involving the participation of the employee or a group of employees 
in trade union agreements for the activation of so-called solidarity funds, and redundancy plans, which 
take place when the company unilaterally terminates the contract. The company recognises the cost of 
these benefits as a financial liability at the earliest of the time when the company is unable to withdraw 
the offer of these benefits and the time when the company recognises the costs of a restructuring that 
falls within the scope of IAS 37. Provisions for departures shall be reviewed at least every six months.

Post-employment benefit plans are broken down into two categories: defined contribution plans and 
defined benefit plans.

Defined contribution plans mainly include:

• supplementary pension funds involving a defined contribution by the company;

• the severance indemnity fund, limited to the shares accruing from 1 January 2007 for undertakings 
with more than 50 employees, irrespective of the destination chosen by the employee;

• employee severance indemnities accruing from 1 January 2007 and earmarked for supplementary 
pensions, in the case of undertakings with fewer than 50 employees;

• supplementary healthcare funds.

Defined benefit plans, on the other hand, include:

• the severance indemnity, limited to the amount accrued up to 31 December 2006 for all undertakings, 
as well as the amounts accrued since 1 January 2007 and not intended for supplementary pensions for 
undertakings with fewer than 50 employees;

• supplementary pension funds that provide for the payment of a defined benefit to members;

• long-service bonuses, which provide for an extraordinary payment to the employee upon reaching a 
certain level of working seniority.
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In defined contribution plans, the obligation of the reporting company is determined on the basis of 
the contributions due for that year and therefore the measurement of the obligation does not require 
actuarial assumptions and there is no possibility of actuarial gains or losses.

The accounting for defined benefit plans is characterised by the use of actuarial assumptions to deter-
mine the value of the obligation. This valuation is entrusted to an external actuary and is carried out 
annually. For discounting purposes, the company uses the projected unit credit method, which projects 
future expenditure based on historical statistical analysis, the demographic curve, and the financial 
discounting of these cash flows based on the market interest rate. Actuarial gains and losses are reco-
gnised as a counter-entry in equity as required by IAS 19.

Provisions for risks and charges, and contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and liabilities can be divided into several categories depending on their nature and 
their accounting impact. In particular:

	 • the provisions are actual obligations of an uncertain amount and occurrence/maturity which 	
	 arise from past events and for which it is probable that there will be a financial outlay that can 	
	 be reliably estimated in terms of amount;

	 • contingent liabilities are possible obligations with a distinct probability of having to make a 	
	 financial outlay;

	 • remote liabilities are those for which a financial outlay is unlikely;

	 • potential assets are assets which are uncertain and cannot therefore be recognised in the		
	 financial statements;

	 • the onerous contract is a contract in which the non-discretionary costs necessary to fulfil the 	
	 obligations assumed are greater than the economic benefits that are supposed to be 	 	
	 obtainable from the contract;

	 • restructuring is a programme planned and controlled by the company’s management that 	
	 significantly changes the scope of an activity undertaken by the company or the way in which 	
	 the activity is managed.

For the purpose of recognising the charge, provisions are recorded in cases where there is uncertainty 
about the maturity or the amount of the flow of resources necessary to fulfil the obligation or other 
liabilities and in particular trade payables or provisions for presumed payables.

Provisions differ from other liabilities in that there is no certainty as to their maturity or the amount of 
future expenditure required. Due to their different nature, provisions are shown separately from trade 
payables and provisions for presumed payables.

Liabilities or allocations to a provision are recognised when:

	 • there is a current legal or implied obligation resulting from past events

	 • it is probable that resources designed to produce economic benefits will have to be used to 	
	 settle the obligation;
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	 • the obligation can be reliably estimated.

Provisions require the use of estimates. In extremely rare circumstances where a reliable estimate can-
not be made, the liability is classed as a contingent liability.

The allocation to the provision for risks and charges is an amount that represents the best possible 
estimate of the expenditure needed to liquidate the relevant obligation outstanding on the reporting 
date and takes into account the risks and uncertainties that inevitably surround many events and circu-
mstances. The amount of the allocation reflects any future events that may affect the amount required 
to settle an obligation if there is sufficient objective evidence that they will occur.

Once the best possible estimate of the expense necessary to settle the related obligation outstanding 
on the reporting date has been determined, the current value of the provision is determined, in the 
event that the effect of the present value of money is a relevant aspect.

Revenue from contracts with customers

b) Revenue from contracts with related customers - year ended 31 December 2019 (IFRS 15)

The Company applies IFRS 15 as of 1 January 2018. In accordance with this standard, revenue from con-
tracts with customers is recognised when the following conditions are met:

	 • the contract with the customer has been identified;

	 • performance obligations set forth in the contract have been identified;

	 • the price has been determined;

	 • the price has been allocated to the individual performance obligations set forth in the contract;

	 • the performance obligation set forth in the contract has been met.

The Company recognises revenue from contracts with customers when (or as) it fulfils the performance 
obligation, transferring the promised good or service (or asset) to the customer. The asset is transferred 
when (or as) the customer acquires control over it.

The Company transfers control over the good or service over time, and therefore fulfils the performance 
obligation and recognises revenue over time, when one of the following criteria is met:

	 • the customer simultaneously receives and uses the benefits arising from the entity’s service 	
	 as it is provided;

	 • the service of the Company creates or improves the asset (e.g. work in progress) that the 		
	 customer controls as the asset is created or improved;

	 • the service of the Company does not create an asset which has an alternative use and the 	
	 Company has the enforceable right to payment for the service completed until the date 		
	 considered.

If the performance obligation is not met over time, it is met at a specific moment. In that case, the Com-
pany recognises revenue when the customer acquires control over the promised asset.
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The contractual consideration included in the contract with the customer may include fixed or variable 
amounts or both. If the contractual consideration includes a variable amount (e.g. discounts, conces-
sions, incentives, penalties or other similar elements), the Company estimates the amount of the con-
sideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the transfer of the promised goods or services 
to the customer. The Group Company the amount of the estimated variable consideration in the tran-
saction price only to the extent to which it is highly likely that when the uncertainty associated with the 
variable consideration is subsequently resolved, there will not be a significant downward adjustment in 
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised.

Incremental costs for obtaining customer contracts are accounted for as assets and amortised throu-
ghout the term of the underlying contract, if the Company expects them to be recovered. Incremental 
costs for obtaining the contract are costs that the Company incurs to obtain the contract with the cu-
stomer and which it would not have incurred if it had not obtained the contract. The costs for obtaining 
the contract which would have been incurred even if the contract had not been obtained should be 
recognised as a cost at the moment they are incurred, unless they are explicitly chargeable to the cu-
stomer even if the contract is not obtained.

Recognition of costs

Costs are recognised in the income statement according to the accruals principle.

Dividends

Dividends received are recognised in the income statement according to the accruals principle, i.e. in 
the year in which the related right to receive them emerges, following the shareholders’ resolution to 
distribute dividends from the investee company.

Distributed dividends are shown as changes in equity in the year in which they are approved by the 
Shareholders’ Meeting.

Income taxes

Current taxes are calculated based on the taxable income for the year, applying the tax rates in force 
at the date of the financial statements. Current taxes for the year and for prior years, where unpaid, are 
recognised as liabilities. Current tax assets and liabilities, for the current year and for prior years, must 
be determined at the value expected to be recovered from or paid to, respectively, the tax authorities, 
applying the tax rates and legislation that is in force or imminent at the reporting date.

Deferred taxes can be divided into:

	 • deferred tax liabilities, which are the amounts of income taxes payable in future years 		
	 relating to taxable temporary differences;

	 • deferred tax assets, which are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in future years 		
	 relating to deductible temporary differences, carry-over of unused tax losses, carry-over of 		
	 unused tax credits.
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To calculate the amount of deferred tax assets and liabilities, the tax rate is applied to the temporary 
taxable or deductible differences identified, or to unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

At each reporting date, recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are revalued to check whether 
they are likely to be recovered.

Net profit/(loss) per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit (loss) pertaining to the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the year, excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit (loss) pertaining to the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the year, excluding treasury shares. 
To calculate the diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares in circulation is 
modified assuming that all assignees exercise rights with a potentially dilutive effect, while the profit 
(loss) pertaining to the Company is adjusted to take into account any effects, net of taxes, of the exercise 
of such rights.

Operating segments

The operating segment is a part of the group that undertakes business activities that generate revenue 
and costs, whose operating results are periodically reviewed by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, 
in his role as Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM), for the purpose of taking decisions on the resour-
ces to be allocated to the sector and evaluating results, and for which financial information is available.
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2.4 Recently issued accounting standards

Accounting standards not yet applicable, as they have not been endorsed
by the European Union

At the date of approval of these Separate Financial Statements, the competent bodies of the European 
Union have not yet concluded the endorsement process required for the adoption of the following ac-
counting standards and amendments:

At the date of approval of these Separate Financial Statements, the competent bodies of the European 
Union have endorsed the adoption of the following accounting standards and amendments, but they are 
yet to be adopted by the Company:

Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations endorsed by the EU but not yet adopted by the Company
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3 ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the financial statements requires the directors to apply accounting standards and 
methods that are sometimes based on difficult and subjective assessments and estimates derived from 
past experience and based on assumptions that are considered reasonable and realistic given the cir-
cumstances.

Applying these estimates and assumptions affects the amounts presented in the Statement of Financial 
Position, the Income Statement, the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income and the Statement of 
Cash Flows, and in other information provided. The amounts of the financial statement items for which 
the aforementioned estimates and assumptions have been used may differ, even significantly, from tho-
se reported in the financial statements that highlight the effects of the occurrence of the event being 
estimated, due to the uncertainty that characterises the assumptions and the conditions on which the 
estimates are based.

The following areas require the directors to be most subjective when producing the estimates and 
would significantly affect the Company’s results if there were a change in the conditions underlying the 
assumptions used:

j) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a finite useful life: 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a finite useful life are subject to te-
sting in order to ascertain whether impairment has occurred when indicators exist that predict 
difficulties in recovering the corresponding net book value through use. Checking for the exi-
stence of the aforementioned indicators requires directors to make subjective valuations based 
on the information available from both internal and external sources, as well as on historical 
experience. In addition, if it is determined that impairment may have occurred, the Group cal-
culates said impairment using what are deemed to be suitable valuation techniques. Correctly 
identifying impairment indicators, as well as the estimates for their calculation, depends on 
subjective valuations and factors that can vary over time, influencing the valuations and esti-
mates made by management.

k) Impairment of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life (goodwill): the value of go-
odwill is verified annually in order to check for any impairment that should be recognised in 
the income statement. In particular, the test in question involves allocating goodwill to cash 
generating units and then calculating the relative recoverable value, understood as the greater 
of fair value and value in use. If the recoverable value is less than the book value of the cash 
generating units, the goodwill allocated to them is written down.

l) Provision for bad debts: the determination of this provision reflects management estimates 
related to the historical and expected solvency of the bad debts in question.

m) Provisions for risks and charges: it is sometimes hard to determine whether or not a current 
obligation (legal or implied) exists. The directors assess such phenomena on a case by case 
basis, together with an estimate of the amount of the economic resources required in order to 
meet that obligation. When the directors believe it to be merely possible that liabilities may 
arise, the risks are indicated in the appropriate information section on commitments and risks, 
without resulting any allocation being made.

n) Useful life of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets: useful life is determined 
when the asset is recorded in the financial statements. Useful life is measured based on histo-
rical experience, market conditions and expectations of future events that could affect useful 
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life, including technological changes. As a result, the effective useful life may differ from the 
estimated useful life.

o) Prepaid tax assets: prepaid tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
there will be sufficient future tax gains against which temporary differences or any tax losses 
may be used.

p) Inventories: Closing inventories of obsolete or slow-to-move products are periodically 
subjected to valuation tests and are written down where their recoverable value is less than 
their book value. The write-downs carried out are based on assumptions and estimates of the 
directors based on their experience and the historical results achieved.

q) Lease liabilities: the amount of the lease liability and consequently of the related right-of-use 
assets depends on the determination of the lease term. This determination is subject to manage-
ment assessments, with particular reference to the inclusion or otherwise of the periods cove-
red by the lease renewal and termination options provided for in the lease agreements. These 
assessments will be reviewed upon the occurrence of a significant event or significant change 
in circumstances that has an impact on management’s reasonable certainty of exercising an 
option not previously considered in determining the lease term or not exercising an option pre-

viously considered in determining the lease term.

4 MANAGEMENT OF FINANCIAL RISKS

The main business risks identified, monitored and, as specified below, actively managed by the Company 
are as follows:

	 • market risk, arising from the fluctuation of interest rates and of exchange rates between the 	
	 euro and the other currencies in which the Company operates;

	 • credit risk, arising from the possibility of counterparty default; 

	 • liquidity risk, arising from a lack of financial resources to meet commitments.

The Company’s objective is to manage its financial exposure over time so that liabilities are balanced 
with assets on the statement of financial position and that the necessary operational flexibility is in 
place by using bank loans and the cash generated by current operating activities.

The ability to generate liquidity from core operations, together with the ability to borrow, allows the 
Company to adequately meet its operational, working capital financing and investment needs, as well 
as to comply with its financial obligations. The Company’s financial policy and the management of the 
related financial risks are centrally guided and monitored. In particular, the central finance function is 
responsible for assessing and approving forecast financial requirements, monitoring performance and 
taking corrective action where necessary.
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4.1 Market risk

Exchange risk

Exposure to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations derives from the Company’s commercial activities 
conducted in currencies other than the euro. Revenues and costs denominated in foreign currency can 
be influenced by fluctuations in the exchange rate, bringing about an impact on trade margins (eco-
nomic risk), and trade and financial payables and receivables denominated in foreign currency can be 
impacted by the conversion rates used, with a knock-on effect on the profit or loss (transaction risk). 
Finally, fluctuations in exchange rates are also reflected in results and equity. 

The main exchange rates to which the Company is exposed are:

• Euro/USD, in relation to transactions carried out in US dollars;

• Euro/GBP, in relation to transactions carried out in pound sterling.

The Company does not adopt specific policies to hedge exchange rate fluctuations because manage-
ment does not believe that this risk can significantly harm the Company’s results, since the amount of 
inflows and outflows of foreign currency is not only insignificant, but also fairly similar in terms of vo-
lumes and timing. 

A hypothetical positive or negative change of 100 bps in the exchange rates relating to the currencies 
in which the Company operates would not have a significant impact on the net result and shareholders’ 
equity of the years under review.

Interest rate risk

The Company uses external financial resources in the form of debt and uses the liquidity available in 
market instruments. Changes in interest rate levels affect the cost and return of the various forms of 
funding and use, thus affecting consolidated net financial expense. Exposure to interest rate risk is con-
stantly monitored according to the trend of the Euribor curve, in order to assess possible interventions 
to contain the risk of a potential rise in market interest rates. At the reference dates, there were no he-
dges carried out by trading in derivatives.

With reference to interest rate risk, a sensitivity analysis was carried out to determine the effect on the 
separate income statement and separate shareholders’ equity that would result from a hypothetical 
positive and negative change of 50 bps in interest rates compared with those actually recorded in each 
period. The analysis was carried out mainly with regard to the following items: (i) cash and cash equi-
valents and (ii) short- and medium-/long-term financial liabilities. With regard to cash and cash equiva-
lents, reference was made to the average inventory and the average rate of return for the period, while 
for short- and medium-/long-term financial liabilities, the precise impact was calculated.

The table below shows the results of the analysis carried out:
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4.2 Credit risk

The Company is exposed to the credit risk inherent in the possibility of its customers becoming insol-
vent and/or less creditworthy so it monitors the situation continually. 

Credit risk derives essentially from the Company’s commercial activity, where its counterparties are pre-
dominantly mass and retail distribution operators. Retail receivables are extremely fragmented, while 
the mass distribution segment is characterised by a larger exposure to a single client.

The Company manages the credit risk of both types of customers through a consolidated practice, which 
provides for targeted and prudent management with a credit limit granted on the basis of commercial, 
financial and perceived market risk information.

The Company operates in business areas with low levels of credit risk, given the nature of its activities 
and the fact that its credit exposure is spread over a large number of customers. Assets are recognised 
net of any write-downs determined on the basis of counterparties’ default risk, taking into account avai-
lable solvency information and historical and prospective data.

Positions are regularly monitored for compliance with payment terms and overdue reminder actions are 
conducted in coordination with the sales force. If, on the other hand, a spot analysis of the individual 
case reveals an objective condition of partial or total bad debt, the amount of the write-down takes into 
account an estimate of recoverable flows. The credit management methodology means it is not deemed 
important to divide customer exposure into different risk classes.

Moreover, the Company has credit insurance policies with leading companies in the sector in order to 
mitigate the risk associated with the solvency of customers.

The credit risk deriving from receivables that the Company has with banks is, on the other hand, mode-
rate and derives substantially from temporary surplus liquidity stocks usually invested in bank deposits 
and current accounts.

The following table provides a breakdown of trade receivables at 31 December 2019 and 2018 grouped 
by maturity, net of the provision for bad debts:
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4.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that, due to the inability to find new funds or to liquidate assets on the market, 
the Company will not be able to meet its payment obligations, resulting in a negative impact on results 
if it is forced to incur additional costs to meet its obligations or an insolvency situation.

The liquidity risk to which the Company may be subject comprises the failure to find sufficient financial 
resources for its operations, as well as for the development of its industrial and commercial activities. 
The two main factors that determine the Company’s liquidity situation are the resources generated or 
absorbed by operating and investment activities, and the maturity and renewal status of payables or 
the liquidity of financial commitments and market conditions. In particular, the main factor affecting the 
Company’s liquidity is the resources absorbed by operating activities: the sector in which the Company 
has seasonal sales phenomena, with peak liquidity requirements in the third quarter caused by a higher 
volume of trade receivables compared with the rest of the year. The Company’s commercial and finance 
teams work together to manage the changing liquidity requirements, which involves carefully planning 
financial requirements related to sales, drafting the budget at the beginning of the year and carefully 
monitoring requirements throughout the year.

Since they are also subject to seasonal phenomena, liquidity requirements linked to inventory dynamics 
are subject to analysis as well: planning purchases of raw materials for the inventory is managed in ac-
cordance with established practices, with the Chairman involved in decisions that could have an impact 
on the Company’s financial equilibrium.

Based on established practices inspired by prudence and stakeholder protection, the Company’s finan-
cing activity involves negotiating credit lines with the banking system and continually monitoring the 
Company’s cash flows.

The following table shows, by contractual maturity bands, the Company’s financial requirements at 31 
December 2019 and 2018, expressed according to the following assumptions:

(i) cash flows are not discounted;

(ii) cash flows are allocated to time bands on the basis of the first due date provided for in the 
contractual terms;

(iii) all instruments held on the reporting date for which payments have already been con-
tractually designated are included. Future commitments planned but not yet recognised are 
not included;

(iv) when the amount payable is not fixed (e.g. future interest repayments), the financial liability 
is measured at market conditions at the reporting date; and

(v) cash flows also include the interest that the company will pay until the maturity of the debt 
at the reporting date.
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At 31 December 2019, the amount of operating lease commitments is reflected in lease liabilities fol-
lowing the application of IFRS 16 as of 1 January 2018.

5 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Company’s capital management is aimed at ensuring a solid credit rating and adequate levels of 
capital indicators to support investment plans, in compliance with contractual commitments made with 
lenders.

The Company provides itself with the capital necessary to finance the needs of business development 
and operations; the sources of financing are divided into a mix of risk capital and debt capital, to ensure 
a balanced financial structure and the minimisation of the total cost of capital, thereby benefiting all 
stakeholders.

The remuneration of risk capital is monitored on the basis of market trends and business performance, 
once all other obligations have been fulfilled, including debt servicing; therefore, in order to ensu-
re an adequate return on capital, the safeguarding of business continuity and business development, 
the Company continually monitors the level of debt in relation to equity, business performance and 
expected cash flow forecasts, in the short and medium/long term.
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6 FINANCIAL ASSET AND LIABILITY
CATEGORIES AND INFORMATION ON FAIR VALUE

Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The following tables provide a breakdown of financial assets and liabilities by category at 31 December 
2019 and 2018: The tables above show that most of the outstanding financial assets and liabilities are 
short-term items. In view of their nature, for most items, the book value is considered a reasonable ap-

proximation of the  fair value.
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Non-current financial assets and liabilities are settled or valued at market rates and it is therefore con-
sidered that their fair value is substantially in line with current book values.

Information on fair value

In relation to assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position and measured at fair 
value, IFRS 13 requires that these values ​be classified on the basis of a hierarchy of levels, reflecting the 
significance of the inputs used in determining fair value. The following table shows the fair value classifi-
cation of financial instruments based on the following hierarchical levels:

• Level 1: fair value fair value determined using unadjusted prices listed on active markets for 
identical financial instruments. Therefore, in Level 1 the emphasis is on determining the fol-
lowing elements: (a) the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a prin-
cipal market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability; (b) the entity’s ability to 
transact the asset or liability at the price of that market on the valuation date.

• Level 2: fair value determined with valuation techniques using variables observable on active 
markets. The inputs for this level include: (a) prices listed for similar assets or liabilities in acti-
ve markets; (b) prices listed for identical or similar assets or liabilities in non-active markets; (c) 
data other than observable listed prices for the asset or liability, for example: interest rates and 
yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, implicit volatility, credit spreads, input 
corroborated by the market.

• Level 3: fair value determined with valuation techniques using non-observable market va-
riables.

The following tables summarise the financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, broken down 
by hierarchy, at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

There were no transfers between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy in the periods conside-
red.
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7 OPERATING SEGMENTS
IFRS 8 - Operating Segments defines an operating segment as a component:

• that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses;

• whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity’s chief operating decision maker;

• for which discrete financial information is available.

For the purposes of IFRS 8, the Company’s activity is identifiable in the following business segments: 
Pasta, Milk Products, Bakery Products, Dairy Products, Special Products and Other activities.

The table below shows the main statement of financial position and income statement items examined 
by the chief operating decision maker in order to assess the Company’s performance at 31 December 
2019, and the reconciliation of these items with respect to the corresponding amount included in the 
Separate Financial Statements:

The table below shows the main statement of financial position and income statement items exami-
ned by the chief operating decision maker in order to assess the Company’s performance at and for the 
year ended 31 December 2018, and the reconciliation of these items with respect to the corresponding 
amount included in the Separate Financial Statements
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Revenue from contracts with customers deriving from the “Pasta” and “Milk Products” sectors amounted 
jointly to €140,629 thousand and €119,304 thousand for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, 
equal respectively to 54.5% and 51.6% of revenue from contracts with customers. EBITDA for the “Pasta” 
and “Milk Products” sectors amounted to €8,373 thousand and €4,890 thousand for the years ended 31 
December 2019 and 2018, equal to 37.6% and 29.9% respectively.

The “Bakery Products” and “Dairy Products” segments have the highest EBITDA margins in the two years 
under review.

In particular, revenues from the “Pasta” sector increased by €1,492 thousand from €68,921 thousand to 
€70,413 thousand in the year ended 31 December 2019. The increase is mainly due to the contribution 
of Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A. EBITDA from the “Pasta” sector increased by €245 thousand from 
€2,675 thousand in the year ending 31 December 2018 to €2,920 thousand in the year ending 31 De-
cember 2019. Consequently, the related EBITDA margin increased by 1 percentage point, from 4% in the 
year ended 31 December 2018 to 5% in the year ended 31 December 2019.

Revenues from the “Milk Products” sector increased by €19,833 thousand from €50,383 thousand in the 
year ending 31 December 2018 to €70,216 thousand in the year ending 31 December 2019. This incre-
ase is mainly due to the contribution of the incorporated company Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. 
Net of this contribution, there was a decrease in revenues in the milk sector attributable essentially to a 
reduction in average sales prices, as a result of an improvement in the purchasing process during 2019.

As a result, EBITDA from the “Milk Products” sector increased by €3,238 thousand from €2,215 thousand 
in the year ending 31 December 2018 to €5,453 thousand in the year ending 31 December 2019. Con-
sequently, the related EBITDA margin increased by 4 percentage points, from 4% in the year ended 31 
December 2018 to 8% in the year ended 31 December 2019.

In addition to the sectoral information, the statement of financial position and income statement data 
by geographical area, as required by IFRS 8, is provided below.
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The following table displays revenue from contracts with customers by geographical area for the years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Finally, in accordance with IFRS 8, paragraph 34, for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the 
Company did not have any customers generating more than 10% of its revenues.

8 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

8.1 Property, plant and equipment

The following table shows the breakdown of and changes in “Property, plant and equipment” for the 
years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018:
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Investments in property, plant and equipment for the year ended 31 December 2019 totalled €4,340 
thousand and were attributable mainly to the renovation of production lines. For more information on 
investments, please see the “Investments” chapter.

The net value of property, plant and equipment disposed of in the years ending 31 December 2019 and 
2018 is not significant.

At 31 December 2019, the net value of capital contributions classified as a reduction in core plants 
and equipment amounted to €561 thousand; the related income for the year ended 31 December 2019 
amounted to €654 thousand and was classified as a reduction in depreciation of the aforementioned 
plants and equipment.

During the year, the Company recorded property, plant and equipment write-downs of €93 thousand. 
These write-downs relate mainly to capital goods for which the Company established that the condi-
tions for producing future profits were no longer in place.

As at 31 December 2019, there are no real estate assets or proprietary capital goods subject to any kind 
of guarantee given to third parties.

8.2 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

The following table shows the changes in the item “Right-of-use assets” for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2019:

At 31 December 2019, the Company found no indicators of long-term impairment for right-of-use assets.

The following table displays the non-discounted contractual values of the Company’s lease liabilities at 
31 December 2019, following the application of IFRS 16 as of 1 January 2018:
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The discount rate was determined on the basis of the marginal borrowing rate of the Company, i.e. the 
rate that the Company would have to pay for a loan, with a similar maturity and collateral, needed to 
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic climate. The Company 
has decided to apply a single discount rate to a lease portfolio with reasonably similar characteristics, 
such as leases with a similar residual maturity for a similar underlying asset class, in a similar economic 
climate.

The main information relating to the lease agreements held by the Company, which acts mainly as a 
lessee, is shown in the following table:

Real estate right-of-use assets relate mainly to the production plants in Sansepolcro (AR), Ozzano Taro 
(PR), Reggio Emilia, Lodi, Lecce and Eboli (SA), leased to Newlat under the agreements entered into 
with the associate New Property, as well as to the plants in Bologna and Corte de’ Frati (CR), rented out 
by the associate Corticella. The term of the lease of the aforementioned properties has been set at six 
years, based on the withdrawal options provided for in the contracts themselves and on managerial 
assessments. The rental contracts stipulated between the parties have the same structure, namely: (i) 
a term of six years automatically extendable for a further six years, with any subsequent tacit renewals 
every six years, and (ii) the early termination options exercisable by the lessor upon renewal and by the 
lessee, which may withdraw at any time and without cause, with six months’ notice. On the basis of the 
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assessments carried out in accordance with IFRS 16, management is reasonably certain of holding the 
leases for a period of six years from the date of signing of the contracts.

These leases fall within the scope of related party transactions; please see the Section 10 of the Sepa-
rate Financial Statements below.

Machinery right-of-use assets refer mainly to the lease of capital goods used in the production process.

8.3 Intangible assets

The following table shows the breakdown of and changes in “Intangible assets” for the year ended 31 
December 2019:

Investments in intangible assets for the year ended 31 December 2019 amounted to €385 thousand 
and were mainly attributable to the purchase of software. For more information on investments, please 
see the “Investments” chapter.

There were no indicators of long-term impairment for intangible assets for the year ended 31 December 
2019.

The following is a description of the main items that make up intangible assets:

Goodwill

Goodwill refers to the acquisition in December 2014 of Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. (hereinafter 
“Centrale del Latte di Salerno”), which represents the only cash generating unit (CGU) to which it is al-
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located. This amount reflects the difference between the purchase price and the equity of Centrale del 
Latte di Salerno on the acquisition date, as shown below and in accordance with continuity of the values 
appearing in the Consolidated Financial Statements at 31 December 2018:

In line with IAS 36, impairment testing  was carried out at the individual reporting dates to check for any 
impairment of goodwill. The impairment test, approved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2020, was 
prepared by an independent professional, comparing the book value of goodwill with the recoverable 
value of the related cash generating unit (CGU).

The recoverable value is the value in use, determined by discounting the forecast data of the CGU (“DCF 
Method”) for the 3-year period following the reporting date. The key assumptions used by management 
to determine the forecast data of the CGU are estimates of growth of revenues, EBITDA, operating cash 
flows, the growth rate of the terminal value and the weighted average cost of capital (discount rate), 
taking into account past profits/losses and future expectations.

The reasonableness of the margins in the explicit forecast period was also verified and deemed to be 
equal to that recorded in 2019.

The terminal value of the CGU was determined using the perpetual yield criterion of the CGU’s norma-
lised cash flow, with reference to the latest forecast period considered, assuming a growth rate and a 
discount rate (“WACC”, which represents the weighted average between the cost of equity and the cost 
of debt, after tax), as represented below:

For the purposes of estimating the value in use of the CGU to which goodwill is allocated:

(iii) the following sources of information have been used:

a) internal sources: IAS 36 requires that the estimate of value in use be based on senior ma-
nagement’s most up-to-date results flows forecasts. For the goodwill impairment test as at 31 
December 2019, the 2020/2022 plan was used. The Company’s Board of Directors approved this 
test, as well as the flows represented therein, on 19 March 2020. For the purposes of estimating 
the value in use, investments of approximately €150 thousand per year have been envisaged. 
For the goodwill impairment test as at 31 December 2019, no improvements in operating costs 
are predicted and therefore a constant margin was considered over the period (EBITDA margin 
of 4%). This means that any EBITDA growth is due to expected growth in turnover.

b) external sources: for the goodwill impairment test, external sources of information were used 
for the purposes of calculating the cost of capital set out below. All information for calculating 
the cost of capital is from an external source. The estimated calculation of the weighted avera-
ge cost of capital was based on:
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- the CAPM to estimate the cost of equity;

- the WACC (Modigliani-Miller) formula for estimating the weighted average cost of capital 
(after tax).

The cost of capital was calculated considering the present financial structure of Centrale del 
Latte di Salerno corresponding to 100% equity and having liquidity available rather than finan-
cial debts as at 31 December 2019.

(iv) the following main basic assumptions were also used:

a) average annual revenue increase of 5% per annum from 2020 to 2022; and

b) EBITDA margin in the forecast years of 4%.

The revenue growth assumed for the years of the explicit period is marginally higher than the expected 
growth of the Italian market, in view of the good competitive position of the former subsidiary, but abo-
ve all in view of (i) the company’s planned growth strategies, focused on R&D activities (including high 
protein milk); (ii) a guaranteed supply chain with strong local roots; (iii) and the development of new 
Company products. 

The results of the impairment tests carried out show that the estimated recoverable value for the CGU 
exceeds its book value by more than €2.2 million. The value in use was calculated on the basis of a 
weighted average cost of capital (WACC) equal to 8.3% and a terminal cash flow growth rate (g) of 0.5%. 
Sensitivity analyses were also carried out to verify the effects on the impairment test results of a ±0.5% 
and ±0.25% change respectively in the WACC and growth rate, both parameters deemed to be signi-
ficant. In particular, assuming no other changes, individual changes in the main parameters used for 
the test in question do not result in the recoverable value of the CGU being less than the relative book 
value. To negate the difference between value in use and book value, the cost of capital (WACC) would 
have to increase by more than 400 basis points and the terminal growth rate would have to be negative 
and down by more than 660 basis points.

Industrial patents and rights to use intellectual property

This item consists almost exclusively of software costs. 

Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the item “Concessions, licences, trademarks and 
similar rights” at 31 December 2019:

Trademarks with a finite useful life

This item includes brands owned by Newlat, amortised according to the residual useful life, estimated 
on the basis of the period of time over which it is considered that they are guaranteed to generate cash 
flows.
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8.4 Investments in subsidiaries

This item consists entirely of the purchase value of all shares in Newlat GmbH on 29 October 2019 
from the parent company Newlat Group S.A. The final fee paid to Newlat Group amounted to €68,324 
thousand. For more details on the purchase of this equity investment, please see the previous section 
“Acquisition of Newlat Deutschland GmbH”.

The book value of the equity investment is significantly higher than the shareholders’ equity of Newlat 
Gmbh on the acquisition date of 29 October 2019.

In line with the requirements of international accounting standards, an impairment test was carried out 
to ascertain whether the carrying value of the investment had been impaired. The impairment test, ap-
proved by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2020, was prepared with the support of an independent 
professional, comparing the book value of the equity investment with the recoverable value of the rela-
ted cash generating unit (CGU).

The recoverable value is the value in use, determined by discounting the forecast data of the CGU (“DCF 
Method”) in the unlevered version for the 3-year period following the reporting date. The key assump-
tions used by management to determine the forecast data of the CGU are estimates of growth of reve-
nues, EBITDA, operating cash flows, the growth rate of the terminal value and the weighted average 
cost of capital (discount rate), taking into account past profits/losses and future expectations.

The reasonableness of the margins in the explicit forecast period was also verified and deemed to be 
equal to that recorded in 2019.

The terminal value of the CGU was determined using the perpetual yield criterion of the CGU’s norma-
lised cash flow, with reference to the latest forecast period considered, assuming a growth rate and a 
discount rate (WACC, which represents the weighted average between the cost of equity and the cost of 
debt, after tax), as represented below:

For the purposes of estimating the value in use of the CGU, the following sources of information were 
used:

• internal sources: the estimate of value in use is based on senior management’s most up-to-date 
results flows forecasts. For the equity investment impairment test as at 31 December 2019, the 2019-
2022 plan drafted for the listing operation, presented on the Italian Stock Exchange and approved by 
the Board of Directors on 22 July 2019 was used. The Company’s Board of Directors approved this test, 
as well as the flows represented therein, on 19 March 2020. For the purposes of estimating the value 
in use, investments of approximately €400 thousand were envisaged for the year 2020, €600 thousand 
for the year 2021 and €900 thousand for the year 2022. For the equity investment impairment test as at 
31 December 2019, no improvements in operating costs are predicted and therefore a constant margin 
was considered over the period (EBITDA margin of 8.4%). This means that any EBITDA growth is due to 
expected growth in turnover.

• external sources: for the impairment test, external sources of information were used for the purposes 
of calculating the cost of capital set out below. All information for calculating the cost of capital is from 
an external source. The estimated calculation of the weighted average cost of capital was based on:
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-  the CAPM to estimate the cost of equity;

- the WACC (Modigliani-Miller) formula for estimating the weighted average cost of capital 
(after tax).

The cost of capital was calculated considering the present financial structure of Newlat GmbH 
corresponding to 100% equity and having net liquidity available rather than net financial debts 
as at 31 December 2019.

• the following main basic assumptions were also used:

a) average annual revenue increase of 1% per annum from 2020 to 2022; and

b) EBITDA margin in the forecast years of 8.4%.

However, an average annual increase (CAGR) of revenues of 1% was assumed for 2020 and 2021, which 
is cautious given both the prospects of the pasta sector in the German market (average annual increase 
in revenues of 2% for the dry pasta segment between 2018 and 2021) and the market-leading positions 
of the “Birkel” and “Drei Glocken” brands. Any significant changes to the assumptions described above 
would affect the determination of the value in use.

The results of the impairment tests carried out show that the estimated recoverable value for the CGU 
exceeds its book value by more than €5.1 million. The value in use was calculated on the basis of a 
weighted average cost of capital (WACC) equal to 6.3% and a terminal cash flow growth rate (g) of 0.5%. 
Sensitivity analyses were also carried out to verify the effects on the impairment test results of a ±0.5% 
and ±0.25% change respectively in the WACC and growth rate, both parameters deemed to be signi-
ficant. In particular, assuming no other changes, individual changes in the main parameters used for 
the test in question do not result in the recoverable value of the CGU being less than the relative book 
value. To negate the difference between value in use and book value, the cost of capital (WACC) would 
have to increase by more than 100 basis points and the terminal growth rate would have to be negative 
and down by more than 200 basis points.

8.5 Non-current financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, non-current financial assets valued at fair value through profit or loss 
amounted to €42 thousand and €31 thousand respectively. These balances, which are not material, re-
late to smaller corporate capital instruments.

8.6 Prepaid tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

At 31 December 2109 and 2018, financial assets at amortised cost amounted to €866 thousand and 
€858 thousand respectively. These balances refer to security deposits paid against existing lease agre-
ements.

8.7 Prepaid tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the item “Prepaid tax assets” at 31 December 
2019 and 2018:
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Prepaid tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable income will be realised 
against which they can be used.

At the acquisition date and at 31 December 2019, the Company did not recognise prepaid tax assets 
relating to tax losses of the incorporated Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A., as they will be the subject 
of a future appeal to the Revenue Agency to have them recognised and to be exempt from the carry-over 
restriction up to the limit of the equity of the incorporated company. The amount of these unrecognised 
tax losses is approximately €30.6 million.

The following table displays a breakdown of and changes in the gross value of prepaid tax assets for 
the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Prepaid tax assets and deferred tax liabilities arise from the temporary differences between the value 
attributed to an asset or liability in the financial statements and the value attributed to that asset or 
liability for tax purposes.
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8.9 Trade receivables

The following table displays a detailed breakdown of the item “Trade receivables” at 31 December 2019 
and 2018:

The following table displays the changes in the provision for doubtful trade receivable for the year 
ended 31 December 2019:

8.8 Inventories

The following table displays a detailed breakdown of the item “Inventories” at 31 December 2019 and 
2018:

Inventories are recorded net of the obsolescence reserve, which amounted to €944 thousand at 31 De-
cember 2019 and related mainly to spare parts for slow-moving machinery.

Changes in the inventories write-down reserve during 2019 are shown below:
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The net value of overdue trade receivables at 31 December 2019 amounted to €12,112 thousand, a 
considerable decrease compared with the previous year.

Analysis of the credit risk, including evidence of the coverage of the individual maturity bands of the 
provision for bad debts, is reported in the previous section “Management of financial risks”.

Analysis of trade receivables with related parties is reported in the below section “Transactions with 
related parties”.

The book value of trade receivables is deemed to approximate their fair value.

8.10 Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax assets totalled €716 thousand at 31 December 2019 and €748 thousand at 31 December 
2018. 

Current tax liabilities totalled €471 thousand at 31 December 2019 and €399 thousand at 31 December 
2018.

The changes in the net balances of the assets and liabilities under review for the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2019 mainly concern the setting aside of current income taxes, amounting to €344 thousand, and 
payments amounting to €738 thousand.

8.11 Other receivables and current assets

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Other receivables and current assets” at 31 De-
cember 2019 and 2018:
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Receivables from New Property S.p.A. at 31 December 2018 related to the residual receivable from the 
adjustment arising from the real estate spin-off to New Property S.p.A. on 1 June 2017. This receivable 
was collected in full in the first half of 2019.

The receivable from Newlat Group at 31 December 2018 referred to the advance payment for the pur-
chase of the entire share packet of Newlat Deutschland, which was then finalised on 29 October 2019. 

Receivables from social security institutions at 31 December 2019 and 2018 mainly refer to receivables 
from INAIL, amounting to €699 thousand and €768 thousand respectively. 

Payments on account at 31 December 2019 and 2018 mainly refer to down payments for supplies.

Tax credits at 31 December 2019 mainly include VAT credits of €454 thousand, research and develop-
ment credits of €495 thousand and INAIL credits of €556 thousand. 

8.12 Current financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

The following table shows the breakdown of the item “Current financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit or loss” as at 31 December 2019 and 2018:

This item includes bonds held for sale.

8.13 Cash and cash equivalents

The following table displays a detailed breakdown of the item “Cash and cash equivalents” at 31 De-
cember 2019 and 2018:

Bank and postal deposits refer mainly to cash and cash equivalents deposited in current accounts held 
with leading banking and financial institutions.

At 31 December 2019, cash and cash equivalents were not subject to restrictions or constraints.

Part of the aforementioned cash and cash equivalents, amounting to €30,940 thousand and €24,051 
thousand respectively at 31 December 2018 and 2019, is attributable to the cash pooling of Newlat 
Food with the parent company Newlat Group S.A.
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At the date of preparation of these separate financial statements, the Company is in the process of fina-
lising the transfer of cash pooling from the parent company Newlat Group S.A. to Newlat Food S.p.A., which 
will therefore assume the role of pooler.

See the statement of cash flows for changes in the item “Cash and cash equivalents” during the years 
under review.

8.14 Shareholders’ equity

At 31 December 2019, the item “Shareholders’ equity” amounted to €134,293 thousand. The statement 
of changes in equity is shown in the relevant section.

The changes that affected shareholders’ equity for the year ended 31 December 2019 related to the 
following:

• the institutional placement of 13,780,482 shares for a total amount of €79,927 thousand, 
gross of bank fees and other transaction costs relating to the listing transaction;

• the aforementioned listing costs related to the public offer for subscription, recorded as a 
direct reduction of shareholders’ equity for a total amount of €5,077 thousand;

• the tax benefit related to IPO costs, for a total amount of €1,416 thousand;

• the recognition of the total net profit for the year, in the amount of €7,475 thousand;

• actuarial losses of €249 thousand relating to the discounting of the employee severance in-
demnity provision.

Share capital

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s fully subscribed and paid-up share capital totalled €40,780,482, 
divided into 40,780,482 ordinary shares that were dematerialised as a result of the IPO operation.

Legal reserve

At 31 December 2019, the legal reserve totalled €2,123 thousand.

Reserves

Please refer to the statement of changes in equity for a breakdown of and changes in reserves in 2019, 
of which the possibility of use is shown in this statement, with reference to 31 December 2019:
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Notes
A Available for capital increases
B Available to cover any losses
C Distributable to shareholders
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8.15 Provisions for employee benefits

The following table shows the breakdown of and changes in the item “Provisions for employee benefits” 
for the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Provisions for employee benefits represent the estimated obligation, determined on the basis of actua-
rial techniques, relating to the amount to be paid to employees when their employment with the com-
pany ends.

Employee severance indemnity (TFR)

The debt for Newlat’s employee severance indemnity, which falls within the IAS 19 definition of defined 
benefit plans, was determined according to actuarial logic. The following are the main actuarial, finan-
cial and demographic assumptions used to determine the value of the liability at 31 December 2019 
and 2018, in accordance with the provisions of IAS 19:

The following table summarises the main assumptions relating to the annual turnover rate and requests 
for severance pay advances adopted for the calculation of Newlat’s provisions for employee benefits , in 
accordance with the provisions of IAS 19:
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The following table summarises the sensitivity analysis for each actuarial, financial and demographic 
assumption, showing the effects (in absolute terms) that would have occurred as a result of changes 
to the reasonably possible actuarial assumptions on 31 December 2019 and 2018:

8.16 Provisions for risks and contingencies

The following table shows the breakdown of and changes in the item “Provisions for risks and char-
ges” for the year ended 31 December 2019:

The provision for agents’ indemnities represents a reasonable forecast of the charges that would be 
borne by the Company in the event of future interruption of agency relationships.

8.17 Current and non-current financial liabilities

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the item “Financial liabilities” (current and 
non-current) at 31 December 2019 and 2018:
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The following table shows an analysis by maturity of the financial liabilities outstanding at 31 Decem-
ber 2019:

The following table shows the Net Financial Position, according to the classification scheme indicated 
in the Consob Communication:
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Without considering the effects of IFRS 16, the net financial position would be determined as follows:

Below is a description of the main items that make up the Company’s financial liabilities at 31 Decem-
ber 2019:

a) Loans outstanding at 31 December 2019

UniCredit loan agreement On 29 December 2014, Newlat entered into a loan agreement with Unicredit 
S.p.A. for €8,000 thousand, to be used for the acquisition of all shares in Centrale del Latte di Salerno 
S.p.A.

The loan was set to mature on 31 December 2020. The contract provides for 12 monthly pre-amortisa-
tion instalments and then 60 monthly deferred repayments of the principal portion of the loan, from 31 
January 2016 to 31 December 2020. The interest rate applicable to the loan agreement is variable and 
equal to the three-month Euribor plus a spread of 2.7%.

The loan agreement provides for the possibility of early repayment by Newlat provided that: (i) the ar-
rears and all sums due in any form have been settled and (ii) a fee equal to 2% of the principal repaid 
in advance is paid.

The loan does not require compliance with financial covenants.

Deutsche Bank loan agreement On 14 November 2019, Newlat entered into a loan agreement with 
Deutsche Bank for an amount equal to €15,000 thousand. The loan was set to mature on 28 November 
2024. The contract provides for repayment by way of 20 quarterly instalments starting in 20 February 
2020.

The interest rate applicable to the loan agreement is 0.70%.

The loan does not require compliance with financial covenants.
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d) Payables for advances on invoices

This item refers only to payables to credit institutions for advances on invoices.

The following table shows, in accordance with IAS 7, changes in financial liabilities arising from cash 
flows generated and/or absorbed by financing activities, as well as from non-monetary items.

8.18 Trade payables

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the item “Trade payables” at 31 December 2019 
and 2018:

The increase in trade payables is mainly attributable to business combinations in the course of 2019.

This item mainly includes payables relating to the Company’s normal production activities.

Analysis of trade payables with related parties is reported in the “Transactions with related parties” 
section of the Separate Financial Statements below.

The book value of trade payables is deemed to approximate their fair value.
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8.19 Other current liabilities

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Other current liabilities” at 31 December 2019 
and 2018:

The increase in other liabilities is mainly attributable to business combinations in the course of 2019.

Payables to employees relate to salaries to be settled and deferred charges such as holidays, leave and 
additional monthly payments.

Payables to social security institutions mainly refer to liabilities with the INPS and other social security 
institutions for the payment of contributions.

Tax payables at 31 December 2019 mainly include payables to the Treasury for withholding taxes, 
amounting to €1,849 thousand.



287
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

9 NOTES TO THE SEPARATE INCOME STATEMENT

9.1 Revenue from contracts with customers

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Revenue from contracts with customers” by ope-
rating segment:

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Revenue from contracts with customers” by di-
stribution channel:

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Revenue from contracts with customers” by ge-
ographical area:

Sectoral information is given in Section 7 of the Separate Financial Statements above.

Revenue from contracts with customers for the year ended 31 December 2019 is almost exclusively 
related to the sale of goods. Revenues associated with such sales of goods are recognised when control 
of the asset is transferred to the customer.
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9.2 Operating costs

The table below shows details of the operating costs broken down according to their use:

The table below shows details of the same operating costs broken down according to their nature:

Operating costs increased by €22,049 thousand, from €227,292 thousand in the year ended 31 Decem-
ber 2018 to €249,342 thousand in the year ended 31 December 2019, as a result of the combination of 
Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. and Delverde Industrie Alimentari S.p.A.

9.3 Net write-downs of financial assets

The item “Net write-downs of financial assets”, amounting to €674 thousand for the year ending 31 
December 2019, refers to the write-down of trade receivables. A detailed breakdown of changes in the 
provision for bad debts for the year ending 31 December 2019 is set out in Note 8.8 - “Trade receivables” 
to the Separate Financial Statements.
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9.4 Other revenues and income

The following table provides a breakdown of the item “Other revenues and income”:

9.5 Other operating costs

The table below shows a detailed breakdown of the item “Other operating costs”:

9.6 Financial income and expenses

The table below shows a detailed breakdown of the item “Financial income”:

The table below shows a breakdown of the item “Financial expenses”:   
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9.7 Income taxes

The table below shows a detailed breakdown of the item “Income taxes”:

The Company was audited by the Finance Police for the years 2016 and 2017. The audit did not reveal 
significant findings that should be reflected in the statement of financial position, income statement 
and statement of cash flows of the Company at 31 December 2019.

The following table displays a reconciliation of the theoretical tax rate with the effective impact on 
the pre-tax result:

The effective tax rate in the Company’s income tax return is lower than the accounting tax rate because 
the tax benefit relating to the entire tax deductibility in 2019 of the costs related to the IPO process 
(itself accounted for as a reduction of the increase in shareholders’ equity arising from the listing tran-
saction), for a total amount of €1,416 thousand, was recorded as a reduction in shareholders’ equity. 

9.8 Net profit/(loss) per share

The table below shows the net profit/loss per share, calculated as the ratio of net income to the wei-
ghted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the period:
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The diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings per share because there are no finan-
cial instruments with potential dilutive effects. The earnings per share for 2018 were made comparable 
with the 2019 data.

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The transactions entered into by the Company with related parties, identified on the basis of criteria 
defined by IAS 24 – “Related Party Disclosures”, are primarily of a commercial and financial nature and 
are carried out at arm’s length conditions. Despite this, there is no guarantee that, if these transactions 
had been conducted between or with third parties, said third parties would have negotiated and ente-
red into the relevant contracts, or executed the transactions themselves, under the same conditions and 
in the same manner.

The Company deals with the following related parties:

• Newlat Group, a direct or indirect parent company; and

• subsidiaries of the direct parent company or indirect parent companies other than its own subsidiaries 
and associates (“Companies controlled by the parent companies”).

The following table provides a detailed breakdown of the statement of financial position items relating 
to the Company’s transactions with related parties at 31 December 2019 and 2018:
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The following table provides a breakdown of the income statement items relating to the Company’s 
transactions with related parties for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018:

Transactions with parent company Newlat Group

Cash and cash equivalents, amounting to €30,940 thousand and €24,159 thousand respectively at 31 
December 2018 and 2019, are attributable to the cash pooling relationships of Newlat Food S.p.A. with 
the parent company. Administrative expenses for the year ending 31 December 2019 are attributable 
to: operating expenses incurred by Newlat, Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. and Newlat Deutschland 
in relation to service contracts (€187 thousand) and fees incurred in relation to the cash pooling agre-
ements signed by Newlat and Centrale del Latte di Salerno S.p.A. (€213 thousand).

Transactions with companies controlled by the parent companies

The following are the companies controlled by the parent companies with which the Company has con-
ducted transactions during the periods under review:

• Corticella Molini e Pastifici S.p.A., a real estate company to which lease royalties are paid;

• New Property S.p.A., a real estate company to which lease royalties are paid;

• other companies controlled by the parent companies, such as Newservice S.r.l., Latterie Riu-
nite Piana del Sele S.r.l. and Piana del Sele Latteria Sociale S.p.A.

Corticella Molini e Pastifici S.p.A. (merged into New Property S.p.A.)

At 31 December 2019, €1,641 thousand of right-of-use assets and €460 thousand and €1,222 thousand 
respectively of current and non-current lease liabilities relate to real estate owned by Corticella Molini 
e Pastifici S.p.A. and leased to Newlat through an agreement signed on 1 July 2017. The recognition of 
this contract according to IFRS 16 led to the recognition of depreciation, recorded in the cost of sales, of 
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€469 thousand, and financial charges of €46 thousand. Non-current financial assets at amortised cost 
at 31 December 2019 refer to security deposits paid to Corticella Molini e Pastifici S.p.A. in relation to 
this contract.

New Property S.p.A.

At 31 December 2018, €7,826 thousand of right-of-use assets and €1,881 thousand and €8,018 thou-
sand respectively of current and non-current lease liabilities relate to the real estate spun off to New 
Property S.p.A. on 1 June 2017 and subsequently leased to Newlat. The recognition of these contracts 
according to IFRS 16 led to the recognition of depreciation, recorded in the cost of sales, of €2,291 thou-
sand, and financial charges of €218 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Of the other receivables and current assets at 31 December 2018, €10,000 thousand referred to the 
adjustment deriving from the differences between the book values of the assets and liabilities spun off 
to New Property S.p.A., between 31 December 2016 and the effective date of the spin-off, namely 1 June 
2017. This receivable was collected in full by Newlat in the first half of 2019.
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10 COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES
The table below shows commitments for lease payments in relation to operating leases in accordance 
with IAS 17. The amount of these commitments, subject to discounting, is reflected in the lease liabilities 
pursuant to IFRS 16:.

The guarantees given to the Company by Newlat Group S.A. amounted to €47,900 thousand at 31 De-
cember 2019 and refer, in the amount of €32,400 thousand, to a surety provided in relation to payables 
to banks for available lines of credit. The remaining amount, totalling €15,500 thousand at 31 Decem-
ber 2019, refers to letters of sponsorship in favour of Newlat Deutschland in relation to transactions 
with UniCredit.

11 OTHER INFORMATION

11.1 Remuneration to directors, statutory auditors and managers
with strategic responsibilities

The fees payable to Directors and Statutory Auditors amounted to €44 thousand and €15 thousand re-
spectively in the year ended 31 December 2019.

The total remuneration of managers with strategic responsibilities came to €221 thousand at 31 De-
cember 2019. No loans or advances were granted to Directors in 2019.

11.2 Independent Auditors’ fees

The independent auditors’ fees for activities carried out in 2019 totalled €130 thousand.

11.3 Research and development activities

The research and development (“R&D”) carried out within Newlat Food S.p.A. is based on the ability to 
develop innovative products, sometimes evocative of local tradition, while respecting the target mar-
kets.

Research and development costs incurred during 2019 and 2018 have been instrumental in pursuing 
the Company’s production and commercial strategies, aimed at making product ranges more innovative 
and strengthening its position in the market.

Research and development expenses totalled €3,389 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2019, 
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fully expensed in the income statement and corresponding to 1.31% of revenues from contracts with 
the Company’s customers for that year.

It should be noted that the Company intends to avail itself of the research and development tax credit 
provided for in article 1, paragraph 35, of Law no. 190 of 23 December 2014, and to use it in the manner 
specified in the said legislation.

11.4 Proposal for allocation of the result for the year

Shareholders,

the separate financial statements that we submit for your approval show a profit for the year of €7,474,719, 
of which we propose to allocate 5% to the legal reserve and 95% to the extraordinary reserve.
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RESULTS, ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND CASH FLOWS 
OF THE PARENT COMPANY NEWLAT GROUP SA 

THAT EXERCISES MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL ACTIVITIES.
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CERTIFICATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 154-BIS OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE 58/98
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INDEPENDENT AUDITING FIRM’S REPORT
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING 
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